
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA CITY COUNCIL 
 

Development Control Committee 
 

Date: Wednesday, 13th December, 2023 
Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: Committee Room 1 - Civic Suite 
 

Contact: Tim Row - Principal Democratic Services Officer  
Email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk  

 
 

A G E N D A 
  
1   Apologies for Absence  

  
2   Declarations of Interest  

  
3   Supplementary Report  
 The supplementary report by the Executive Director (Environment and Place) 

will provide additional information (if any) on the items referred to on the 
Agenda and will be available on the morning of the meeting. 
  

**** Contents List and Introduction  
  

**** Reports on Planning Applications  
  

4   23/00976/FUL - Land Rear Of 2 Smallholdings Eastwoodbury Lane, 
Southend-on-Sea (St Laurence Ward) (Pages 7 - 56) 
  

5   23/00265/OUTM - Empire Theatre, Alexandra Street, Southend-on-Sea 
(Milton Ward) (Pages 57 - 114) 
  

6   23/01153/FUL - Land At Garon Park, Eastern Avenue, Southend-on-Sea 
(St Luke's Ward) (Pages 115 - 144) 
  

**** Reports on Enforcement of Planning Control  
  

7   22/00341/UNAU_B - 15 Leslie Close, Eastwood, Leigh on Sea 
(Eastwood Park Ward) (Pages 145 - 166) 
 

 
 
 
 
TO: The Chair & Members of Development Control Committee: 
Councillor N Ward (Chair), 
Councillors F Evans (Vice-Chair), B Beggs, M Berry, M Borton, S Buckley, A Dear, M Dent, 
N Folkard, J Harland, A Jones, R Longstaff, C Mulroney, M Sadza, C Walker and 
R Woodley 
 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

13th December 2023 
 

WARD APP/REF NO. ADDRESS 
 
 
 

Main Plans Report 

St Laurence 23/00976/FUL 
Land Rear Of 2 Smallholdings Eastwoodbury 

Lane  
Southend-on-Sea 

Milton 23/00265/OUTM 
Empire Theatre 

 Alexandra Street 
Southend-on-Sea 

St Lukes 23/01153/FUL 
Land At Garon Park  

Eastern Avenue 
Southend-on-Sea 

 
 

Enforcement Report 

Eastwood 
Park 22/00341/UNAU_B 

15 Leslie Close 
 Eastwood 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

 
 
 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
(i) Recommendations in capitals at the end of each report are those of the 

Executive Director (Environment & Place), are not the decision of the 
Committee and are subject to Member consideration. 

 
(ii) All plans have been considered in the context of the City Council's Environmental 

Charter.  An assessment of the environmental implications of development 
proposals is inherent in the development control process and implicit in the reports. 

 
(iii) Reports will not necessarily be dealt with in the order in which they are printed. 
 
(iv) The following abbreviations are used in the reports: - 

 
CIL - Community Infrastructure Levy 
DAS -  Design & Access Statement 
DEFRA -  Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
DPD - Development Plan Document 
EA -  Environmental Agency 
EPOA -  Essex Planning Officer’s Association  
JAAP - Southend Airport and Environs Joint Area Action Plan 
MHCLG - Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
NDG - National Design Guide 
NDSS - Nationally Described Space Standards 
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework 
PPG -  National Planning Practice Guidance 
RAMS - Recreation disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy 
SCAAP - Southend Central Area Action Plan 
SPD - Supplementary Planning Document 
SSSI - Sites of Special Scientific Interest.  A national designation. SSSIs 

are the country's very best wildlife and geological sites.  
SPA - Special Protection Area.  An area designated for special protection 

under the terms of the European Community Directive on the 
Conservation of Wild Birds. 

Ramsar Site - Describes sites that meet the criteria for inclusion in the list of 
Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar 
Convention.  (Named after a town in Iran, the Ramsar Convention 
is concerned with the protection of wetlands, especially those 
important for migratory birds) 

 
 

4



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

Background Papers 
 
(i) Planning applications and supporting documents and plans 
(ii) Application worksheets and supporting papers 
(iii) Non-exempt contents of property files 
(iv) Consultation and publicity responses 
(v) NPPF and PPG including the NDG 
(vi) NDSS 
(vii) Core Strategy  
(viii) Development Management Document 
(ix) London Southend Airport & Environs JAAP 
(x) SCAAP 
(xi)  Design and Townscape Guide 
(xii)  Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement 
(xiii) Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments 
(xiv) Essex Coast RAMS SPD 
(xv) CIL Charging Schedule 
(xvi) Southend Electric Vehicles Charging Infrastructure SPD 
 
NB Other letters and papers not taken into account in preparing this report but received 

subsequently will be reported to the Committee either orally or in a supplementary 
report.  

 
 
 
 

 

5



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 

         

Use Classes 
(Generally in force from 1st September 2020)  
 
Class B1         Business  
Class B2         General industrial  
Class B8         Storage or distribution  
Class C1         Hotels  
Class C2         Residential institutions  
Class C2A       Secure residential institutions  
Class C3         Dwellinghouses  
Class C4         Houses in multiple occupation  
Class E           Commercial, Business and Service  
Class F.1         Learning and non-residential institutions  
Class F.2         Local community 
Sui Generis     A use on its own, for which any change of use will require planning 
permission.  
 
Deleted Use Classes  
(Limited effect on applications for prior approval and other permitted 
development rights until 31st July 2021) 
 
Class A1         Shops  
Class A2         Financial and professional services  
Class A3         Restaurants and cafes  
Class A4         Drinking establishments  
Class A5         Hot food takeaways  
Class D1         Non-residential institutions  
Class D2         Assembly and leisure  
 

 

6



 

 
 

 

Reference: 23/00976/FUL 

Application Type: Full Application 

Ward: St Laurence 

 

Proposal: Erect eight dwellinghouses with associated amenity space, 
parking, cycle and bin stores 

Address: Land Rear Of 2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane, Southend-on-
Sea, Essex 

Applicant: Mr Oliver Hall of Eastway Homes 

Agent: Mr Dwight Breley of Breley Design Ltd.  

Consultation Expiry: 06.12.2023  

Expiry Date:  15.12.2023  

Case Officer: Oliver Hart  

Plan Nos: 1542-01 Rev B; 1540-02 Rev J; 1540-07 Rev C; 1540-07 Rev D; 
1540-07 Rev E; 1540-05 Rev D; 1540-06 Rev D; 1540-10; 1540-
12; 1540-13; Construction Management Plan; Tree Protection 
Plan Rev 1 

Supporting information: Design and Access Statement; Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal Version 2.0 by MKA Ecology Ltd. (Dated 
16/11/2023); Reptile Report Version 2.0 by MKA Ecology Ltd. 
(Dated 16/11/2023); Arboricultural Report Rev 1 by Andrew 
Day Arboricultural Consultancy (Dated 06/11/2023); Details of 
Materials Document; Construction Method Statement Rev A 
by Breley Design Ltd;  

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions 

7

4



 

 
 

8



 

1 Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1 The application site consists of a rectangular parcel of land to the south of Eastwoodbury 
Lane some 0.19ha in area which is currently undeveloped. Access to the site would be via an 
existing access point and private roadway running south from Eastwoodbury Lane which 
presently serves 9No dwellinghouses approved and presently under construction at land rear 
of 1 Smallholdings (ref. 21/02034/OUT & 22/01088/RES).  
 

1.2 The land immediately to the south of the site is in use as a community allotment. To the north 
and north-east of the site are residential dwellings positioned along Eastwoodbury Lane, 
inclusive of the 9No dwellinghouses presently under construction at the adjacent 
development site. To the west is undeveloped land comprising a small area of woodland to 
its fringe. 

 
1.3 The site is designated as Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMVAL) within the Core 

Strategy and Development Management Document. It also lies within the area covered by 
the London Southend Airport Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP) however, it holds no specific 
designation. The application site is not the subject of any other site-specific policy 
designations. 
 

2 The Proposal 
 

2.1 Planning permission is sought to erect 8No two storey dwellinghouses laid out as a single 
pair of semi-detached dwellinghouses and two short terraces in a linear arrangement around 
a central turning area.  
 

2.2 The proposed dwellings would be crown roofed and finished externally in render and clay 
plain roof tiles (red), with a red brick plinth and soldier course shown above the windows. A 
flat roof canopy over the front door is also detailed. External materials details have been 
provided with the application and are detailed as follows: 

 
▪ K Rend Waterproof render in Limestone White to exterior walls; 
▪ Sahtas Dark Farmhouse brick plinth; 
▪ Red clay roof tiles [Ste Foy Rouge Nuance] by Edillians; 
▪ White UPVC windows and patio doors; 
▪ Black front doors; 
▪ White fascias and soffits; and 
▪ Black guttering 

 
2.3 These material details are noted as matching the approved details for the adjacent 

development site at the land rear of 1 Smallholdings.  
 

2.4 The single pair of semi-detached properties and one of the short terraces would comprise 3-
bed units with accommodation in the roof, provided by way of flat roofed dormers to the front 
roof slope some 1.6m wide, 1.8m wide and 2.2m deep.  

 
2.5 The proposed dwellings each measure a maximum of 5m in width, 8.6m in depth and a 

maximum height of 8.2m. The short-terraced properties without roof accommodation would 
constitute two-bed, three-person units measuring some 72sqm. The single semi-detached 
pair and short-terraced properties with roof accommodation would constitute three-bedroom, 
four-person units measuring some 94sqm.  

 
2.6 The submitted plans indicate that each dwelling would be provided with 2 parking spaces in 

a tandem arrangement. Electric vehicle charging points are shown.  
 

9



 

2.7 An indicative landscaping plan has also been provided showing the planting of 21No trees 
and additional shrub planting on the boundaries of the site and within the proposed front 
gardens.  

 
2.8 Submitted Tree survey plans show the following tree removals;  

 
▪ T6 [an Apple Tree] 
▪ G2, G3 and G4 [Leyland cypress, Common Oak, Hawthorn, Prunus, Elder]  
▪ G1 [Leyland cypress - partial removal where it extends onto the application site]  

 
3 Relevant Planning History 

 
3.1 There is no relevant planning history at the application site for the determination of this 

application.  
 

4 Representation Summary 
 

Public Consultation 
4.1 Twenty-Seven (27No) neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was 

displayed. 5No letters of objection from 2No addresses have been received. Summary of 
comments: 
 

• Overlooking concerns from neighbouring 1 Smallholdings site  
[Officer Comment: The 1 Smallholdings site is unaffected by this application, has been 
granted permission which remains extant and is under construction] 

• Wildlife concerns with regards 1 Smallholdings site 
[Officer Comment: Wildlife concerns continue to be investigated in association with the 
1 Smallholdings site which sits separately from this application]  

• Traffic, congestion and parking concerns from additional housing.  
  

[Officer Comment:] The comments have been taken into consideration and the relevant 
planning matters raised are discussed in subsequent sections of the report. The objecting 
points raised by the representations have been taken into account in the assessment of the 
proposal but are not found to represent justifiable reasons for recommending refusal of the 
planning application in the circumstances of this case. 

 
Environmental Health  

4.2 No objections subject to conditions regarding construction management, refuse and recycling 
and unknown land contamination.  
 
Highways  

4.3 No objections. Policy compliant off street parking has been provided for each dwelling. The 
dwellings are accessed via a private road. It is not considered that the proposal will have a 
detrimental impact on the local highway network. The Construction Method Statement is 
acceptable. Tracking data for waste vehicles is required.  
 
Parks 

4.4 No objections subject to carrying out of the five recommendations contained within the 
Ecology Survey. 
 
Tree Officer 

4.5 No objections to the tree removal or tree protection measures proposed.  
 

5 Procedural matters 
 

10



 

5.1 The application has been called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor Lydia 
Hyde.  
 

6 Planning Policy Summary 
  

6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023) 
 

6.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2023)  
 

6.3 National Design Guide (NDG) (2023) 
 

6.4 Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015) 
 

6.5 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), KP3 
(Implementation and Resources), CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (The Environment 
and Urban Renaissance), CP5 (Minerals and Soils Resources) and CP8 (Dwelling Provision).  

 
6.6 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 

Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of 
Land), DM7 (Dwelling Mix, Size and Type), DM8 (Residential Standards) and DM15 
(Sustainable Transport Management).  

 
6.7 London Southend Airport Joint Area Action Plan (2014)  

 
6.8 Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 

 
6.9 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 

 
6.10 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019) 

 
6.11 Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (EVCI) for New Development Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) (2021) 
 

6.12 Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020) 

 
6.13 Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015) 

 
7 Planning Considerations 

 
7.1 The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the development, 

the design and impact on the character of the streetscene and wider area, the standard of 
accommodation for future occupiers, the impact on residential amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers, any traffic and transportation issues, refuse and recycling storage, energy and 
water sustainability, water drainage, ecology and biodiversity implications and compliance 
with the Essex Coast RAMS SPD and CIL liability.  
 

8 Appraisal 
 
 Principle of Development 
 

Provision of housing and loss of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMVAL) 
 

8.1 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states ‘Planning policies and decisions should promote an 
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and 

11



 

improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.’  
 

8.2 Paragraph 121 of the NPPF states ‘Local planning authorities, and other plan-making bodies, 
should take a proactive role in identifying and helping to bring forward land that may be 
suitable for meeting development needs, including suitable sites on brownfield registers or 
held in public ownership, using the full range of powers available to them.’  

 
8.3 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy states that all new developments should ‘…make the best 

use of previously developed land, ensuring that sites and buildings are put to best 
use…respect, conserve and enhance and where necessary adequately mitigate effects on 
the nature and historic environment…do not place a damaging burden on existing 
infrastructure…promote improved and sustainable modes of travel…secure improvements to 
the urban environment through quality design…respect the character and scale of the existing 
neighbourhood where appropriate…’  

 
8.4 Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states: ‘Provision is made for 3,350 net additional dwellings 

between 2001 and 2011 and for 3,150 net additional dwellings between 2011 and 2021.’ 
However, this document is more than 15 years old, pre-dating the NPPF, and as such the 
LPA’s policy related to the number of homes required to be delivered in the City is out-of-
date. Accordingly, the Standard Method (December 2020) applies. This increases the annual 
housing need of Southend-on-Sea from 325 dwellings per annum to 1,181 dwellings per 
annum, representing a 263% increase and highlighting the pressing need for housing within 
the City. The Addendum to the South Essex Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(“SESHMA”) (May 2017) identified a similar level of housing need. 

 
8.5 Policy DM3 of the Development Management Document states ‘The Council will seek to 

support development that is well designed and that seeks to optimise the use of land in a 
sustainable manner that responds positively to local context and does not lead to over-
intensification, which would result in undue stress on local services, and infrastructure, 
including transport capacity.’ 

 
8.6 The Government’s latest Housing Delivery Test (“HDT”) Results (January 2022) show that 

Southend-on-Sea delivered 31% of its total housing requirement between 2018-2021, thereby 
triggering the presumption in favour of sustainable development under paragraph 11 of the 
NPPF. Southend-on-Sea’s Five-Year Housing Land Supply (“5YHLS”) figure shows that there 
is a deficit in housing land supply in Southend-on-Sea. The latest figure demonstrates 4.18 
years’ worth of housing land supply. The SESHMA identifies that Southend-on-Sea has a 
higher proportion of flats/maisonettes and a housing stock comprised of a greater proportion 
of one-bed units and smaller properties, a consequence of which is that there is a lower 
percentage of accommodation of a suitable size for families and so there is a relatively greater 
need for such housing. Together, these documents demonstrate a pressing need for all types 
of housing delivery within the City. 

 
8.7 The proposed development would provide additional housing within the City, including 

dwellings which could be utilised by small family groups which is a positive of the scheme and 
for which there is a significant identified need in the City. This is considered to carry significant 
weight in the assessment of the scheme.  

 
8.8 In terms of the BMVAL designation, the key policy is CP5 of the Core Strategy which ‘seeks 

to protect the best and most versatile agricultural land (defined as land in grades 1, 2 and 3a 
of the Agricultural Land Classification) from irreversible damage where this is consistent with 
the full range of sustainability considerations, including biodiversity; quality and character of 
the landscape; amenity value or heritage interest; accessibility to infrastructure, workforce 
and markets; maintaining viable communities; and the protection of natural resources, 
including soil quality.’’  

12



 

 
8.9 Annex 2 of the NPPF defines BMVAL as Land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land 

Classification. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by recognising the wider benefits from 
natural capital and ecosystem services, including the economic and other benefits of the 
BMVAL. Paragraph 175 and footnote 58 of the NPPF state that where significant development 
of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be 
preferred to those of a higher quality. 

 
8.10 The proposal would result in new development on land that is designated as BMVAL and 

sequentially is less preferable than lower grades of agricultural land. Despite the conflict with 
policy, this issue is not capable of disengaging the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  

 
8.11 The Design and Access statement submitted details that the neighbouring parcels of 

undeveloped land are all of modest size and under private ownership, representing a 
significant obstacle in mobilising the site for any future commercial agricultural activity. In 
addition, the modest size of the site itself, its position in a semi-urban locale and proximity to 
residential development to the immediate north and east are such that it is unlikely to hold 
any value in terms of agricultural potential.  

 
8.12 This case is supported by the applicant with the submission of an appeal decision1 (contained 

within the Design and Access Statement) for a site in Winterley, Cheshire where the Planning 
Inspector reasoned that due to the size of the land and its isolation from any non-residential 
surrounding land, the introduction of residential development would not materially impact on 
agriculture production. The size of the site in question was some 2.1ha, which is significantly 
larger in comparison to the application site’s 0.19ha. The Planning Inspector afforded modest 
weight to the loss of BMVAL. This part of the submitted Winterley Decision is relevant to the 
determination of this application and should be given significant weight. Other matters 
weighed in the Winterley Decision, such as the provision of housing and affordable housing, 
the HDT and 5YHLS of Cheshire East Council, and the application of local policies of that 
Local Planning Authority are not directly relevant for the consideration of this application.  

 
8.13 The relevant part of the Winterley Decision would suggest that, in the circumstances of this 

application site, due to the size of the application site and isolation from any non-residential 
use of land, the loss of BMVAL in this instance would not compromise agricultural activities 
in Southend-on-Sea. This is further highlighted by the fact that the site only makes up a small 
percentage of such land within the City limits, and that the majority of such land is already 
protected by a Green Belt designation (to the north-east of the City bordering Rochford District 
Council). In line with the Winterley Decision, modest or even limited weight should be given 
to this less positive aspect of the proposal. 

 
8.14 It is considered that the proposal for 8No dwellings at the density proposed would constitute 

effective and efficient use of the land. The results of the HDT and 5YHLS position weigh 
significantly in favour of the proposed housing scheme which in this instance, given its scale, 
is considered to make a useful contribution towards the provision of housing for the area. The 
development is considered to satisfy national and local planning policy in these regards. The 
tilted balance in favour of sustainable development should be applied. 

 
Backland development  

 
8.15 The location of the proposed dwellings would render the proposal backland development. 

Policy DM3 is applicable which states: “All development on land that constitutes backland and 
 

1 PINS reference APP/R0660/W/20/3251104, date 1 March 2021 
13



 

infill development will be considered on a site-by-site basis. Development within these 
locations will be resisted where the proposals: 
 
i. Create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and 

future residents or neighbouring residents; or 
ii. Conflict with the character and grain of the local area; or 
iii. Result in unusable garden space for the existing and proposed dwellings in line with 

Policy DM8; or  
iv. Result in the loss of local ecological assets including wildlife habitats and significant 

or protected trees.” 
 

8.16 The surrounding area is mixed in character, comprising residential development to the north-
west and east and undeveloped land to the west. Regard is had to the position of the 
application site in a broadly sustainable location for development and which would duly 
conform to the prevailing land use around it. As discussed in more detail in the relevant 
sections of the report, the proposal would comply with all the relevant criteria of Policy DM3.  
 

8.17 On the basis of the information outlined above, it is considered in this instance and weighing 
the planning balance carefully, that the resultant harm caused by the loss of BMVAL is 
outweighed by the case for new residential development and the application of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. Subject to other detailed considerations 
outlined below, the principle of development is acceptable.  

 
 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area  

  
8.18 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is 

well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places 
in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
 

8.19 Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it 
adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context 
and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the 
distinctiveness of place; and contributes positively to the space between buildings and their 
relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide 
provide further details on how this can be achieved. 

 
8.20 The application site is positioned on the fringe of the suburban area and would in effect form 

a small urban extension connected with the previously approved development under 
construction at 1 Smallholdings. The development will consequently introduce built form on 
presently undeveloped land and the impact on the open and spacious character of the area 
is a less positive aspect of the proposal.  
 

8.21 Regard is had to the layout of the dwellings as a single pair of semi-detached dwellinghouses 
and two short terraces laid out in a linear arrangement around a central turning area. There 
is significant separation between the dwellings themselves and deep rear gardens are also 
part of the layout such that it is considered that spaciousness has been suitably incorporated 
into the scheme.  

 
8.22 There is no overall order to the siting and/or arrangement of neighbouring properties in the 

adjoining roads, with properties along Eastwoodbury Lane and Eastwoodbury Crescent 
following a more traditional rectilinear pattern whilst those dwellings along Eastwoodbury 
Close resemble ‘backland’ development, owing to their position beyond the rears of dwellings 
fronting Eastwoodbury Crescent and siting around a central turning area. On this basis, it is 

14



 

not considered that the proposal as a residential ‘backland’ development would appear 
significantly at odds with the grain of the area. 

 
8.23 The position of the proposed dwellings to the rear of neighbouring development is such that 

there would be no clear public views. It is considered reasonable to argue that the prevailing 
character has been set by the approved development under construction at 1 Smallholdings; 
a mix of semi-detached and short terraced dwellinghouses between 2 to 2.5 storeys with a 
crown roof and finished externally in white render with a brick plinth and window header detail, 
with some comprising rooms in the roof using flat roofed front dormers.  

 
8.24 The proposed development would replicate their form, design and exterior finish, with the 

material details submitted with this application and outlined within section 2 of the report 
aligning with those submitted and approved for the 1 Smallholdings site. Together, the two 
development sites would establish their own character and no objections are raised on this 
basis.  

 
8.25 The application has been submitted with an Arboricultural Report and Tree Protection Plan. 

The proposal seeks to remove 1No Apple Tree (T6) and three groups of trees to the edges 
of the site (G2, G3 and G4) comprising Leyland Cypress, Common Oak, Hawthorn, Prunus, 
Elder. It is also proposed to partially cut back to the boundary a group of trees (G1) comprising 
Leyland Cypress and other shrubs. These trees are not the subject of a TPO and have been 
categorised in the report as category C trees, which are ‘low’ category trees with low amenity 
value. The Arboricultural Report concludes that the loss of the trees will have limited impact 
on the public visual amenity of the area. The Council’s Tree Officer raises no objection to the 
tree removal proposed for the reasoning provided.  

 
8.26 All retained trees will require suitable tree protection and specialist methods of design and 

construction will need to be employed to minimise any impact on trees to be retained. Tree 
protection measures have been set out in the Arboricultural Report and are illustrated within 
the accompanying Tree Protection Plan. The Council’s Tree Officer raises no objection to the 
tree protection measures proposed. 

 
8.27 Subject to a condition requiring the development to be undertaken in accordance with the tree 

protection recommendations of the Arboricultural Report and Tree Protection Plan, the 
development is considered to have an acceptable impact on the trees within and next to the 
site and would not significantly harm the character and appearance of the site or surrounding 
area in this regard.  
 

8.28 Specific landscaping details have not been provided with this application. However, the 
submitted block plan indicates the planting of 21No additional trees as well as ornamental 
planting to the front gardens of the proposed dwellings. Whilst the number and type of trees 
that will be removed as part of the proposal is a less positive aspect of the development, the 
site layout plan shows the development is to be set within a landscaped setting following the 
extent of replacement tree planting proposed. As a result, it is not considered the proposal 
would significantly harm the character and appearance of the site or surrounding area in this 
regard. The exact number of trees on site, including those currently within the identified 
groups would be required to be submitted as part of the condition details. 
 

8.29 Overall, and subject to conditions, the proposal is considered , acceptable and policy 
compliant in terms of its impact on character and appearance of the site, streetscene and 
wider surrounding area.  

 
Standard of Accommodation and Living Conditions for Future Occupiers 
 

8.30 Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the Development 
15



 

Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where they create a 
detrimental impact on the living conditions and amenity of existing and future residents or 
neighbouring residents. 
 
Space Standards and Quality of Habitable Rooms. 

 
8.31 All new homes are required to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) in 

terms of floorspace, bedroom size and storage sizes. The required overall sizes for residential 
units and the minimum standards for bedrooms are shown on the following table.  
 
Table 1: Minimum Space Standards 
 

 
 

- Bedroom Sizes: The minimum floor area for bedrooms to be no less than 7.5m2 for a 
single bedroom with a minimum width of 2.15m; and 11.5m2 for a double/twin bedroom 
with a minimum width of 2.75m or 2.55m in the case of a second double/twin bedroom. 
 

- Floorspace with a head height of less than 1.5m should not be counted in the above 
calculations unless it is solely used for storage in which case 50% of that floorspace shall 
be counted. A minimum ceiling height of 2.3m shall be provided for at least 75% of the 
Gross Internal Area. 

 
Table 2: Proposed overall, bedroom and storage sizes.  
 

Unit Occupancy 
profile 

Overall 
(sqm) 

Bedroom 
1 (sqm) 

Bedroom 
2 (sqm) 

Bedroom 
3 (sqm) 

Storage 
(sqm) 

Standards 
met Y/N 

A1 3-bed, 4-
person 94 15 10.6 10.3 2.8 Y 

A2 3-bed, 4-
person 94 15 10.6 10.3 2.8 Y 

B1 3-bed, 4-
person 94 15 10.6 10.3 2.8 Y 

B2 3-bed, 4-
person 94 15 10.6 10.3 2.8 Y 

B3 3-bed, 4-
person 94 15 10.6 10.3 2.8 Y 

C1 2-bed, 3-
person 72 13.6 10.6 N/A 2 Y 

C2 2-bed, 3-
person 72 13.6 10.6 N/A 2 Y 

C3 2-bed, 3-
person 72 13.6 10.6 N/A 2 Y 

 
8.32 The proposal provides 3No x 2-bed, 3-person and 5No x 3-bed 4-person dwellinghouses. As 

demonstrated by Table 2 above, all dwellinghouses will exceed the national technical housing 
16



 

standards which is a positive aspect of the design. All habitable rooms will be provided with 
windows to provide adequate light, ventilation and outlook. The development is acceptable 
and policy compliant in this respect. 

 
8.33 In relation to the provision of amenity space Policy DM8 states that all new dwellings should: 

“Make provision for usable private outdoor amenity space for the enjoyment of intended 
occupiers; for flatted schemes this could take the form of a balcony or easily accessible semi-
private communal amenity space. Residential schemes with no amenity space will only be 
considered acceptable in exceptional circumstances, the reasons for which will need to be 
fully justified and clearly demonstrated.” 

 
8.34 The proposed dwellings would each be provided with a private garden area between 45 and 

114sqm. The garden areas are of a usable size and shape and would provide adequate living 
conditions for any future occupiers in this respect.  

 
8.35 Policy DM8 of the Development Management Document as amended by the Technical 

Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement states that developments should meet 
building regulation M4 (2) – ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’ unless it can be clearly 
demonstrated that it is not viable and feasible to do so.  

 
8.36 Limited details have been submitted in this respect. However, the applicant’s agent has 

confirmed that all of the dwellings are designed to be Building Regulation M4(2) compliant. 
Subject to a condition in this respect, the development is acceptable and policy compliant in 
this regard. A condition can be imposed to secure compliance with this requirement. 

 
8.37 The plans do not include specific details of covered and secure cycle stores and enclosed bin 

stores within the rear gardens. Details and provision of cycle and waste storage can be 
secured by conditions. 

 
8.38 There is no known source of contamination at the site. Environmental Health consider it is 

unlikely that the land is contaminated but recommend a condition to deal with a scenario that 
contamination were discovered during the construction phase. Such a condition is included. 
 

8.39 Overall, and taken in the round, it is considered that the proposal would not result in 
substandard accommodation for future occupiers and would not be detrimental to their living 
conditions. Subject to the described conditions the proposal is considered acceptable and 
policy compliant in the above regards. 
 

 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
8.40 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development 

which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically 
identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and 
surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, 
visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this 
is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.  
 

8.41 The nearest residential uses to the application site are those dwellings under construction at 
the adjacent development site to the rear of 1 Smallholdings. The other closest neighbouring 
properties are No’s 2 and 3 Smallholdings to the north in excess of 50m away such that it is 
not considered the proposal would have any detrimental impacts on those neighbours’ 
amenity in any relevant regards.  

 
8.42 With regards the dwellings presently under construction, the layout of the development is 

such that no direct views of the proposed dwellinghouses would be possible from any 

17



 

neighbouring habitable room windows such that there would be no impact upon overlooking 
or loss of privacy. Moreover, when considered in the context of the relationship between the 
two sites, having due regard to the layout and the resulting separations between the 
properties, it is not considered the proposal would give rise to an undue overbearing impact 
nor a harmful sense of enclosure or dominant impacts.  

 
8.43 In terms of overlooking affecting private amenity areas, the arrangement of the proposed 

dwellings is such that there would remain a degree of overlooking of neighbouring rear 
gardens. Generally, when considering the site as a whole, this is not considered to be against 
the grain of what can reasonably be expected in a residential setting. The arrangement of 
neighbouring properties as two-storey terraces and semi-detached pairs is such that a degree 
of over-looking of rear gardens exists at present and is considered to form part of the 
reasonable character of the rear garden scene. In this instance, there would be a minimum 
distance to the nearest neighbouring rear garden within the 1 Smallholdings site of some 
11m. On this basis, there is no objection to a similar arrangement at the proposed 
development.  

 
8.44 A Construction Method Statement has been submitted with the application, confirming the 

working hours, the provision of site hoarding, designated areas for materials storage, 
measures to limit waste and maximise recycling along with mitigation measures to reduce 
noise and dust emissions and to limit traffic disturbance by avoiding deliveries in busy or 
congested hours. Details of monitoring have also been included. The statement is considered 
an acceptable basis for a condition which can effectively manage the impacts of the 
construction process on neighbours’ amenity. The statement has been reviewed by the 
Council’s Highways and Environmental Health and no objections have been raised. On this 
basis, a condition to require development is carried out in accordance with the Statement can 
be imposed.  

 
8.45 Conditions for details of external lighting and to control the hours of construction are 

recommended in order to avoid significant harm to the residential amenity of neighbours 
during the construction period. Environmental Health raise no objections on this basis. 

 
8.46 Given the relationship of the plots with neighbouring properties, alterations/extensions to the 

proposed dwellings may result in unacceptable living conditions of the future occupiers or 
impact on the neighbouring amenity. A condition to remove permitted development rights for 
classes A, AA, B, D, E and F would therefore be reasonable and necessary.  

 
8.47 Overall and subject to the described conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable and 

policy compliant in the above regards.  
   

Traffic and Transportation Issues 
 
8.48 The NPPF states (para 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused on 

highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” 
 

8.49 The proposed dwellings be accessed via an extension of the access road serving the 
development at 1 Smallholdings. The access road would be some 5.1m wide. Details of 
surfacing materials have not been provided at this stage so the requirement for such details 
is conditioned. Highways confirm that the design of the access is acceptable and have raised 
no objection.  

 
8.50 Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document seeks a minimum of 2 car parking 

space per 2+ bedroom dwelling. It is also a requirement to provide a minimum of 1 cycle 
parking space per dwelling. The Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure SPD requires at least 

18



 

one car parking space per dwelling to be fitted with active provision of charging infrastructure 
with any remaining spaces being provided with passive provision. 
 

8.51 The proposal provides 2 parking spaces per dwelling in accordance with the minimum parking 
standards. The parking spaces will all be accessed via proposed crossovers off the new 
access road. A condition to secure the necessary charging infrastructure is recommended. 
Highways raise no objection to the proposal, commenting that the parking proposed is 
acceptable and concluding that the development would not harm the public highway network. 

 
8.52 Specific cycle storage details have not been provided although a location within the rear 

gardens of the proposed dwellings is shown on the submitted plans. Whilst the location is 
acceptable, a condition will be imposed to require specific details to be submitted and 
approved. Highways have not objected to the scheme. 

 
8.53 Overall, the proposed development is considered acceptable and policy compliant in the 

above regards subject to the described conditions. 
 

Energy and Water Sustainability  
 
8.54 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of new 

development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised renewable 
or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development Management Document 
states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, all development proposals 
should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon dioxide emissions”. The same 
policy requires all new development to provide “water efficient design measures that limit 
internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including 
external water consumption). Such measures will include the use of water efficient fittings, 
appliance and water recycling systems such as grey water and rainwater harvesting”. 
 

8.55 Submitted plans detail the installation of solar panels as the means of renewable energy 
generation, which is acceptable in principle however, no information has been provided to 
demonstrate that the proposal would meet the 10% policy requirement. The requirement for 
renewable energy and restrictions on water usage can reasonably be controlled with 
conditions provided any such externally mounted technologies respect the character and 
appearance of the buildings and wider area.  

 
8.56 This aspect of the proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in 

these regards, subject to conditions. 
 

Waste Collection 
 

8.57 It is expected that the proposed dwellinghouses would be served by the Council’s kerbside 
sack collection scheme. Access for waste and servicing vehicles has not been demonstrated 
however, it is considered this can be dealt with satisfactorily with a suitably worded condition 
to require a waste management plan. Maximum distances to carry the sacks appears to be 
capable of being in line with the relevant guidance. Subject to a condition, the proposal would 
be acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.  
 
Drainage 

 
8.58 National policy requires that any development is safe from flooding and does not increase the 

risk of flooding elsewhere. Adequate drainage should be installed to ensure that there is no 
increased risk of flooding on site or elsewhere, including any undue discharge of surface 
water on the highway.  
 

19



 

8.59 Details of drainage arrangements incorporating principles of Sustainable Drainage Systems 
can be secured by condition. Subject to this, the development is acceptable and policy 
compliant in these regards. 

 
Ecology And Essex Coast RAMS 
 

8.60 Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that ‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by … protecting and enhancing valued 
landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils…recognising the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside…minimising impacts on and providing net gains for 
biodiversity…’ 
 

8.61 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) was carried out for the applicant in August 2023 by 
MKA Ecology Ltd. In addition to this, reptile surveys had been completed by MKA Ecology 
Ltd and Hybrid Ecology Ltd.  

 
8.62 It is concluded in the PEA that the development of the site will impact habitats of limited 

ecological value although a diverse hedgerow exists that has a range of native species 
(although Sycamore dominates), classified as a Habitat of Principal Importance and therefore 
should be retained throughout the process.  

 
8.63 Slow worms have been present across the wider development site as confirmed through 

current and historical surveys. However, the population count as confirmed within the latest 
Reptile Survey was low. A badger sett is present but within an area of land that is to be 
retained post development. Recommendations for working at construction sites with nocturnal 
animals are made but the sustainability of the sett is not in question. Any vegetation clearance 
should be conducted outside of the bird breeding season. 

 
8.64 The PEA recommends ecological enhancements which should include the provision of bee 

lawns (i.e. grass, plants and flowers specifically cultivated to encourage bees and other 
pollinators such as birds to visit) and bird boxes, including the provision of swift and bat boxes 
within each new building. Meadow creation and bird box location should be outlined by the 
development of a Landscape and Ecological management plan (LEMP) post planning 
permission. This can be secured by condition. 

 
8.65 Following communication with the Council’s Parks Team, the following recommendations 

were agreed : 
 

1. That no further assessment is made of Great Crested Newts as Amphibians were not 
recorded during reptile surveys and no ponds (Breeding habitat) were observed on maps 
within 500 metres of the site. 

2. Given that Bats are likely to forage over the site but no suitable habitats for roosting are 
present that a recommendation is added to have bat boxes within each new build. 

3. The population of reptiles (slow worms) is by definition and in accordance with the survey 
guidance a low population. However, given the history of the adjoining 1 Smallholdings 
site, a further reptile Mitigation Strategy is required including details of a translocation 
strategy. 

4. A Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) is conditioned requiring soil samples 
to try and maximise the botanical value of any grassland areas. 

 
8.66 The reports and the consultant’s recommendations have been reviewed by the Council’s 

Parks Team and no objections have been raised subject to inclusion of a suitably worded 
condition requiring the above.  
 

8.67 The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites scoped 
20



 

into the Essex Coast RAMS. It is the Council’s duty as a competent authority to undertake a 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to secure any necessary mitigation and record this 
decision within the planning documentation. Any new residential development has the 
potential to cause disturbance to European designated sites and therefore the development 
must provide appropriate mitigation. This is necessary to meet the requirements of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The Essex Coast RAMS SPD, which 
was adopted by the Council on 29 October 2020, requires that a tariff of £156.76 (index linked) 
is paid per dwelling unit. This will be transferred to the RAMS accountable body in accordance 
with the RAMS Partnership Agreement.  
 

8.68 The applicant has paid the relevant tariff. The development would offer suitable mitigation of 
the in-combination effect of the net increase of eight dwellings on habitats and species. The 
development is acceptable and in line with policies in this regard. 
 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
 

8.69 This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance with 
Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 143 of the 
Localism Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, CIL is being 
reported as a material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of planning decisions. The 
proposed amended development includes a net gain internal floor area of 686.7sqm, which 
may equate to a CIL charge of approximately £18,752.19. Any existing floor area that is being 
retained/demolished that satisfies the ‘in-use building’ test, as set out in the CIL Regulations 
2010 (as amended), may be deducted from the chargeable area thus resulting in a reduction 
in the chargeable amount. 
 
Equality and Diversity  

 
8.70 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the 

exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under 
this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had 
careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have 
concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties 
under this legislation. 
 
Conclusion 

 
8.71 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject to 

compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable and 
compliant with the objectives of the relevant development plan policies and guidance. The 
proposed development is acceptable in principle and subject to conditions, is acceptable in 
terms of ecology, sustainability, highways and living conditions of future occupiers. The 
proposal would also be acceptable in terms of design and impact on the character and 
appearance of the site and wider surrounding area, and it would not result in any significant 
harm to residential amenity.  
 

8.72 The development constitutes sustainable development, providing economic, social and 
environmental benefits. Any limited harm identified as a result of the proposal is considered 
to be clearly outweighed by the benefits of the proposal, including the provision of 8 additional 
dwellings. If any harm is identified, including in those areas for judgement identified within this 
report’s analysis of the proposal, it is necessary to demonstrate that in reaching a decision, 
an appropriate balancing exercise has been undertaken considering the benefits of the 

21



 

proposal and any such harm. The report summarises that the site forms Best and Most 
Versatile Agricultural Land but also that this Council has a significant deficit in housing land 
supply so the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development should be applied when 
determining the application as relevant. The test set out by the NPPF is whether any adverse 
impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when considered against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole. The proposal would 
make a useful contribution to the housing needs of this City which must be given increased 
weight in the planning balance. Subject to conditions, the application is therefore 
recommended for approval.  
 

9 Recommendation 
 

9.1 GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:  
 

01 The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from the date 
of this decision.  
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

 
02 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved plans: 1542-01 Rev B; 1540-02 Rev J; 1540-07 Rev C; 1540-07 Rev D; 1540-07 
Rev E; 1540-05 Rev D; 1540-06 Rev D; 1540-10; 1540-12; 1540-13; Tree Protection Plan 
Rev 1; Construction Management Plan 
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the development 
plan. 

 
03 The development hereby permitted shall be finished solely in accordance with the 

material details contained within the Planning Materials Document, namely; K Rend 
Waterproof render in Limestone White to exterior walls; Sahtas Dark Farmhouse brick 
plinth; Red clay roof tiles [Ste Foy Rouge Nuance] by Edillians; White UPVC windows 
and patio doors; Black front doors White fascias and soffits and Black guttering, or in 
accordance with any other alternative details of materials that have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this 
condition.  
 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development 
Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3, and the advice contained within 
the National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009).  
 

04 Notwithstanding the information submitted with this application, prior to the first 
occupation of the development hereby approved, full details (including elevations) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
identifying the provision of secure and enclosed refuse and recycling bin and cycle 
storage for the approved development at the site. The approved cycle storage and 
refuse and recycling bin storage shall be provided in full and made available for use 
by the occupants of the approved dwellings prior to the first occupation of the 
dwellings hereby approved and shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2, CP3 and CP4, 

22



 

Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3, DM8 and DM15, and 
the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021), the Southend-on-Sea 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009), and the Waste Storage, Collection and 
Management Guide for New Developments (2019). 

 
05 Construction shall take place solely in accordance with the details contained within 

the Construction Method Statement Rev A by Breley Design Ltd. or, in accordance with 
any other alternative details that have previously been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition.  
 
Reason: This condition is required in the interests of the amenities of nearby and 
surrounding occupiers pursuant to Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) 
and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).  

 
06 Demolition or construction works associated with this permission shall not take place 

outside the hours: 8am to 6pm Mondays to Fridays and 8am to 1pm on Saturdays and 
at no time on Sundays or Bank and Public Holidays. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenities of surrounding occupiers and to protect the 
character the area in accordance with Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) 
and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015). 

 
07 No development above ground level shall be undertaken unless and until details of 

existing and proposed site levels at and surrounding the site have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
undertaken and completed at the levels shown on the approved drawing(s) and shall 
not exceed the highest level of land or structure adjacent to the application site.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the safety of aviation, the residential amenity of adjoining 
residents and the character and appearance of the area and to ensure that the 
development complies with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core 
Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) 
Policies DM1 and DM3 and the advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape 
Guide (2009). 

 
08 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans hereby approved, no development 

shall take place, other than ground and site preparation works, unless and until a 
scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
The submitted hard and soft landscaping schemes shall include full details of the 
number, size and location of the trees and shrubs to be planted together with a planting 
specification, details of the treatment of all hard and soft surfaces, including any 
earthworks to be carried and all means of enclosing the site, including boundaries 
within the site. The scheme shall include the number of existing trees which are 
proposed to be removed and are over the relevant stem diameter as set out in the 
relevant British Standard to be considered as trees and demonstrate that the proposed 
planting scheme would achieve a ratio of 2 new trees for every 1 tree removed. 

 
Prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, the approved hard 
landscaping scheme shall be implemented and completed in full accordance with the 
details approved pursuant to this condition. Within the first available planting season 
(October to March inclusive) following the first occupation of the development hereby 
approved, the approved soft landscaping scheme shall be implemented and completed 
in full accordance with the details approved under the provisions of this condition.  

23



 

 
Within a period of five years from the completion of the development hereby approved, 
or from the date of the planting of any tree or any tree planted in its replacement, if any 
tree existing or planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme is removed, 
uprooted, destroyed, dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, 
seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same species and size as that of 
the original tree shall be planted in the same place or in accordance with alternative 
tree replacement details approved under the scope of this planning condition. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, biodiversity and the amenities of occupiers 
and to ensure a satisfactory standard of landscaping pursuant to Policies KP2 and CP4 
of the Core Strategy, Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management 
Document (2015) and the advice in the National Design Guide (2021) and Southend-on-
Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).  

 
09 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 

approved, no development shall commence at the site unless it complies with the 
recommendations in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Version 2.0 by MKA Ecology 
Ltd. (Dated 16/11/2023), the Reptile Report Version 2.0 by MKA Ecology Ltd. (Dated 
16/11/2023) and the additional points agreed between MKA Ecology Ltd. and the 
Council’s Parks Team which are as follows: 
 
1. Each new building shall be fitted with bat boxes; 
2. No development shall commence unless and until a further reptile Mitigation 

Strategy which shall include details of a translocation strategy has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this 
condition and any development shall be carried out solely in accordance with the 
recommendations in the agreed strategy; and  

3. The development shall not be first occupied unless and until a Landscape 
Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) requiring details of soil samples to aim to 
maximise the botanical value of any grassland areas have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition and 
any recommendations in the agreed LEMP shall be carried out within the first 
available planting season (October to March inclusive) following the first occupation 
of the development. The development shall then be maintained in accordance with 
the approved LEMP. 

 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required in the interest of biodiversity 
in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 

 
10 Agreed tree removal works for the development hereby approved (including which 

trees will be removed) shall not take place between March and August and shall only 
be carried out in accordance with the recommendations contained in the Arboricultural 
Report Rev 1 by Andrew Day Arboricultural Consultancy (Dated 16/11/2023). 
 
Reason: In the interest of biodiversity in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2023),Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 
and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015). 

 
11 No development shall take place unless and until the tree protection measures outlined 

in the Arboricultural Report Rev 1 and Tree Protection Plan Rev 1 by Andrew Day 
Arboricultural Consultancy (Dated 16/11/2023) have been implemented in full at the 
site. The tree protection measures shall be retained as installed throughout the 

24



 

construction phase of the development and the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the recommendations included in the approved Arboricultural Report.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the surrounding area in 
accordance with Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 
and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015). 
 

12 The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until 16 on 
site car parking spaces (2no. for each dwelling) have been provided and made available 
for use at the site in full accordance with the details shown on approved drawing 1540-
02 Rev J, together with properly constructed vehicular access to the adjoining 
highway, all in accordance with the approved plans. At least one of the parking spaces 
for each approved residential unit, shall be fitted with an active electric vehicle 
charging point. The parking spaces shall be permanently maintained thereafter solely 
for the parking of occupiers of and visitors to the development.  
 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory off-street car parking is provided in the interests 
of residential amenity and highways efficiency and safety, in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM15 and the guidance in the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the Electric Vehicle 
Charging Infrastructure (EVCI) for New Development Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) (2021). 

 
13 No drainage infrastructure associated with this approved development shall be 

undertaken at this site unless and until full details of the drainage infrastructure and a 
drainage strategy have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The strategy submitted shall apply the sustainable drainage 
principles and the sustainable drainage hierarchy. Where more sustainable methods 
of drainage are discounted clear evidence and reasoning for this shall be included 
within the strategy submitted. The approved drainage infrastructure and strategy shall 
be implemented in full accordance with the approved scheme prior to the first 
occupation of the development hereby approved and be maintained as such for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage of the site in accordance with Policy KP2 of 
the Core Strategy (2007) and Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM14. 

 
14 Prior to construction of the development hereby approved above ground floor slab 

level a scheme detailing how at least 10% of the total energy needs of the development 
will be supplied using on site renewable sources must be submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling in the development shall be 
occupied until and unless it has been implemented in accordance with the details 
approved under this condition. This provision shall be made for the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
Reason: In the interests of providing sustainable development and ensuring a high 
quality of design in accordance with Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy (2007) and the 
advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
15 Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved water efficiency design 

measures set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development Management Document to limit 
internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) (110 lpd when 
including external water consumption), including measures of water efficient fittings, 
appliances and water recycling systems such as grey water and rainwater harvesting 

25



 

shall be installed in the development hereby approved and be retained for the lifetime 
of the development. 
 
Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through efficient 
use of water in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core 
Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM2 
and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009). 

 
16 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in a manner to ensure that the 

dwellings fully comply with the Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described 
Space Standards (2015) and with Building Regulation M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable 
dwellings’ before they are brought into use and first occupied. 
 
Reason: To ensure provision of high quality and flexible internal layouts to meet the 
changing needs of residents in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, Development Management 
Document (2015) Policy DM8 and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea 
Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
17 No external lighting shall be installed on the site subject of this permission unless it is 

in accordance with the details and specifications of a Lighting Strategy which has 
previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
under the provisions of this condition. All lighting shall be retained on site in 
accordance with the approved scheme for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of future occupiers in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the 
Southend-on-Sea Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Southend-on-Sea 
Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the 
National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009). 

 
18 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (Amendment) Order 2015, or any order revising or re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification, no development shall be carried out on the new 
dwellinghouses within Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, AA, B, D, E or F of that Order 
without the receipt of express planning permission.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and in the interest of 
the residential amenity of the adjoining residents in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, 
Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the advice 
contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
19 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 

approved, no part of the development shall be occupied or brought into use until 
details a waste management and service plan including waste vehicle tracking data 
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Waste 
management and servicing of the development shall only take place in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is satisfactorily serviced and that satisfactory 
waste management is undertaken in the interests of highway safety and visual amenity 
and to protect the character of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policies KP2 

26



 

and CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy DM15 of the Development Management 
Document (2015). 
 

20 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified development must stop and it must be 
reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this 
condition. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken, and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared and shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms 
of this condition. The approved remediation scheme shall then be fully implemented 
at the site before any other works continue. Following completion of the measures 
identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, 
and submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority for its approval under the 
terms of this condition before the development is brought into first use. 
 
Investigation, remediation and verification must be undertaken by competent persons 
and in accordance with the Essex Contaminated Land Consortium's 'Land Affected by 
Contamination: Technical Guidance for Applicants and Developers' and DEFRA and 
the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land 
Contamination, CLR 11' and other current guidance deemed authoritative for the 
purposes. 
 
Reason: To ensure that if any contamination is found on the site, it is treated so that it 
does not harm anyone who uses the site in the future, and to ensure that the 
development does not cause pollution to Controlled Waters in accordance with Core 
Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4 and Policies DM1 and DM14 of the Development 
Management Document (2015).  

 
Positive and proactive statement: 
 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally 
submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the 
proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has 
been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set out in a report on the 
application prepared by officers. 
 
Informatives: 

 
1 Please note that the development which is the subject of this application is liable for a 

charge under the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended) 
and it is the responsibility of the landowner(s) to ensure they have fully complied with 
the requirements of these regulations. A failure to comply with the CIL regulations in 
full can result in a range of penalties. For full planning permissions, a CIL Liability 
Notice will be issued by the Council as soon as practicable following this decision 
notice. For general consents, you are required to submit a Notice of Chargeable 
Development (Form 5) before commencement; and upon receipt of this, the Council 
will issue a CIL Liability Notice including details of the chargeable amount and when 
this is payable. If you have not received a CIL Liability Notice by the time you intend to 
commence development, it is imperative that you contact 
S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk to avoid financial penalties for potential 
failure to comply with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended). If the chargeable 
development has already commenced, no exemption or relief can be sought in relation 

27

mailto:S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk


 

to the charge and a CIL Demand Notice will be issued requiring immediate payment. 
Further details on CIL matters can be found on the Planning Portal 
(www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastr
ucture_levy) or the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil). 
 

2 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction works 
to the highway in implementing this permission that the Council will seek to recover 
the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party responsible for 
damaging them. This includes damage carried out when implementing a planning 
permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take care when carrying out 
works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the city. 

 
3 No waste as part of the development shall be burnt on site.  

 
4 Please note that if you require a crane or piling rig to construct the proposed 

development, this will need to be safeguarded separately and dependant on location 
may be restricted in height and may also require full coordination with the Airport 
Authority. Any crane applications should be directed to 
sam.petrie@southendairport.com / 01702 538521. 

 
5 The applicant is advised to consider installation of Automatic Water Suppression 

Systems (AWSS) within the new dwellings.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

28

http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil


4

2

37

Smallholdings

27

27

6
18

9

Smallholdings

8

6

18
7

18
3

13

19
5

17
9

12

3

11

17
1

23

EASTWOODBURY CLOSE

5
19

7

18
5

18
1

EASTWOODBURY LANE

EASTW
O

O
D

BU
R

Y C
R

ESC
EN

T

N

N

4

2

37

Smallholdings

27

27

6

18
9

Smallholdings

8

6

18
7

18
3

13

19
5

17
9

12

3

11

17

1

23

EASTWOODBURY CLOSE

5
19

7

18
5

18
1

EASTWOODBURY LANE
EASTW

O
O

D
BU

R
Y C

R
ESC

EN
T

REV:- DATE

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

0 20 40 60 80 10020

0

29

AutoCAD SHX Text
Block Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Scale 1:500

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
April 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
1542-01

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Existing Block and Location Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Location Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
Scale 1:1250 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Scale Bar - 1:1250 

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Scale Bar - 1:500 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
B



T
his page is intentionally left blank



EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

Po
in

t

Pr
op

os
ed

3 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

Pr
op

os
ed

3 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

Pr
op

os
ed

3 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

Pr
op

os
ed

3 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

Pr
op

os
ed

3 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

Pr
op

os
ed

2 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

Pr
op

os
ed

2 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

Pr
op

os
ed

2 
Be

d 
Se

m
i H

ou
se

EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

Po
in

t

EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

Po
in

t

EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

Po
in

tEV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

Po
in

t

EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

Po
in

t

EV
 C

ha
rg

in
g

Po
in

t

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

91
.1

m
2

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

88
.6

m
2

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

88
.6

m
2

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

45
.3

m
2

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

82
.2

m
2

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

12
0.

8m
2

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

60
.0

m
2

Pr
iv

at
e 

G
ar

de
n

61
.7

m
2

A

B

C

Ba
dg

er
 R

un

Schedule of Areas

Building A
Semi House 1 (3Bed) - 94.14m2

Semi House 2 (3Bed) - 94.14m2

Building B
Semi House 3 (3Bed) - 94.14m2

Semi House 4 (3Bed) - 94.14m2

Semi House 5 (3Bed) - 94.14m2

Building C
Semi House 6 (2Bed) - 72.00m2

Semi House 7 (2Bed) - 72.00m2

Semi House 6 (2Bed) - 72.00m2

REV:- DATE

Existing
Tree

Approved New Tree
in Site Under Construction

Tree To Be
Removed

New Tree

New Shrubs

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

6

Scale Bar - 1:200 @ A1

0 2 4 8 102

31

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
Private Garden

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
UNDER CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
PROPOSED 8 SEMI HOUSES 

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Proposed Vehicle

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Access Extension

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Private Garden

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
Private Garden

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Private Garden

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Bins & Cycle

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Bins & Cycle

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Bins & Cycle

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Bins & Cycle

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Bins & Cycle

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Bins & Cycle

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
Bins & Cycle

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
0.15/3

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Eucalyptus

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
0.1/2

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Holm Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
0.1/2

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Holm Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Blackthorn

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
0.3/8

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
0.3/12

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Field Maple

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
0.4/12

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
Oak

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
CPF

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
0.3/5

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
0.3/9

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
Plum

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
Line

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
Red Spray

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
11.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
11.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
10.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
10.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
10.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
10.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
10.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
10.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
10.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
10.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
10.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
10.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
10.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
10.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
10.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
10.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
10.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
10.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
10.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
10.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
11.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
10.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
10.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
10.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
10.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
10.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
10.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
10.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
11.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
11.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
11.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
11.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
11.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
11.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
11.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
11.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
11.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
11.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
11.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
11.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
11.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
11.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
11.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
10.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
10.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
11.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
Wire

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
Wire

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
IC CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
11.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
11.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
11.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
11.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
11.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
11.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
11.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
11.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
10.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
10.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
11.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
Heras Fencing

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
Heras Fencing

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
10.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
10.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
10.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
11.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
10.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
10.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
10.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
10.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
10.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
11.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
10.83

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
10.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
10.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
11.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
11.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
11.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
11.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
11.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
11.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
11.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
11.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
11.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
11.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
11.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
11.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
11.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
11.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
11.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
11.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
11.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
11.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
11.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
11.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
11.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
11.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
11.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
11.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
11.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
11.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
11.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
11.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
11.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
11.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
11.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
11.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
11.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
11.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
11.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
11.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
11.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
11.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
10.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
10.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
11.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
11.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
11.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
Proposed Block PLan

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
APR 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
1:200

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
1540-02

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ



T
his page is intentionally left blank



23

12

3

27

4

2
1

Smallholdings

6

37

Smallholdings

N

WHEEL
WASH

SITE
OFFICE CANTEEN

Wheel wash area vehicles to be washed with hose and brush
discharge from vehicle wash to discharge into channel drains
with mud and grease trap at end no discharge to be alloed
onto public path or road
wheel wash drainage channel to discharge into existing SW
manhole

Access Point

WCs STORAGE OFPLANT ANDMATERIALS

LOADING &UNLOADING

TURNING

EA
ST

W
O

O
D

BU
R

Y 
LA

N
E

Smallholdings

REV:- DATE

Scale Bar - 1:250 @ A1

0 5 10 15 20 255

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

33

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
Construction Management Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
Scale 1:250 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
Outline

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
Building Under Construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
Construction Management Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
APR 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
1:250

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
1540-10

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ



T
his page is intentionally left blank



W/M

FR

OVEN

Living

Kitchen
2.1m2 1.5m2

Bath

Bed 2

4.3m2

10.6m2

Combined Area
29.5m2

Store
2m

WCHall

3.0m2
Dining

Bed 1
13.6m2

KitchenLiving

Bedroom Bath Bedroom

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

REV:- DATE

Scale Bar - 1:100 @ A1

0 2 4 6 8 102

Scale Bar - 1:50 @ A1

0 1 2 3 4 51

35

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
Proposed Front Elevation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
Proposed Side Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
Proposed Rear Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
White windows and patio doors 

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
Off-White White Render  

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
Brick headers above windows  Brick finish to L.A. Approval  

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
Red Multi brickwork.  (Sahtas Dark Farmhouse) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
Black front doors.   

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
Whitefascia and soffit, black guttering.  

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
Proposed Ground Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
Proposed First Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
4.550

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
0.350

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
8.000

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
Proposed Section 

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
Refer to Notes for floor construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
Timber windows  painted white

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
Sub-structure to Structural Engineer's details

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
Proposed Roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
2-Bedroom Semi House II 

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
MAY 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
As shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
1540-06

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
Proposed Layouts, Section & Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
Total Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
72 sqm



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Obscure
Glazed

W/M

FR

OVEN

Living

Dining

Kitchen
2.1m21.5m2

Bath

Bed 1

Bed 2

4.3m2

10.6m2

13.6m2

Store
2m

WC Hall

Combined Area
29.5m2

3.0m2

Kitchen Living

BedroomBathBedroom

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

REV:- DATE

Scale Bar - 1:100 @ A1

0 2 4 6 8 102

Scale Bar - 1:50 @ A1

0 1 2 3 4 51

37

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
Proposed Front Elevation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
Proposed Side Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
Proposed Rear Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
White windows and patio doors 

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
Off-White White Render  

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
Brick headers above windows  Brick finish to L.A. Approval  

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
Red Multi brickwork.  (Sahtas Dark Farmhouse) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
Red Clay tile roof.  (Ste Foy Rouge Nuance) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
Black front doors.   

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
Whitefascia and soffit, black guttering.  

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
Proposed Ground Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
Proposed First Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
8.700

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
4.550

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
0.350

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
8.000

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
3.875

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
5.075

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
0.350

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
1.050

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
4.550

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
Proposed Section 

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
Refer to Notes for floor construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
Timber windows  painted white

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
Sub-structure to Structural Engineer's details

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
Proposed Roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
2-Bedroom Semi House 

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
NOV 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
As shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
1540-13

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
Proposed Layouts, Section & Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
Total Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
72 sqm



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Obscure
Glazed

W/M

FR

OVEN

Living

Dining

Kitchen
2.1m2 1.5m2

Bath

Bed 1

Bed 2

4.3m2

10.6m2

13.6m2

Combined Area
29.5m2

Store
2m

WCHall

3.0m2

KitchenLiving

Bedroom Bath Bedroom

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

REV:- DATE

Scale Bar - 1:100 @ A1

0 2 4 6 8 102

Scale Bar - 1:50 @ A1

0 1 2 3 4 51

39

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
Proposed Front Elevation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
Proposed Side Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
Proposed Rear Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
White windows and patio doors 

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
Off-White White Render  

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
Brick headers above windows  Brick finish to L.A. Approval  

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
Red Multi brickwork.  (Sahtas Dark Farmhouse) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
Red Clay tile roof.  (Ste Foy Rouge Nuance) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
Black front doors.   

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
Whitefascia and soffit, black guttering.  

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
Proposed Ground Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
Proposed First Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
8.700

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
4.550

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
0.350

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
8.000

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
3.875

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
5.075

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
0.350

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
1.050

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
4.550

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
Proposed Section 

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
Refer to Notes for floor construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
Timber windows  painted white

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
Sub-structure to Structural Engineer's details

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
Proposed Roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
2-Bedroom Semi House 

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
MAY 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
As shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
1540-05

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
Proposed Layouts, Section & Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
Total Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
72 sqm



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Obscure
Glazed

W/M

FR
OVEN

Living

Dining

Kitchen
2.1m21.5m2

Bath

Bed 2

Obscure
Glazed

En-Suite

Bed 3

Bed 1

2000mm

1200mm

2000mm

1200mm

Cup'd

4.3m2

10.6m2

10.3m22.9m2

Combined Area
29.5m2

Store
2m

15.0m2

2.7m2

WC Hall

3.0m2

0.8m2

Obscure
Glazed

Kitchen Living

BedroomBathBedroom

Cup'd/ VoidBed 3

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

REV:- DATE

Scale Bar - 1:100 @ A1

0 2 4 6 8 102

Scale Bar - 1:50 @ A1

0 1 2 3 4 51

41

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
Proposed Front Elevation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
Proposed Side Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
Proposed Rear Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
White windows and patio doors 

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
Off-White White Render  

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
Brick headers above windows  Brick finish to L.A. Approval  

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
Red Multi brickwork.  (Sahtas Dark Farmhouse) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
Red Clay tile roof.  (Ste Foy Rouge Nuance) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
Black front doors.   

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
Whitefascia and soffit, black guttering.  

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
RL: 980x660mm

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
Proposed Ground Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
Proposed First Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
Proposed Second Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
Velux

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
Proposed Section 

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
Refer to Notes for floor construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
Timber windows  painted white

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
Refer to Notes for warm roof construction 

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
Refer to Notes for dormer construction 

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
Sub-structure to Structural Engineer's details

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
Proposed Roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
3-Bedroom Semi House II 

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
MAY 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
As shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
1540-07

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
Proposed Layouts, Section & Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
Total Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
94.14 sqm



T
his page is intentionally left blank



W/M

FR

OVEN

Living

Dining

Kitchen
2.1m2 1.5m2

Bath

Bed 2 En-Suite

Bed 3

Bed 1

2000mm

1200mm

2000mm

1200mm

Cup'd

4.3m2

10.6m2

10.3m2 2.9m2

Combined Area
29.5m2

Store
2m

15.0m2

2.7m2

WCHall

3.0m2

0.8m2

Living Kitchen

BathBedroom Bedroom

Bed 3Cup'd/ Void

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

REV:- DATE

Scale Bar - 1:100 @ A1

0 2 4 6 8 102

Scale Bar - 1:50 @ A1

0 1 2 3 4 51

43

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
Proposed Front Elevation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
Proposed Rear Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
White windows and patio doors 

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
Off-White White Render  

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
Brick headers above windows  Brick finish to L.A. Approval  

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
Red Multi brickwork.  (Sahtas Dark Farmhouse) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
Red Clay tile roof.  (Ste Foy Rouge Nuance) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
Black front doors.   

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
Whitefascia and soffit, black guttering.  

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
RL: 980x660mm

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
Proposed Ground Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
Proposed First Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
Proposed Second Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
Velux

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
Proposed Section 

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
Refer to Notes for warm roof construction 

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
Refer to Notes for dormer construction 

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
Refer to Notes for floor construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
Timber windows  painted white

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
Sub-structure to Structural Engineer's details

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
Proposed Roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
3-Bedroom Mid-Terrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
Nov 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
As shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
1540-12

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
Proposed Layouts, Section & Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
Total Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
94.14 sqm



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Obscure
Glazed

W/M

FR

OVEN

Living

Dining

Kitchen
2.1m2 1.5m2

Bath

Bed 2

Obscure
Glazed

En-Suite

Bed 3

Bed 1

2000mm

1200mm

2000mm

1200mm

Cup'd

4.3m2

10.6m2

10.3m2 2.9m2

Combined Area
29.5m2

Store
2m

15.0m2

2.7m2

WCHall

3.0m2

0.8m2

KitchenLiving

Bedroom Bath Bedroom

Bed 3Cup'd/ Void

be used in  whole or part by any other parties for any other purpose without prior consent.
Copyright of this drawing shall remain the property of Breley Design Limited. It may not 

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepencies reported to Breley Design Limited before work commences.

PROJECT:

TITLE:

REV.

DATE:

Drawing No.

SCALE:
D  E  S  I  G  N   L  T  D

Breley Design Ltd, Harrier House
Aviation Way, Southend on Sea

Telephone: +44 (0)1702 541300
Essex SS2 6UN, England.

Facsimile: +44 (0)1702 543123
Email: info@breleydesign.com

REV:- DATE

Scale Bar - 1:100 @ A1

0 2 4 6 8 102

Scale Bar - 1:50 @ A1

0 1 2 3 4 51

45

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
Proposed Front Elevation 

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
Proposed Side Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
Proposed Rear Elevation

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
White windows and patio doors 

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
Off-White White Render  

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
Brick headers above windows  Brick finish to L.A. Approval  

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
Red Multi brickwork.  (Sahtas Dark Farmhouse) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
Red Clay tile roof.  (Ste Foy Rouge Nuance) 

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
Black front doors.   

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
Whitefascia and soffit, black guttering.  

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
RL: 980x660mm

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
Proposed Ground Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
Proposed First Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
Proposed Second Floor 

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
Velux

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
Proposed Section 

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
Scale 1:50 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
Refer to Notes for warm roof construction 

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
Refer to Notes for dormer construction 

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
Refer to Notes for floor construction

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
Timber windows  painted white

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
Sill

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
Head

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
Sub-structure to Structural Engineer's details

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
Proposed Roof

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
Scale 1:100 @ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
3-Bedroom Semi House 

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
APR 2023

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
As shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
1540-07

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
Proposed Layouts, Section & Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
2 Smallholdings, Eastwoodbury Lane

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS2 6UZ

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
Total Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
94.14 sqm



T
his page is intentionally left blank



47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application Site relative to surroundings 

49



View looking west from 1 Smallholdings development site to the application site

Proposed extension of the road to serve the application site

50



View looking south-west across the application site

Position and direction of photo

51



View looking south-east across the application site

Position and direction of photo

52



View looking north-west across the application site

Position and direction of photo

53



View looking east to rears/flanks of dwellinghouses at 1 Smallholdings 

Position and direction of photo

54



View looking north-east to rears of dwellinghouses at 1 Smallholdings 

Position and direction of photo

55



View looking north to rears of dwellinghouses at 1 Smallholdings and application site 

Position and direction of photo

56



 

 

   

Reference: 23/00265/OUTM  

Application Type: Outline Application Major 

Ward: Milton 

Proposal: Erect 5 storey building comprising of 22 self-contained flats (Class 
C3) commercial units at ground floor level (class E), 
community/residential space with first floor amenity deck, ancillary 
bike and bin stores and landscaping (Outline Application) 

Address: Empire Theatre, Alexandra Street, Southend-on-Sea, Essex, SS1 
1BU 

Applicant: Mr Kotecha 

Agent: Mr Steven Kearney of SKArchitects 

Consultation Expiry: 19.10.2023  

Expiry Date:  19.12.2023 

Case Officer: Oliver Hart 

Plan Nos: 262-P101 Rev A; 262-P102 Rev E; 262-P103 Rev C; 262-P104 Rev 
C; 262-P105 Rev B; 262-P106 Rev B; 262-P108 Rev A 

Supporting Documents: Design & Access Statement Rev A (dated January 2023); 
Computer Generated Images 1-4; SUDs Statement (by HJ 
Structural Engineers Ltd. dated April 2023); Residential Market 
Report (by redloft, dated June 2023); Daylight and Sunlight 
Report (within development) by Right of Light Consulting Ltd. 
(dated 27 September 2023); Daylight and Sunlight Report 
(neighbouring properties) by Right of Light Consulting Ltd. 
(dated 17 October 2023); Waste Management Statement by SK 
Architects Ltd. (dated February 2023); Transport Assessment by 
ttp consulting (dated February 2023); Biodiversity and 
Sustainability Statement by SK Architects Ltd. (dated February 
2023); Environmental Noise Impact Assessment Report Rev A 
(by es acoustics, ref 20294.ENIA.RPT.01, dated 15 February 
2023); Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Arbtech Issue 2 
(dated 11/10/2023); Sitecheck Assess by Landmark (ref 
307165997, dated 14 February 2023) 

Recommendation: DELEGATE to the Executive Director (Environment and Place), 
Director of Growth and Planning or Service Manager - 
Development Control to GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION 
subject to CONDITIONS following the completion of a LEGAL 
AGREEMENT under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

57

5



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

58



 

1 Site and Surroundings 
 

1.1 The application site is mainly empty with the south-east corner currently occupied by the 
remnants of a largely demolished former theatre/cinema building. The previous building was 
demolished at some point in 2017 or 2018. Historically, the site was occupied by the Rivoli café 
and cinema. The site has two frontages, to the south on Alexandra Street and to the north on 
Clarence Street. The eastern part of the site has a Public Right of Way (PRoW) linking 
Alexandra Street and Clarence Street.  
 

1.2 The surrounding area contains mainly three-storey buildings, some with a fourth storey in their 
roof, and are of traditional design. Their use is mixed, typically with commercial uses at ground 
floor and some residential uses above, which is characteristic of the town centre location.  

 
1.3 The site is within the Clifftown Policy Area and the Town Centre Primary Shopping Area as 

defined in the Southend Central Area Action Plan (SCAAP). The south frontage of the site is 
designated as Secondary Shopping Frontage. The buildings to the west are designated as 
Frontages of Townscape Merit. Alexandra Street is identified as an area for key public realm 
improvements. The nearest boundary of Clifftown Conservation Area is some 80m to the west 
of this site.  
 

2 The Proposal 
 

2.1 Outline planning permission is sought for access, appearance, layout and scale for a mixed-
use development comprising two blocks, measuring up to 44.2m in depth, 18.8m in width and 
up to 16m in height. The taller block (at 5-storey scale) would be to the south along Alexandra 
Street and the smaller block (at 4-storey scale) would have its frontage to the north, along 
Clarence Street. In the middle there would be a platform/podium rising at 4.9m high, creating 
a separation distance of some 12.75m between the two blocks. The proposed development 
would be finished externally in red face brick. 
 

2.2 The design of the proposal has been amended during the course of the application, removing 
an additional storey initially proposed to either block, and providing additional detailing to the 
flanks of the blocks. Consequently, the building would now accommodate 22 flats, 6 
commercial units, 2 community spaces (one at ground and first floor) and 3 communal areas 
for the proposed flats with associated cycle parking and bin storage. The proposal would 
comprise the dwelling mix and uses shown on Table 1 and Table 2 below.

 
 Table 1: Housing mix 

Number of 
Bedrooms 

Number 
of units 

Units – 
Percentage 
of total (%) 

1 8 36.3 

2 10 45.5 

3 4 18.2 

Total 22 100 

 

 
Table 2: Other floorspace mix 

 
 

2.3 Level access between all floors would be provided by lifts shown at ground floor close to the 
proposed main street access. The submitted plans specify 3 units would comply with building 

59



 

regulation M4(3). Outdoor amenity space would be provided predominantly in the form of 
private balconies and a communal garden area positioned on the central platform/podium area 
between the blocks.  

 
2.4 Whilst landscaping is a reserved matter for later consideration, information has been provided 

showing indicative tree planting to the south of the site, to the north-east of the site and within 
the central communal amenity area.  

 
2.5 No car parking would be provided at the site. Within dedicated areas with electric charging 

provision at ground floor level there would be 28 cycle parking spaces for residents and 4 cycle 
parking spaces for the proposed commercial units. Separate residential and commercial bin 
storage areas would also be provided at ground floor level. Ancillary residents’ facilities 
inclusive of a residents’ gym, hot desking space and a meeting room are also part of the 
proposal.  

 
3 Relevant Planning History 

 
3.1 The most relevant planning history for this application is shown on Table 3 below: 

 
Table 3: Relevant planning history of the Site 
 

Refence Description Outcome 
[Date] 

16/01495/DEM Demolish existing building (Application for Prior 
Approval for Demolition) 

Prior Approval 
Granted 
[07.09.2016] 

17/01319/FULM Erect four storey building comprising 24 self-
contained flats with balconies and terraces, 
associated amenity space, form parking, form 
commercial units (Use Classes A1, A2 and A3) and 
a non-residential institution unit (Class D1) fronting 
Clarence Street at ground floor level 

Permission 
Granted  
[25.07.2017] 
 

 
4 Representation Summary 

 
Public Consultation 

4.1 110No neighbouring properties were consulted, a site notice was displayed and a press notice 
was published for the original and the amended proposal. 2No representations have been 
received objecting to the proposal and are summarised as follows: 
 

• Overbearing form of development; 

• Scale, mass and detailed design out of keeping with character of the area; 

• Overlooking and loss of privacy concerns; 

• Loss of light and outlook concerns; 

• Parking concerns; 

• Noise and disturbance concerns from bike store location; 

• Noise, disturbance and odour concerns from refuse store location. 
 

Milton Conservation Area Society  
4.2 Objection raised on the following basis.  

• The mass and scale of the building would be incongruous in the two roads and would 
break the existing urban grain.  

• This proposal is located in a distinctly low-rise part of our city and would create great 

60



 

harm to the local grain.  

• Detailed design and form of the development is inappropriate and extremely dominant 
and harmful to the ‘Frontages of Townscape Merit’.  

• The proposal conflicts with the local plan, the SCAAP and the Design and Townscape 
guide, most particularly in terms of context and character.  

• There is no parking provision which is contrary to the local plan.  
 

[Officer comment]: The comments in the representations following public consultation and 
from the Milton Conservation Area Society have been taken into consideration in the 
assessment of the application where they raise relevant planning matters but are not found to 
be justifiable reasons for refusing planning permission in the circumstances of this case.  

 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

4.3 No objections subject to conditions requiring submission of additional information regarding 
drainage.  
 
Environmental Health 

4.4 No objections subject to conditions relating to Land Contamination, Noise Mitigation and Noise 
from Plant and Equipment, a Construction Management Plan, Refuse and Recycling Details, 
Restriction of Delivery Hours for the Commercial Units, Restriction of Plant and Ventilation 
Equipment. 
 
London Southend Airport (LSA) 

4.5 No objection subject to maximum height of development not exceeding the height of the 
previous building before demolition or the height of 56.46m (AOD) and a condition requiring 
third party instrument flight procedure assessment (ILS).  
 
Highways 

4.6 No objections. The applicant has provided a robust transport statement to support the 
application. This includes sustainable travel options, TRICS analysis, census data and a 
proposed travel plan. The site benefits from being in a town centre location with good links to 
sustainable travel links, local services and public car parks. Secure cycle parking is provided. 
It is not considered that the proposal will have a detrimental impact on the local highway 
network. Future occupiers will not be eligible for a town centre or parking permit. A Travel Plan 
including travel packs will be required. 
 

4.7 There is a public right of way (PROW) that will be affected as part of the development. Currently 
access is restricted along the length of the PROW. Any works that are undertaken will require 
the PROW to be stopped up to allow construction to take place on the understanding that 
improvements to the surface shall be made in consultation with the highway authority. There 
would be no objection to the above should this come forward. 

 
Strategic Housing  

4.8 The proposed development will deliver 22 dwellings, which will require a 20% affordable 
housing provision, equating to 5 homes. The most recent Housing Register data indicates the 
following dwelling mix is required: 3 x 1 bedroom; 2 x 2 bedroom. The required tenure split is 
as follows: 3 units in affordable rent and two units in shared ownership tenure. 

 
Education 

4.9 A financial contribution of £31,083.33 is required towards secondary education at Cecil Jones 
Academy.  
 
[Officer comment: A planning obligation for a financial contribution towards secondary 
education is included in the recommended Heads of Terms from paragraph 8.78 onwards of 
this report.] 

61



 

 
Health Care (NHS) 

4.10 A financial contribution of £12,700 is requested for the benefit of patients of the Primary Care 
Network operating in the immediate area.  
 
[Officer comment: Funding for primary health care provision is achieved through CIL and as 
such a separate contribution has not been sought. See paragraphs 8.84 to 8.85 of this report.] 
 
Design and Conservation Officer  

4.11 No objections raised following amendments.  
 

5 Procedural matters 
 

5.1 This application is presented to the Development Control Committee because it is a major 
development and officers do not consider prudent to deal with this under delegated powers. 
 

6 Planning Policy Summary 
  

6.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023) 
 

6.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2023) 
 

6.3 National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 
 

6.4 Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015) 
 

6.5 Core Strategy (2007) policies: KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), KP3 
(implementation and Resources), CP1 (Employment Generating Development), CP3 
(Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP6 (Community 
Infrastructure), CP7 (Sport, Recreation and Green Space), CP8 (Dwelling Provision). 

 

6.6 Development Management Document (2015) policies: DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low 
Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of 
Land), DM4 (Tall and Large Buildings), DM5 (Southend’s Historic Environment), DM6 (The 
Seafront), DM7 (Dwelling Mix), DM8 (Residential Standards), DM9 (Specialist Residential 
Accommodation), DM10 (Employment Sectors), DM11 (Employment Areas), DM13 (Shopping 
Frontage Management outside the Town Centre), DM14 (Environmental Protection), DM15 
(Sustainable Transport Management). 

 
6.7 Southend Central Area Action Plan (2015) Policy PA6 (Clifftown Policy Area Development 

Principles) 
 

6.8 Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
 

6.9 Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015) 
 

6.10 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019) 
 

6.11 Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020) 

 
6.12 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 

 
6.13 Clifftown Conservation Area Appraisal (2022)  

 

62



 

6.14 Guide to Section 106 & Developer Contributions (2015) 
 

6.15 Interim Affordable Housing Policy (2016) 
 

6.16 Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary Planning 
Document (2021)  

 
7 Planning Considerations 
 
7.1 The main considerations in relation to and within the scope of this outline application are the 

principle of the development, design and impact on the character and appearance of the area 
including heritage assets, impacts on neighbours’ residential amenity, living conditions of future 
occupiers, traffic and transportation matters, flood risk and drainage, sustainability, RAMS, 
equality and diversity considerations, CIL and developer contributions. 
 

8 Appraisal 
 
 Principle of Development 

 
Provision of Housing 
 

8.1 National and local planning policy promote the effective use of land subject to safeguarding 
and improving the environment and local amenity. The NPPF states that planning decisions 
should give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements 
for homes and promote and support the development of underutilised land and buildings, 
especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land supply is 
constrained, and available sites could be used more effectively. 
 

8.2 The figures of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) and the Five-Year Housing Land Supply 
(5YHLS) show that there is a significant need for housing in the City. The South Essex Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SESHMA) shows that the City needs a higher proportion of 
family units. 

 
8.3 The proposal would create additional housing including additional family units. The results of 

the HDT and the position on the 5YHLS weigh in favour of the proposal and the amount of 
housing would make a useful contribution to the housing stock of the City. The findings of the 
SESHMA significantly support the proposal. 

 
Provision of employment and active frontage 

 
8.4 Policy PA6 of the adopted Southend Central Area Action Plan (SCAAP) relating to the Clifftown 

Policy area, states that the Council will “promote independent small-scale retail, boutiques, 
cafés, restaurants, bars and small studio style workshops to create an area with a strong 
cultural identity together with residential uses above ground floor level to reinforce the fine grain 
historic street pattern and character.” With respect to this site, it is noted that part 2C of Policy 
PA6 states that the Council will seek to “regenerate the site of the Empire Theatre with uses 
that contribute to the Policy Area’s aim, including cultural uses such as galleries and 
performance space, particularly at ground floor to create an active frontage”. 
 

8.5 The southern part of the site fronting Alexandra Street is located within a secondary shopping 
frontage and Policy DM13 of the Development Management Document states that ‘All 
developments in the secondary shopping frontage, as defined on the Policies Map, must 
maintain or provide an active frontage with a display function for goods and services rendered 
and the proposed use will provide a direct service to visiting members of the general public.’ 

 

63



 

8.6 The proposal includes 108sqm of commercial floorspace fronting Alexandra Street and 
140sqm of commercial floorspace fronting Clarence Street. These would provide an active 
frontage and a continuation of the link between Alexandra Street and the High Street to the 
east. These arrangements are considered to be policy compliant in regard to the nature and 
mix of uses thereby meeting the Council’s development plan policies with particular reference 
to the Clifftown Policy Area.  

 
8.7 A historic Public Right of Way (PROW) runs along the east of the site (north-south). Gates are 

presently in place to act as a temporary measure understood to tackle anti-social behaviour. It 
is understood the applicant seeks to re-open the PROW to enable pedestrian permeation 
through the site which, together with the general upgrading of this pedestrian route, is 
considered a positive aspect of the design. Separate highway legislation in this respect would 
apply.  

 
Community use 

 
8.8 The former use of the building on this site had been for leisure purposes and as such, it is 

considered that the use of the site represented a recreational facility. Demolition of the building 
took place under prior approval secured in 2016 such that there is now no community use 
present on the land. This materially reduces the weight to be attached to the requirement for 
incorporation of such ‘recreational’ floorspace. Notwithstanding, two units, one at ground and 
one at first floor (approximately 79sqm of floorspace) are identified within this proposal as for 
‘community’ uses.  
 

8.9 Compared with the nature of the previous use solely as a cinema, this proposal will enable the 
development to potentially accommodate a number of different community uses or groups 
within either a Class F1 or F2 Use, which relate to Learning and non-residential institutions and 
Local Community uses, thereby fulfilling the Council’s aspirations of delivering cultural uses in 
accordance with the objectives of Policy PA6 of the Southend Central Area Action Plan. This 
element of the proposal is therefore found to be acceptable and policy compliant on this basis.  
 
Dwelling mix 

 
8.10 Policy DM7 of the Development Management Document seeks that residential development 

provides a dwelling mix that incorporates a range of dwelling types and bedroom sizes, 
including family housing on appropriate sites, to reflect the City’s housing need and housing 
demand. The Council seeks to promote a mix of dwelling types and sizes as detailed below. 
The dwelling mix preferred by Policy DM7 as amended by the latest SESHMA compared to the 
proposal is shown in Table 4 below. Whilst Policy DM7’s preferred mix needs to be considered, 
it is also the case that, since the adoption of Policy DM7, there has become an evidenced need 
for all types and sizes of dwelling within the City, a factor that must be given due weight in the 
assessment. 
 
Table 4: Proposed and preferred policy dwelling mix by size 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
8.11 The units proposed incorporate a mix of dwelling sizes, including three bed units capable of 

family occupation. It is considered that the dwelling mix would accord reasonably with the 

Type of unit Number Percentage Policy (%) 

One-bedroom flat 8 36.3% 18% 

Two-bedroom flat 10 45.5% 30% 

Three-bedroom flat 4 18.2% 35% 

Four-bedroom flat 0 0% 17% 

Total 22 100% 100% 

64



 

higher density context of the site surroundings and the compact nature of the site. It would not 
unreasonably affect the character of the area in terms of flat sizes. The proposal would make 
a useful contribution to meeting the housing needs of the city and is considered to be 
acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards. 
 
Affordable Housing  
 

8.12 Policy CP8 seeks an affordable housing provision of 20% for major residential proposals of 10 
- 49 dwellings which should be split 60:40 between affordable rented and shared ownership 
units. Were it to apply here, a policy compliant provision would be 5 dwellings, comprising 3 
affordable rented units and 2 shared ownership units.  
 

8.13 The financial viability assessment (VA) submitted with the application concludes that a 
contribution to affordable housing is unviable in this case. The Council has had this document 
independently reviewed by BNP Paribas which verifies that the scheme cannot support any 
affordable housing contribution. Assuming a blended developer profit of 16.65% the 
independent viability review concluded that this scheme would have a projected deficit of 
£2.71m. Even considering the notional costs involved in providing spaces within the 
development intended for a residents’ gym, meeting room and hot desk area (the specific fitting 
out costs of which are not part of the viability assessment) there would remain a significant 
viability deficit. The absence of any affordable housing contribution in this case is therefore 
justified. However, the applicant has agreed to include a late-stage viability review mechanism 
in the S106 legal agreement on the basis of the London Plan formula. This will ensure that the 
actual construction costs and achieved sale values will be considered to determine whether 
the viability position of the development has changed and therefore whether a contribution can 
then be made towards affordable housing. That would also provide control for the Council over 
any future material change in the nature of the intended residents’ internal communal facilities. 
If found to be viable at that later stage, 60% of any surplus would be paid to the Council as the 
affordable housing contribution for the scheme up to a cap figure calculated in accordance with 
the Council’s interim affordable housing policy.  

 
Conclusion on principle of development 

 
8.14 In the round, the principle of providing additional housing with some ground floor commercial 

and community uses on this site is considered acceptable. 
 

 Design and Impact on the Character of the Area including Heritage Assets 
  

8.15 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well 
designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
 

8.16 Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it 
adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context 
and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the 
distinctiveness of place; and contributes positively to the space between buildings and their 
relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide 
provide further details on how this can be achieved. 

 

8.17 The site is at a point of transition from the High Street to the Clifftown Conservation Area further 
to the west. The site itself is within the SCAAP Clifftown Policy Area which is characterised by 
its fine grain and well-articulated buildings, many of which have heritage designations. 
Alexandra Street and Clarence Street are two of the most attractive and historic streets within 
the town centre, of which there are few. The buildings in the vicinity of the site are generally 2- 
to 3- storey terraces of a traditional design, with quality detailing and decoration and pitched 

65



 

roofs.  
 

8.18 The proposal has been reduced in scale during the course of the application, from 6 storeys to 
5 fronting Alexandra Street and from 5 storeys to 4 fronting Clarence Street, linked by a raised 
and continuous ground floor. Both blocks are a simple box shape with tall windows, feature 
shopfronts and small inset balconies articulating the frontage.  

 

8.19 The development is taller than the neighbours on both frontages (between 3.5m and 5.5m 
along the Alexandra Street frontage and some 4m along the Clarence Street frontage) but due 
to the variation in scale along Alexandra Street and the retention of separation to either flank, 
it is not considered to be to such a degree that it would harmfully dominate the streetscene. 
Windows to the side flanks enliven the frontages and will provide interest and articulation for 
the building where it is seen to project above the neighbours in views from the east and west 
on both streets.  

 
8.20 The proposed layout of development is considered acceptable as it makes the best use of the 

site while maintaining and improving the built form’s relationship to the public right of way and 
making a feature of it. The proposal for a range of small-scale commercial units is acceptable 
in this location which is characterised by small independent businesses and is therefore 
compatible with the broader setting. The proposed yard at the north-eastern part of the site 
would offer relief from the built form and allow for public or quasi-public realm enhancements 
and so would the proposed arches. The proposed pattern of development, which amongst 
other things responds positively to the presence of the PRoW, would follow the dense urban 
grain in this town centre location whilst respecting established building lines.  

 

8.21 The successful integration of the development into the streetscene will rely on achieving high 
quality articulation and detailing and the use of good materials which complement the 
surrounding heritage, and this can be secured via an appropriately worded condition. 
Advertisement signage associated with the development and the commercial units is dealt with 
under separate legislation for which an informative is attached. 
 

8.22 For the reasons noted above, it is considered that the proposed development would preserve 
the setting of the designated and non-designated assets, inclusive of the Clifftown 
Conservation Area (to the west and south) and the adjacent Frontages of Townscape Merit 
along both Alexandra Street and Clarence Street. The acceptable design along with the 
distance from the Clifftown Conservation Area boundary result in a development that would be 
acceptable when viewed from the conservation area, particularly considering that before the 
latest demolition a building which was taller than its surroundings had occupied the site since 
the early 20th century. 

 
8.23 Landscaping is a reserved matter. However, plans show for information that the wider 

landscaped section fronting Clarence Street will include some trees to soften the development 
and enhance the outside space and setting of the building on this frontage and this is 
acceptable. Indicative tree planting is also shown to the front of the site on Alexandra 
Street which is a further positive aspect of the scheme and will soften the impact of the building 
into the streetscene in this location, including providing a more human scale reference at street 
level.  

 
8.24 The removal of the gates (as discussed above at paragraph 8.7) to the pedestrian side access 

in association with the site’s development is positive as it will allow continuous public access 
to this area so that it can fully contribute to the setting of the new development and amenities 
of the town centre. Details of hard and soft landscaping will be provided at reserved matter 
stage. Whilst gates are also shown in the current submission, the applicant has advised that 
they are decorative only, to provide definition from the street. Should the applicant wish to be 
able to control the access to the PRoW, they can apply through the relevant highway and legal 

66



 

processes which sit separately outside the planning regime. 
 

8.25 Overall, this proposal is considered to be appropriately scaled for this location and adequately 
designed and detailed from an aesthetic perspective. It is therefore considered to be 
acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.  

 
Standard of Accommodation and Living Conditions for Future Occupiers 
 

8.26 Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the Development 
Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where they create a 
detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and future residents or 
neighbouring residents. 
 
Space Standards and Quality of Habitable Rooms 

 

8.27 All new homes are required to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) in 
terms of floorspace, bedroom size and storage sizes. The required overall sizes for residential 
units and the minimum standards for bedrooms are shown on the following table.  
 
Table 5: Minimum space standards 
 

 
 

- Bedroom Sizes: The minimum floor area for bedrooms to be no less than 7.5m2 for a single 
bedroom with a minimum width of 2.15m; and 11.5m2 for a double/twin bedroom with a 
minimum width of 2.75m or 2.55m in the case of a second double/twin bedroom. 
 

- Floorspace with a head height of less than 1.5m should not be counted in the above 
calculations unless it is solely used for storage in which case 50% of that floorspace shall 
be counted. A minimum ceiling height of 2.3m shall be provided for at least 75% of the 
Gross Internal Area. 

 
Table 6: Proposed overall, bedroom and storage sizes.  
 

Unit 
Occupancy 
profile 

Overall 
(sqm) 

Bedroom 1 
(sqm) 

Bedroom 2 
(sqm) 

Bedroom 3 
(sqm) 

Storage 
(sqm) 

Standards 
met Y/N 

1 
1-bed,  
2-person 

52 13.8 N/A N/A 1.6 Y 

2* 
1-bed,  
2-person 

57 13.5 N/A N/A 1.5 Y 

3 
2-bed,  
3-person 

51 12.9 8.3 N/A 2.2 Y 

4 
1-bed,  
2-person 

50 12.8 N/A N/A 1.5 Y 

5 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 11.8 8.2 N/A 2 Y 

 

67



 

 

Unit 
Occupancy 
profile 

Overall 
(sqm) 

Bedroom 1 
(sqm) 

Bedroom 2 
(sqm) 

Bedroom 3 
(sqm) 

Storage 
(sqm) 

Standards 
met Y/N 

6* 
3-bed,  
4-person 

92 13.3 8.6 8.6 2.7 Y 

7 
3-bed,  
4-person 

76 13.2 7.6 7.5 2.5 Y 

8 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 12.3 7.7 N/A 2.2 Y 

9 
1-bed,  
2-person 

50 11.8 N/A N/A 1.5 Y 

10 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 13.2 8.1 N/A 2 Y 

11 
1-bed, 
1-person 

40 7.7 N/A N/A 1 Y 

12 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 11.8 8.2 N/A 2 Y 

13* 
3-bed,  
4-person 

92 13.3 8.6 8.6 2.7 Y 

14 
3-bed,  
4-person 

76 13.2 7.6 7.5 2.5 Y 

15 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 12.3 7.7 N/A 2.2 Y 

16 
1-bed,  
2-person 

50 11.8 N/A N/A 1.5 Y 

17 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 13.2 8.1 N/A 2 Y 

18 
1-bed,  
1-person 

40 7.7 N/A N/A 1 Y 

19 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 11.8 8.2 N/A 2 Y 

20 
2-bed,  
3-person 

63 13.6 8.7 N/A 2 Y 

21 
2-bed,  
3-person 

61 13.1 7.7 N/A 2 Y 

22 
1-bed,  
1-person 

43 8.2 N/A N/A 1 Y 

* Flats marked with this are M4(3) compliant. 

 
8.28 All dwellings within the proposal would meet the required standards, including the bedroom 

and internal storage standards. The proposed units are acceptable and policy compliant for flat 
and bedroom sizes. The provision for ancillary services for future residents, noting the provision 
of a gym, hot desking and meeting spaces contribute to the overall residential offer. All 
residents will have access to these facilities. 
 

8.29 The plans show that all habitable rooms will be provided with sufficient windows and openings 
to provide adequate ventilation and outlook. A Daylight and Sunlight Assessment has been 
submitted following the methodology within BRE guidance to assess the standards of light 
within the proposed dwellings. This document concludes that a high percentage of rooms 
(84%) would meet or exceed the recommendations of the BRE guidelines. The consultant 
considers this to be a good result for a large development in an urban environment. The 10 
rooms which would not meet the guidelines, include the living/dining/kitchen areas of flats 1, 2, 
5, 6, 12, 13, 19, 20 and the bedroom of flat 9. With the exception of flat 6, the other flats would 
be south-facing and have been designed so as to combat solar gain by being set back from 
the façade of the building. This is likely to result in a more ambient living environment for future 
occupants who will also benefit from sunlit external amenity spaces. 

 
Amenity Space provision 

68



 

 
8.30 In relation to the provision of amenity space, Policy DM8 states that all new dwellings should: 

“Make provision for usable private outdoor amenity space for the enjoyment of intended 
occupiers; for flatted schemes this could take the form of a balcony or easily accessible semi-
private communal amenity space. Residential schemes with no amenity space will only be 
considered acceptable in exceptional circumstances, the reasons for which will need to be fully 
justified and clearly demonstrated.” 
 

8.31 All proposed units would be provided with private external amenity space in the form of 
balconies or terraces. Whilst the balconies are limited in scale (between 1sqm and 1.5sqm), 
regard is also had to the presence of the communal amenity area centrally located between 
the blocks (in excess of 200sqm). In the round, this is considered sufficient on account of the 
occupancy profile of the units and the context of the scheme as a high-density development in 
an urban environment.  

 
8.32 The arrangement of the communal amenity space as proposed would be acceptable and would 

not result in any significantly harmful impact on the living conditions of future occupiers. The 
internal layout of the proposal is such that the communal amenity space is overlooked and sits 
adjacent to the communal facilities or community units. 

 
8.33 The balconies to the rear of either block would maintain a separation distance of 11m. 

Balconies have been positioned in such a way that they are not sited directly opposite one 
another. This arrangement and separation is considered sufficient in the context of the scheme 
as a high density development in an urban environment where a degree of inter-looking can 
reasonably be expected.  

 
Noise and Disturbance 

 
8.34 The development’s town centre location could potentially result in a harmful acoustic 

environment for future residents, particularly at lower floors. A noise survey report has been 
submitted with the application.  

 
8.35 A mixed residential and commercial use is considered appropriate in this location provided that 

adequate measures and conditions are in place to ensure that internal noise levels (particularly 
the residential elements) are in accordance with the required standards. The noise report 
submitted with the application highlights that noise from traffic and other external sources 
including plant/equipment and also noise associated with the town centre night-time economy 
will result in elevated levels (above the standards) internally in the flats. Mitigation measures 
therefore will be required and appropriate measures (mechanical ventilation as an alternative 
to opening windows and enhanced glazing) have been proposed.  

 
8.36 Where mechanical ventilation is to be installed, it will be important to ensure that this does not 

give rise to an additional increase in internal noise levels. The same applies with any air 
conditioning etc. to be installed in connection with the proposed commercial uses. Noise limits 
for external plant installations have been proposed by Environmental Health and can be 
secured by appropriately worded conditions.  

 
8.37 Subject to conditions requiring compliance with the noise mitigation measures as detailed in 

the submitted report by ES Acoustics and compliance with the noise limits for external plant 
equipment, Environmental Health have not objected to the scheme on this basis. 

 
8.38 As the uses of the commercial units are not known at this time, it is also considered relevant 

to impose a condition requiring any extraction/ventilation equipment needed for the preparation 
of food on the premises to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Moreover, it is also considered necessary and reasonable to impose a condition limiting the 

69



 

operating hours of any outdoor seating areas for non-residential uses to avoid any potential 
noise and disturbance issues.  
 
Land Contamination 

 
8.39 No contaminated report has been submitted with this application. Environmental Health 

comment that although it is unlikely, the site is in close proximity to potentially contaminated 
land and, as such, needs such consideration and assessment. Therefore, a condition for a 
land contamination risk assessment is recommended. 
 
M4(2) and M4(3) – Accessibility  

 
8.40 Policy DM8 as amended by the Council’s Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition 

Statement (2015) requires all new dwellings to be accessible and adaptable to meet the 
Building Regulations M4(2) standards and requires 10% of the units (3 units) to meet the 
Building Regulations M4(3) wheelchair compatible requirements. Lifts are proposed. The plans 
show that 3 units (marked with an asterisk on Table 6 further above) would be Building 
Regulations M4(3) compliant. The remainder of the units would be Building Regulations M4(2) 
compliant. These arrangements can be secured by condition. The proposal is therefore 
acceptable and policy compliant in this regard.  

 
8.41 Overall, subject to the described conditions the proposal would provide an acceptable standard 

of accommodation and is acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.  
 

 Impact on Residential Amenity 
 
8.42 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development 

which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically 
identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and 
surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual 
enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out 
in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.  
 

8.43 The site is next to existing residential units on the upper floors of the buildings to the immediate 
east and west of the site, Nos 18-20 and 26-28 Alexandra Street and Nos 23-29 and 31-33 
Clarence Street. 

 

8.44 The application is supported by a Daylight and Sunlight assessment for third party impacts 
following the methodology within BRE guidance. The results show that all windows pass the 
Vertical Sky Component test, 125 of which will achieve a better level of daylight than they did 
when the Empire Theatre was in situ. All windows that face within 90 degrees of due south 
have been tested for direct sunlight. All windows pass both the total annual sunlight hours test 
and the winter sunlight hours test. The proposed development therefore satisfies the BRE 
direct sunlight to windows requirements. Moreover, all gardens and open spaces tested meet 
the BRE recommendations. On this basis, the impact in relation to light and outlook on 
neighbouring properties is found to be acceptable.  

 
8.45 The proposed development retains a separation to either neighbouring flank boundaries 

(between 2.1m to No 26 Alexandra Street and 9.2m to the boundary with Nos 23-29 Clarence 
Road). Given the absence of neighbouring habitable room flank windows facing into the 
application site and the limited projection of built form beyond the rear elevations of adjoining 
neighbours, the proposed development is not considered to appear as an unduly overbearing 
feature, nor would it create an unacceptable sense of enclosure.  
 

8.46 In weighing up the impact from overlooking, regard is had to the high-density nature of 

70



 

surrounding development which comprises predominantly flatted units and modest rear 
gardens and service storage yards which would experience a mutual degree of overlooking at 
present, not untypical for such an urban town centre location. The rear facing balconies are 
proposed to be set away from either flank boundary. Moreover, the separations from the rear 
of the balconies to the rears of neighbouring properties along Clarence Street and Alexandra 
Street would be a minimum of 15.5m. Together with the modest depths of the balconies which 
would limit their potential occupancy, it is not considered the balconies would introduce a 
significantly harmful degree of overlooking that would be unacceptable in the context of this 
high-density urban environment. The presence of flank windows proposed deep within the site 
to the sides of both blocks is considered to introduce a more extensive degree of overlooking 
and loss of privacy. To mitigate this impact, as these openings are secondary windows, a 
condition can be imposed to obscure glaze and fix shut these openings. On this basis the 
overlooking impact is considered acceptable.  

 
8.47 A planning condition is also needed to require the submission of a construction management 

plan and to enable the Council to control the impact on neighbours’ amenity arising from 
construction noise and other associated environmental considerations. 

 
8.48 There is no amenity-based objection in principle to the introduction of a mix of commercial units 

in Class E uses in this town centre location as it is not considered that such uses would have 
an adverse impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and suitable conditions can 
reasonably control potential noise and disturbance.  
 

8.49 On the above basis it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable and would 
comply with national and local planning policies in relation to neighbour amenity. 

 
Traffic and Transportation Issues 

 
8.50 The NPPF states (paragraph 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused on 

highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” 
 

8.51 Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document states: “Development will be allowed 
where there is, or it can be demonstrated that there will be, physical and environmental capacity 
to accommodate the type and amount of traffic generated in a safe and sustainable manner.” 
The policy also requires that adequate parking should be provided for all development in 
accordance with the adopted vehicle parking standards. Residential vehicle parking standards 
may be applied flexibly where the development is proposed in a sustainable location with 
frequent and extensive links to public transport.  

 
8.52 Assessed against the parking standards, the minimum car parking requirement for flats under 

Policy DM15 is one space per unit and the minimum cycle parking requirement is one cycle 
parking space per unit. For the commercial units, maximum standards of one car parking space 
per 15sqm are required. Policy DM15 also sets a standard of 2 cycle spaces for the commercial 
units.  

 
8.53 Plans show 28 residential cycle parking spaces will be provided within a single store at ground 

floor. 4 cycle parking spaces for the commercial units are also shown within a single store at 
ground floor. An external bike stand for visitors to the development is also shown to the eastern 
boundary of the site. The Council’s Highways Officer has raised no objections to this provision.  

 
8.54 Policy DM15 also states residential vehicle parking standards may be applied flexibly where it 

can be demonstrated that the development is proposed in a sustainable location with frequent 
and extensive links to public transport and/ or where the rigid application of these standards 
would have a clear detrimental impact on local character and context. 

71



 

 
8.55 No off-street car parking would be provided as part of the development. To support this 

position, the application includes a Transport Assessment (TA) by ttp consulting. The TA is 
based on the initial submission for 27 units however, whilst the scheme has been reduced 
down to 22 units during the course of the application, it is considered to remain relevant as the 
impact of the current proposal on the local highway network would be lower. As demonstrated 
in the TA’s reproduced tables below, the site is in a highly sustainable location, close to the 
High Street, within walking distance of Southend Central Station and local bus stops (outlined 
below). 

 
Table 7: Extract from TA – Tables 3.1 and 3.2 of the TA. 

 
 

8.56 The TA also highlights the presence of off-site parking. There are on-street parking spaces 
along Alexandra Street and Clarence Street with pay and display bays inclusive of disabled 
parking. In addition, there are public car parks, including the Alexandra Street car park opposite 
the site, Clarence Road car park (90m north-west of the site) and The Royals Shopping Centre 
car park approx.300m to the south-east.  
 

8.57 The TA confirms that the residential trip generation assessment demonstrates there will be a 
change in the pattern of movements at the site. However, it is expected that the commercial 
element of the development will not generate new trips but those visiting will do so as part of a 
linked or pass-by trip. The assessment suggests that the proposed development will not lead 
to a detrimental impact on the public transport system or local highway network.  

 

8.58 Highways staff have reviewed the transport assessment and raise no objections subject to the 
imposition of a condition requiring submission of a Travel Plan. It is reasoned that the applicant 

72



 

has provided a robust transport statement to support the application, including sustainable 
travel options, TRICS analysis and census data. A Travel Plan and a monitoring arrangement 
will be agreed as part of the S106 agreement. The proposal’s parking, traffic network and 
highway safety impacts are found acceptable on this basis.  

 
Cycle Storage  

 
8.59 The submitted plans show 28 residential cycle parking spaces will be provided within a single 

store at ground floor. 4 cycle parking spaces for the commercial units are also shown within a 
single store at ground floor. An external bike stand for visitors to the development is also shown 
to the eastern boundary of the site. The Council’s Highways Officer has raised no objections 
to this provision which is compliant with the policy requirements. 

 
Relationship with London Southend Airport (LSA)  

 
8.60 The proposal would be the tallest structure in the immediate vicinity. LSA have been notified 

and raise no objections subject to an informative for the applicants to notify LSA of crane use 
prior to commencement of construction works.  
 
Waste and Servicing 

 
8.61 There are two separate bin stores proposed for the development, one for residential and one 

for commercial. There are 10No x 1100L Eurobins for the residential units which will be split 
between general waste, recycling and paper/card. 4No x 140L Food Waste Bins are also 
proposed. This is in general accordance with the recommended waste guidelines.  
 

8.62 The Transport Assessment states that residential waste and recycling will be collected by the 
Council as part of their existing weekly collection regime, with refuse vehicles stopping on 
Chichester Road. Collection staff will have keypad access to the residential waste store.  
 

8.63 The commercial waste store will provide 4No x 1100L Eurobins, 2No for general waste and 
2No for recycling. Commercial waste will be collected via a private contractor, with vehicles 
expected to stop along Clarence Street.  

 
8.64 No objections are raised to the proposed waste collection and servicing arrangements 

however, final details of waste and servicing will be required via condition. 
 

8.65 Overall, there would be no significant harm caused to the parking conditions, traffic or highway 
safety of the area. The proposal is acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards. 

 
Energy and Water Sustainability 

 
8.66 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that “at least 10% of the energy needs of new 

development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised renewable or 
low carbon energy sources). Policy DM2 of the Development Management Document states 
that “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, all development proposals should 
contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon dioxide emissions”. This includes energy 
efficient design and the use of water efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling systems 
such as grey water and rainwater harvesting. 

 
8.67 Details of renewable energy have not been provided. The roof plan details the provision of 

solar panels as the proposed means of renewable energy generation. This is acceptable in 
principle and a condition will be imposed for details to be submitted that demonstrate 
compliance with the 10% requirement. This meets the requirements of Policy KP2. Water 
efficient fittings can also be secured by condition. The proposal is acceptable and policy 

73



 

compliant in this regard.  
 

Flood Risk and Drainage 
 

8.68 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy states all development proposals should demonstrate how 
they incorporate sustainable drainage systems (SUDS) to mitigate the increase in surface 
water runoff, and, where relevant, how they will avoid or mitigate tidal or fluvial flood risk. 

 
8.69 The site is within Flood Zone 1, the lowest risk zone, so is sequentially preferable for residential 

development. A drainage strategy has been submitted with the application which has been 
deemed sufficient by the LLFA for this stage of development. Additional detailed information is 
required and can be dealt with through a planning condition. 

 
Ecology and Biodiversity 
 

8.70 Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy states that all new development must ‘respect, conserve and 
enhance and where necessary adequately mitigate effects on the natural and historic 
environment, including the city’s biodiversity and green space resources; ensure that European 
and international sites for nature conservation are not adversely affected and contribute 
positively towards the ‘Green Grid’ in Southend.’  

 
8.71 Policy CP4 of the Core Strategy seeks to contribute to the creation of high quality, sustainable 

urban environments by ‘safeguarding, protecting and enhancing nature and conservation sites 
of international, national and local importance.’  

 
8.72 Landscaping is a reserved matter for later consideration. Nonetheless, the submitted 

Biodiversity and Sustainability statement refers to planting of green roofs with wildflower mix 
to the areas of flat roof across the development as well as planting of new trees to the public 
square to the front. Whilst specific details have not been provided, they can be controlled by 
condition and would represent a net benefit when considered against the site circumstances 
at present. 

 
8.73 A Preliminary Ecological Assessment has been carried out at the site. This has concluded that 

the site has little ecological value and that the proposed landscaping on the site is likely to 
result in a net gain in biodiversity.  

 
8.74 Although there is no evidence of bats or birds, the report makes a number of recommendations 

to enhance biodiversity on the site through the incorporation of bat and bird boxes. These can 
be the built-in type which are subtle and can be accommodated away from the main street 
facing elevations so will not have any impact on the overall appearance of the proposal. The 
design and location of the bat and bird boxes can be secured via condition. The Council’s Parks 
team have raised no objection to the findings of the assessment.  
 

8.75 Overall therefore and subject to conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and 
policy compliant in terms of its impact on biodiversity in all relevant regards.  

 

Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) 
 

8.76 The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites scoped 
into the emerging Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance Mitigation Strategy 
(RAMS). It is the Council’s duty as a competent authority to undertake a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) to secure any necessary mitigation and record this decision within the 
planning documentation. Any new residential development has the potential to cause 
disturbance to European designated sites and therefore the development must provide 
appropriate mitigation. This is necessary to meet the requirements of the Conservation of 

74



 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The RAMS Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD), was adopted by Full Council on 29th October 2020, requires that a tariff of £156.76 
(index linked) is paid per dwelling unit. This will be transferred to the RAMS accountable body 
in accordance with the RAMS Partnership Agreement. This payment will be secured via the 
S106. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in this 
regard.  
 

8.77 Overall it is considered that, subject to securing the implementation of ecology mitigation and 
enhancement measures as proposed, and the securing of the RAMS payment via the S106 
agreement, the proposal is acceptable in terms of biodiversity and ecological impacts and is 
policy compliant in this regard.  

 

Planning Obligations 
 

8.78 Paragraph 57 of the NPPF states that: “Planning obligations must only be sought where they 
meet all of the following tests:  
 

a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 
b) directly related to the development; and  
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.” 

 
8.79 Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states ‘Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions 

expected from development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed 
to be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify 
the need for a viability assessment at the application stage.’  
 

8.80 The Planning Practice Guide makes it clear that ‘Planning obligations can provide flexibility in 
ensuring planning permission responds to site and scheme specific circumstances. Where 
planning obligations are negotiated on the grounds of viability it is up to the applicant to 
demonstrate whether particular circumstances justify the need for viability assessment at the 
application stage. The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision 
maker.’ 

 

8.81 Core Strategy Policy KP3 requires that: “In order to help the delivery of the Plan’s provisions 
the Council will: 
 

2. Enter into planning obligations with developers to ensure the provision of infrastructure and 
transportation measures required as a consequence of the development proposed. This 
includes provisions such as:  
 
a. roads, sewers, servicing facilities and car parking;  
b. improvements to cycling, walking and passenger transport facilities and services;  
c. off-site flood protection or mitigation measures, including sustainable drainage systems 
(SUDS);  
d. affordable housing;  
e. educational facilities;  
f. open space, ‘green grid’, recreational, sport or other community development and 
environmental enhancements, including the provision of public art where appropriate;  
g. any other works, measures or actions required as a consequence of the proposed 
development; and  
h. appropriate on-going maintenance requirements.” 

 
8.82 The following planning obligations have been agreed with the applicant: 

 

75



 

  Table 8: Planning obligations agreed with the applicant. 

 Proposed Head of Term Details  

1 Education  Secondary education contribution of 
£31,083.33 

2 RAMS Ecology mitigation  £156.76 per unit (22) = £3448.72 

3 Highways Travel Plan and travel plan monitoring 
fee up to £5,000.  
Provision of Travel Information Packs 
to all residents.  

4 Late-Stage Viability Review Mechanism 
for a financial contribution in lieu of on-
site Affordable Housing Provision  

60% of any surplus up to a cap of 
£347,449.78 
 

5 Monitoring Fee Up to £10,000 

 
8.83 The Section 106 contributions required above are considered to meet the tests set out in the 

CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended). Without the contributions that are set out above the 
development could not be considered acceptable. Unless the S106 agreement has been 
completed within an agreed timescale the application should be refused on this ground and the 
recommendation below includes wording to this effect.  
 
NHS Contribution 

 

8.84 The NHS requested a financial contribution of £12,700 to increase capacity for the benefit of 
patients in the Primary Care Network operating in the vicinity of the application.  
 

8.85 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document 2: Planning Obligations, confirms that 
funding for potential primary healthcare care is addressed through the Council’s Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL), so such funding for the NHS will be secured via CIL rather than 
planning obligations. The NHS has not made any case for exceptional circumstances which 
would justify any additional contribution to the NHS via the S106 process and beyond the 
provisions of CIL.  

 
Summary 
 

8.86 The contributions noted in Table 8 above are considered to meet the tests set out in the CIL 
Regulations 2010. Without these contributions the development could not be considered 
acceptable. A draft S106 agreement is currently being prepared but at the time of report 
preparation has not been formally agreed or completed. The recommendation of this report 
seeks this committee’s approval subject to entering into and then the completion of this 
agreement.  

 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 

8.87 This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance with Section 
70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 143 of the Localism 
Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, CIL is being reported as a 
material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of planning decisions. As this is an outline 
application, the CIL amount payable will be calculated on submission of a reserved matters 
application. 
 

8.88 From the submitted plans, the proposed development includes a gross internal area of some 
1949sqm of residential and 431sqm of commercial floorspace which may equate to a CIL 
charge of approximately £59107.50 (subject to confirmation).  
 

76



 

Equality and Diversity 
 

8.89 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the 
exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this 
duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do 
not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report which notes the 
inclusion of three Building Regulations M4(3) compliant wheelchair accessible units had careful 
regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that 
the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this 
legislation. The provision of an accessible and adaptable dwelling is a positive aspect of the 
proposal in this regard. 
 
Planning Balance and Housing Supply  

 

8.90 The results of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) published by the Government show that there 
is underperformance of housing delivery in the City. Similarly, the Council’s Five-Year Housing 
Land Supply (5YHLS) figure shows that there is a deficit in housing land supply in the City. The 
South Essex Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SESHMA) identifies that Southend has a 
higher proportion of flats/maisonettes and a housing stock comprised of a greater proportion 
of one-bed units and smaller properties a consequence of which is that there is a lower 
percentage of accommodation of a suitable size for families. For the proposed provision of 
housing the HDT and 5YHLS weigh in favour of the principle of this type of development. This 
proposal would provide 22 new dwellings for which there is an identified need including family 
sized, 3-bed units and wheelchair accessible, building regulations M4(3) units. In these 
circumstances, the provision of additional housing is a consideration which should be given 
increased weight in a balancing exercise, applying the tilted balance as required by the NPPF.  

 
Conclusion 

 
8.91 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject to 

compliance with the attached conditions and the completion of a S106 legal agreement, the 
proposed development would be acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the relevant 
development plan policies and guidance. The principle of the development, including use of 
this land for a residential-led mixed use development, comprising town centre (Use Class E) 
and community-type uses (Use Classes F1 and F2), the re-establishment of the PRoW, the 
housing mix and flood risk position are all acceptable. The proposed design and scale of the 
development would have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the site, 
the streetscene and the wider surrounding area including by preserving the significance of 
heritage assets. Subject to conditions the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the 
amenities of neighbours. The proposal would provide an acceptable standard of 
accommodation for new occupiers. There would be no significant harmful traffic, parking or 
highways impacts caused by the proposed development. The proposal would also have an 
acceptable impact on sustainability and ecology.  
 

8.92 The outline proposal constitutes sustainable development, providing economic, social and 
environmental benefits. Officers consider that any limited harm identified as a result of the 
proposal is clearly outweighed by its benefits, including the provision of additional dwellings. 
Should Members identify any areas of harm, including in those areas for judgement identified 
within this report’s analysis of the proposal, it is necessary to demonstrate that in reaching a 
decision, an appropriate balancing exercise has been undertaken considering the benefits of 
the proposal and any such harm.  

 
8.93 This proposal creates new housing and the Council has a deficit in housing land supply, 

77



 

therefore, the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development should be applied when 
determining the application as relevant. The test set out by the NPPF is whether any adverse 
impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when considered against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole. The proposal would make 
a significant contribution to the housing needs of this City which must be given increased weight 
in the planning balance. Subject to conditions and the completion of the S106 legal agreement, 
the application is recommended for approval. 

 
9 Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended: 

 
a) That the Council enter into a Planning Obligation by Deed of Agreement under Section 

106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to secure the following:  

• Secondary education contribution of £31,083.33 
• RAMS contribution – 22 x £156.76 = £3,448.72 
• Travel Plan and travel plan monitoring fee up to £5,000; Provision of Travel 

Information Packs to all residents.  
• Late-Stage Viability Review Mechanism for a financial contribution in lieu 

of on-site Affordable Housing provision to retrieve 60% of any surplus up 
to cap of £347,449.78 

• Monitoring fee of up to £10,000.  

b) That the Executive Director (Environment and Place), Director of Growth and Planning 
or Service Manager - Development Control be DELEGATED to GRANT PLANNING 
PERMISSION subject to the completion of the section 106 agreement referred to above 
and subject to the conditions set out below: 
 
01 Details of the landscaping, (hereinafter called the "reserved matters") shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any 
development begins and the development shall be carried out as approved under 
the reserved matters. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be 
made to the Local Planning Authority not later than 3 (three) years from the date 
of this permission. The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than 2 
(two) years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be 
approved.  
 
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and because the application is for outline 
planning permission only and the particulars submitted are insufficient for 
consideration of details mentioned. 
 

02 The development hereby approved (except for landscaping which is indicative 
only) shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans: 262-P101 Rev 
A; 262-P102 Rev E; 262-P103 Rev C; 262-P104 Rev C; 262-P105 Rev B; 262-P106 
Rev B; 262-P108 Rev A 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
development plan. 

 
03 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 

approved, the development hereby permitted shall not commence, other than 
demolition or site preparation works, unless and until full details and 
specifications of the materials to be used for all the external surfaces of the 

78



 

development at the site including facing materials, roof detail, windows, doors, 
fascia and soffits have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The works must then be carried out in full accordance with 
the approved details before the development hereby approved is first occupied. 

 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and the setting of nearby heritage assets 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) 
Policies DM1, DM3 and DM5 and the advice contained within the National Design 
Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).  

 
04 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 

approved, the development hereby permitted shall not commence, other than 
demolition or site preparation works, unless and until large scale sections and 
details of the colonnade to Alexandra Street including underside, balcony and 
window surround detail and inset balustrade, blind windows, internal balcony 
arrangements, parapet detail at roof level and podium edge, shopfronts including 
framing detail (south, east and north) and all brickwork decoration have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
must then be carried out in full accordance with the approved details before the 
development hereby approved is first occupied. 

 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and the setting of nearby heritage assets 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) 
Policies DM1, DM3 and DM5 and the advice contained within the National Design 
Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).  

 
05 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 

approved, the development hereby permitted shall not commence, other than 
demolition or site preparation works unless and until full details of both hard and 
soft landscape works to be carried out at the site have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved hard 
landscaping works shall be carried out prior to first occupation of the 
development and the soft landscaping works within the first planting season 
following first occupation of the development. The details submitted shall include, 
but not limited to:-  
 
i. means of enclosure, of the site including any gates or boundary fencing;  
ii. pedestrian access and circulation areas;  
iii. hard surfacing materials;  
iv. details of the number, size and location of the shrubs and plants to planted 
together with a planting specification; 
v. Biodiversity enhancement measures. 
 
Any trees or shrubs dying, removed, being severely damaged or becoming 
seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced with trees or 
shrubs of such size and species as may be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, the setting of nearby heritage assets 
and the amenities of occupiers and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
landscaping and tree protection measures are implemented pursuant to Policy 
DM1 and DM5 of the Development Management Document (2015) and Policy CP4 
of the Core Strategy (2007) 

79



 

 
06 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the residential 

cycling and bin storage areas shown on the approved plan 262-P102 Rev E shall 
be provided and made available for use by the occupiers of the development. 
These areas shall be retained for the lifetime of the development.  

 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory cycle and bin storage is provided in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policy CP3, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM15 and 
the guidance in the Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New 
Developments (2019). 

 
07 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the commercial 

cycling and bin storage areas and the external visitor cycle parking shown on the 
approved plan 262-P102 Rev E shall be provided and made available for use by 
the occupiers of the development. These areas shall be retained for the lifetime 
of the development.  

 
Reason: To ensure that satisfactory cycle and bin storage is provided in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policy CP3, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM15 and 
the guidance in the Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New 
Developments (2019). 

 
08 Construction and demolition works for the approved development on site shall 

only be undertaken between 8 am to 6 pm on weekdays, between 8 am and 1 pm 
on Saturdays and not at any time on Sundays and Bank and Public Holidays.  

 
Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of nearby occupiers in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Policies KP2 and 
CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 

 
09 No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, unless and 

until a Demolition and Construction Management Plan and Strategy (to include 
Noise and Dust Mitigation Strategies) has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition. The approved 
Demolition and Construction Management Plan and Strategy shall be adhered to 
in full throughout the construction period. The Strategy shall provide, amongst 
other things, for:  
(i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors,  
(ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials, 
(iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development,  
(iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,  
(v) measures to control the emission of dust, dirt, mud being carried onto the 

road and noise during construction,  
(vi) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction 

works that does not allow for the burning of waste on site. 
(vii) a dust management plan to include mitigation and boundary particulate 

monitoring during demolition and construction, 
(viii) details of the duration and location of any noisy activities, and 
(ix) Details of access management arrangements for the Public Right of Way 

during the construction period. 
 

Reason: A pre-commencement condition is justified in the interest of the 

80



 

residential amenity of nearby occupiers and the safety and convenience of the 
public in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Policies 
KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 

 
10 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved details of energy 

efficiency and other sustainability measures to be included in the scheme, 
including the provision of at least 10% of the energy needs of the development 
hereby approved being provided from onsite renewable sources, shall be 
submitted to, agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms 
of this condition and implemented on site in accordance with the agreed details. 
The agreed measures shall be maintained on site as approved thereafter. 

 
Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 
efficient use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy 
DM2, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021) and the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
11 The dwellings hereby approved shall incorporate water efficient design measures 

set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development Management Document to limit 
internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) (110 lpd when 
including external water consumption), including measures of water efficient 
fittings, appliances and water recycling systems such as grey water and rainwater 
harvesting before they are occupied. 

 
Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through 
efficient use of resources and better use of sustainable and renewable resources 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy 
DM2, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021) and the 
Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
12 A. Site Characterisation 

 
Notwithstanding the details submitted with this application, no development shall 
be undertaken, other than that required to carry out additional necessary 
investigation which in this case may include demolition, site clearance, removal 
of underground tanks and old structures, unless and until an investigation and 
risk assessment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority pursuant to this condition. The risk assessment shall assess 
the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates 
on the site. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by 
competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced. The 
report of the findings must include: 
 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of the contamination; 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 

• Human health, 

• Property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, 
pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 

• Adjoining land, 

• Groundwaters and surface waters, 

• Ecological systems, 

81



 

• Archaeological sites and ancient monuments; 

(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s) 

B. Site Remediation Scheme 
 
No development shall take place until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks 
to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority pursuant to this condition. The scheme must include all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable 
of works and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site 
will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after the 
remediation.  
 
C. Remediation Implementation and Verification 
 
No development shall take place other than that required to carry out the agreed 
remediation unless and until the measures set out in the approved Remediation 
scheme have been implemented in full. The Local Planning Authority must be 
given a minimum of two weeks written notification of commencement of the 
remediation scheme works. 
 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be produced and shall be submitted for approval in 
writing to the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition. 
 
D. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 
 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this 
condition. The development works must cease until an assessment has been 
undertaken in accordance with the requirements of part A of this condition, and 
where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme, together with a timetable 
for its implementation, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with the requirements of part B of this 
condition. The measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be 
implemented in accordance with the approved timetable. Following completion of 
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a validation report must 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under 
the terms of this condition before the development is brought into first use. 
 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that any 
contamination on the site is identified and treated so that it does not harm anyone 
who uses the site in the future, and to ensure that the development does not cause 
pollution to Controlled Waters in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) Policies 
KP2 and CP4 and Policies DM1 and DM14 of the Development Management 
Document (2015).  

 
13 The noise mitigation measures as detailed in the report by ES Acoustics (ref. 

number 20294.RPT.01 dated 15/02/2023) shall be implemented by competent 
persons.  

82



 

 
No dwelling shall be occupied until a post completion noise survey has been 
undertaken by a suitably qualified acoustic consultant, and a report submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The post completion 
testing shall assess performance of the noise mitigation measures against the 
noise levels as set in the Report. If the mitigation measures tested in the post-
completion report prove to be insufficient, additional noise mitigation measures 
(where necessary to ensure the appropriate noise levels can be met), shall be 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Authority and installed and tested 
prior to operation. The mitigation measures must be retained in perpetuity 
thereafter.  

 
Reason: To protect the environment of people in the development and general 
environmental quality in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and 
CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the 
advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 

14 No dust or fume extraction or filtration equipment or air conditioning, ventilation, 
or refrigeration equipment shall be installed on the buildings (/ development) 
hereby approved unless and until details of its design, siting, discharge points, 
predicted acoustic performance and details of any necessary noise and odour 
mitigation measures to be used have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority under the provisions of this condition. The 
equipment shall be installed only in accordance with the approved details and 
shall be maintained in good working order thereafter for the lifetime of the 
development.  

 
Reason: To protect the environment of people in the development and general 
environmental quality in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and 
CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the 
advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
15 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) or any 
revocation, amendment or adaptation of this legislation of for the time being may 
be in force, the commercial floorspace hereby approved shall be used only for 
purposes falling within Class E of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order 1987 as amended (or any statutory modification or re-enactment or 
replacement thereof (as the case may be) for the time being in force).  

 
Reason: To reflect the nature of the application and in order to protect the 
amenities of occupiers of the development and surrounding occupiers and to 
protect the character and amenities of the area all in accordance with Policies 
CP1, KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1, DM11 and DM3 
of the Development Management Document (2015). 

 
16 Deliveries and collections to and from the commercial units within the 

development hereby approved shall only be undertaken between: 
 

 - Monday to Fridays between 7am and 7pm 
 - Saturdays between 8am and 1pm 
 - Not at any time on Sundays and Bank Holidays 

 
Reason: To protect the environment of people in the development and general 
environmental quality including neighbours’ amenity in accordance with Core 

83



 

Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document 
(2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and 
Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
17 No external lighting shall be installed on the development including within the 

parking, access or landscaped areas of the development hereby approved other 
than in accordance with details that have previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the provisions of this 
condition. All illumination shall be designed in accordance with the Institute of 
Lighting Professionals "Guidance Note 01/20: Guidance notes for the reduction 
of obtrusive light" and "PLG05 The brightness of illuminated advertisements." All 
illumination within the site shall be retained in accordance with the approved 
details. 

 
Reason: To protect the privacy and environment of residents within the 
development and to safeguard the visual and residential amenities of the area in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policy CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM1, and 
the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide 
(2009) 

 
18 The non-residential units hereby approved shall not be open for customers 

outside the following hours:  
 

- 7am to 10pm on any day. 
 

Reason: To protect residential amenity and general environmental quality in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 

 
19 The outdoor seating area for the non-residential uses as shown on drawing 262-

P102 Rev E hereby approved shall not be open for customers outside the 
following hours: from 8am to 7pm on any day.  

 
Reason: To protect residential amenity and general environmental quality in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy 
(2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development 
Management Document (2015). 

 
20 Before the development hereby approved is occupied or brought into use it shall 

be carried out in a manner to ensure that 3 of the flats hereby approved comply 
with the building regulation M4 (3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ standard and the 
remaining 19 flats comply with building regulation part M4(2) ‘accessible’ and 
adaptable dwellings’ standard.  

 
Reason: To ensure the residential units hereby approved provides high quality 
and flexible internal layouts to meet the changing needs of residents in 
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) 
Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, 
DM8 and the advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009). 

 
21 The two community units hereby approved and as annotated on plan number 262-

P102 Rev E shall be used only for purposes falling within Classes F1 or F2 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 as amended (or any 

84



 

statutory modification or re-enactment or replacement thereof (as the case may 
be) for the time being in force).  

 
Reason: To safeguard the character and amenities of the area and in particular to 
protect the amenities of nearby residential properties and the provision of 
community uses within the City, in accordance with Policy PA6 of the Southend 
Central Area Action Plan (2018), Policies KP2, CP4 and CP6 of the Core Strategy 
(2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).  

 
22 Notwithstanding the submitted drainage details which are otherwise agreed, no 

drainage infrastructure associated with the development hereby approved must 
be installed until details of surface water attenuation for the site, based on 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) principles, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the provisions of this 
condition. Specifically, such details must have regard to the following;  

 
1) The applicant must update their drainage plan to include overland flow routes 

and exceedance routes, ensuring critical areas are protected from flooding 
where possible. 

2) The applicant must provide details on the management of health and safety 
risks as a part of the drainage strategy.  

3) The applicant must confirm the groundwater conditions and assess the impact 
on the proposed system. The applicant must also determine whether any 
surface water from adjacent areas will make its way to the proposed site.  

4) The applicant must consider the construction phase activities that may 
compromise the below ground surface water drainage infrastructure and take 
necessary precautions to prevent and/or repair damage.  

5) The applicant must provide details of the third part management and 
maintenance company who will maintain the proposed drainage network. 

6) Infiltration tests must be undertaken prior to detailed design to confirm that 
partial infiltration is achievable in the permeable pavement. 

7) Rainwater harvesting must be considered further in the scheme during detailed 
design, including within the blue roof and underground storage. 

 
The development must only be implemented in accordance with the details 
approved under this condition and the conclusions and recommendations 
contained in the SUDs Statement (Dated April 2023) by HJ Structural Engineers 
Ltd.  
 
The approved drainage works must be provided on site prior to first occupation 
of the development and shall be maintained in good working condition for the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure the approved development does not increase flood risk 
elsewhere in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and 
Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP1 and KP2. 

 
23 The recommendations and biodiversity enhancement measures as detailed in the 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Arbtech Issue 2 (dated 11/10/2023) shall be 
implemented in full by competent persons. The bird and bat boxes shall be 
installed solely in accordance with details inclusive of their siting and design that 
have previously been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interest of biodiversity in accordance with the National Planning 

85



 

Policy Framework (2023) and Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) 
and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015). 
 

24 The maximum height of development shall not exceed 56.46m (AOD). A third party 
instrument flight procedure assessment (ILS) must be completed before the 
development commences and confirmation that this has been agreed with the 
London Southend Airport shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition. 
 
Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required in the interest of the 
safety of aviation in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2023), Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy DM15 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 
 

25 The proposed windows in the side (east and west facing) elevations of the 
development hereby approved shall only be glazed in obscure glass (the glass to 
be obscure to at least Level 4 on the Pilkington Levels of Privacy) and fixed shut, 
except for any top hung fan light which shall be a minimum of 1.7 metres above 
internal finished floor level prior to the first use or occupation of the development 
hereby permitted and retained as such thereafter. In the case of multiple or 
double-glazed units at least one layer of glass in the relevant units shall be glazed 
in obscure glass to at least Level 4 on the Pilkington scale. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development has an acceptable design and protects the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with Policy DM1 of the 
Development Management Document (2015). 
 

26 Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby 
approved, no part of the development shall be occupied or brought into use until 
details of a waste management and service plan have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Waste management and 
servicing of the development shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development is satisfactorily serviced and that 
satisfactory waste management is undertaken in the interests of highway safety 
and visual amenity and to protect the character of the surrounding area, in 
accordance with Policies KP2 and CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy 
DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015). 

 
c) In the event that the planning obligation referred to in part (a) above has not been 

completed before 19 December 2023 or an extension of this time as may be agreed by 
the Director of Growth and Planning or Service Manager - Development Control, 
authority is delegated to the Director of Growth and Planning or Service Manager - 
Development Control to refuse planning permission for the application on grounds that 
the development will not secure the necessary contributions for secondary education, 
RAMs, Travel Plan, monitoring of travel plan and provision of Travel Information Packs, 
a Late-Stage Viability Review Mechanism for a financial contribution in lieu of on-site 
Affordable Housing Provision and for a Monitoring fee that, as such, the proposal would 
be unacceptable and contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), 
Policies KP2, KP3, CP3, CP6 and CP8 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1, DM3, 
DM7 and DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015). 

 
Positive and proactive statement: 
 

86



 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally 
submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal 
to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to 
grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set out in a report on the 
application prepared by officers. 
 
Informatives: 

 
1 Please note that the proposed development subject of this application is liable for a 

charge under the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
The amount of levy due will be calculated at the time a reserved matters application is 
submitted. Further information about CIL can be found on the Planning Portal 
(www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastru
cture_levy) or the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil).  
 

2 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction works to 
the highway in implementing this permission that the Council will seek to recover the 
cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party responsible for 
damaging them. This includes damage carried out when implementing a planning 
permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take care when carrying out 
works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the city. 

 
3 This permission is governed by a legal agreement between the applicant and the City 

Council under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.The agreement 
relates to the provision of a financial contribution in relation to education, a financial 
RAMS contribution, the provision of Travel Information Packs, late stage affordable 
housing viability review and monitoring of the agreement. 

 
4 Applicants are advised of the need to ensure the thermal comfort of dwellings under 

Regulation 40B of the Building Regulations 2010. The code of practice to the 
Regulations in Approved Document O requires an overheating mitigation strategy and 
assessment. This includes where noise protection measures require windows and 
openings to be closed. 
 

5 The applicant is reminded that this permission does not bestow compliance with other 
regulatory frameworks. In particular, your attention is drawn to the statutory nuisance 
provisions within the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended) and the noise 
provisions within the Control of Pollution Act 1974. Applicants should contact the 
Council's Regulatory Services for more advice on 01702 215005 or at Regulatory 
Services, Southend-on-Sea City Council, Civic Centre, Victoria Avenue, Southend SS2 
6ER. 

 
6 Please note that if you require a crane or piling rig to construct the proposed 

development, this will need to be safeguarded separately and dependant on location 
may be restricted in height and may also require full coordination with the Airport 
Authority. Any crane applications should be directed to 
sam.petrie@southendairport.com / 01702 538521. 

 
7 Advertisement signage associated with the development must be submitted for under 

separate Advertisement legislation.  
 

87

http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy
http://www.southend.gov.uk/cil


This page is intentionally left blank



2

7

0

8

2

0

7

4

2

8

9

9

9

1

8

0

3

7

3

3

2
2
1
8

3
3
5
9

3
5
0
4

Green roof

PV cells

G

re

e

n

 R

o

o

f

Green Roof

Notes:

---

853-855 London Road

Westcliff-on-Sea

SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250

Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no:

Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2022

Scale:

Drawing no:

1:500, 1:1250 @A1

262-P101

A

PLANNING

PRIVATE

EMPIRE THEATRE

PROPOSED PLANS

262-10-14

DS

SK

22 ALEXANDRA ST

SOUTHEND ON SEA

SS1 1BU

----

Rev Comment By Date

- Production of drawings -- -

25 50 75 100 1250

Existing Location Plan 1:1250

25 50 75 100 1250

Proposed Location Plan 1:1250

10 20 30 40 500

Existing Block Plan 1:500

10 20 30 40 500

Proposed Block Plan 1:500

A Planning Updates DS 24/08/2023

89

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
MARKET PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
ALEXANDRA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
CLARENCE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
CLARENCE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
WESTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
25.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
High Street

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
15 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
11 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
29 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
11 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
19 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
3 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
20a

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
36 to 44

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
29 to 35

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
16 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
14a

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
4 to 18

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
59 61

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
54 to 62

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
68 66

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
71b

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
71c

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
74 72

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
Central

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
Baptist Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
Salvation Army

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
(Hotel)

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
The Alexandra

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
24.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
County

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
Chambers

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
1 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
21 to 40

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
Weston Chamber

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
43 to 47

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
Clarence court

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
Dukes Parade

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
MARKET PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
ALEXANDRA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
CLARENCE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
CLARENCE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
15 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
11 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
29 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
20a

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
16 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
14a

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
Salvation Army

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
43 to 47

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
MARKET PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
ALEXANDRA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
CLARENCE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
CLARENCE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
15 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
11 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
29 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
20a

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
16 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
14a

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
Salvation Army

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
43 to 47

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
MARKET PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
ALEXANDRA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
CLARENCE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
CLARENCE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
WESTON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
25.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
High Street

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
15 to 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
11 10

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
29 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
11 13

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
19 21

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
3 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
20a

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
36 to 44

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
29 to 35

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
16 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
14a

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
4 to 18

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
59 61

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
54 to 62

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
68 66

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
71b

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
71c

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
74 72

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
Central

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
Baptist Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
Salvation Army

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
(Hotel)

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
The Alexandra

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
24.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
County

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
Chambers

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
1 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
21 to 40

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
Weston Chamber

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
Bank

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
43 to 47

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
Clarence court

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
Dukes Parade

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Commercial Unit 1 Commercial Unit 2

Commercial Unit 3

Commercial Unit 4

Community Space

Unit 5

Commercial Unit 6

Commercial Unit 7

Residential

Lobby

Arcade

Arcade

Commercial

Bin

Store

Residential

Bin

Store

28 Bikes

Residents

with electric charging

Communal

Commercial

WCs

Residential

Lobby

Residential

Lobby

S
e
r
v
i
c
e
 
a
n
d

A
n
c
i
l
l
a
r
y
 
F

a
c
i
l
i
t
i
e
s

A
c
c
e
s
s

4 Bikes

Visitors

4 Bikes

Commercial

with electric

charging

Store

Public Footpath

Public Footpath

Notes:

---

853-855 London Road

Westcliff-on-Sea

SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250

Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no:

Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2022

Scale:

Drawing no:

1:200 @A1

262-P108

A

PLANNING

PRIVATE

EMPIRE THEATRE

Site Plan

262-10-14

DS

SK

22 ALEXANDRA ST

SOUTHEND ON SEA

SS1 1BU

----

Rev Comment By Date

- Production of drawings -- -

0 2 4 6 8 10

Proposed Site Plan 1:200

A Planning Updates DS 06/09/2023

91

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
ALEXANDRA STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
CLARENCE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
CLARENCE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
29 31

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
3 5

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
20a

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
16 to 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
14a

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
Salvation Army

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
43 to 47

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Flat 5

2B3P

Flat 6

3B4P

M4(3)

Flat 7

3B4P

Flat 8

2B3P

Flat 9

1B2P

Flat 11

1B1P

Flat 10

2B3P

Flat 12

2B3P

Flat 13

3B4P

M4(3)

Flat 14

3B4P

Flat 15

2B3P

Flat 16

1B2P

Flat 18

1B1P

Flat 17

2B3P

0.72

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

1.3

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

1.3

SQM

0.72

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.9

SQM

0.6

SQM

0.63

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.6

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.92

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.74

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.92

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.74

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.63

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.6

SQM

0.36

SQM

1.1

SQM

0.4

SQM

1.1

SQM

0.4

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.9

SQM

0.6

SQM

1.29

SQM

1.29

SQM

FLAT

01

AREA

52m²

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

AREA SCHEDULE

TYPE

1B2P

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

57m²1B2P

61m²2B3P

50m²1B2P

61m²

92m²

22

21

76m²

40m²

2B3P

3B4P

3B4P

2B3P 61m²

50m²1B2P

2B3P 61m²

1B1P

2B3P 61m²

92m²

76m²

3B4P

3B4P

40m²

2B3P 61m²

50m²1B2P

2B3P 61m²

1B1P

2B3P 63m²

2B3P 61m²

2B3P 61m²

43m²1B1P

Notes:

---

853-855 London Road

Westcliff-on-Sea

SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250

Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no:

Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2022

Scale:

Drawing no:

1:100 @A1

262-P103

C

PLANNING

PRIVATE

EMPIRE THEATRE

PROPOSED PLANS - 2-3

262-10-14

DS

SK

22 ALEXANDRA ST

SOUTHEND ON SEA

SS1 1BU

----

Rev Comment By Date

- Production of drawings -- -

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Second Floor Plan 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Third Floor Plan 1:100

A

Amended area schedule

DS 13/12/2022

B Planning Updates DS 24/08/2023

C Internal Storage DS 10/10/2023

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Commercial Unit 1 Commercial Unit 2

Commercial Unit 3

Commercial Unit 4

Community Space

Unit 5

Commercial Unit 6

Commercial Unit 7

Residential

Lobby

Arcade

Arcade

Commercial

Bin

Store

Residential

Bin

Store

28 Bikes

Residents

with electric charging

Communal

Commercial

WCs

Residential

Lobby

Residential

Lobby

S
e
r
v
i
c
e
 
a
n
d

A
n
c
i
l
l
a
r
y
 
F

a
c
i
l
i
t
i
e
s

A
c
c
e
s
s

4 Bikes

Visitors

4 Bikes

Commercial

with electric

charging

Store

FLAT

01

AREA

52m²

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

AREA SCHEDULE

TYPE

1B2P

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

SPACE

UNIT 1

AREA

UNIT 2

AREA SCHEDULE

TYPE

COMMERCIAL 40m²

COMMERCIAL

20

UNIT 3

UNIT 4

UNIT 5

UNIT 6

UNIT 7

GYM

HOT DESKING

COMMUNITY SPACE

YOGA

COMMERCIAL

COMMERCIAL

COMMUNITY

COMMERCIAL

COMMERCIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

68m²

40m²

42m²

80m²

59m²

50m²

43m²

58m²

37m²

65m²

57m²1B2P

61m²2B3P

50m²1B2P

61m²

92m²

22

21

76m²

40m²

2B3P

3B4P

3B4P

2B3P 61m²

50m²1B2P

2B3P 61m²

1B1P

2B3P 61m²

92m²

76m²

3B4P

3B4P

40m²

2B3P 61m²

50m²1B2P

2B3P 61m²

1B1P

2B3P 63m²

2B3P 61m²

2B3P 61m²

43m²1B1P

Residents Gym

Community Space

Flat 3

2B3P

Flat 4

1B2P

Hot Desking Space

Meeting Room

Flat 1

1B2P

Flat 2

1B2P

M4(3)

0.9 SQM

0.6

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.6

SQM

0.9

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.3

SQM

1.5

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

Notes:

---

853-855 London Road

Westcliff-on-Sea

SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250

Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no:

Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2022

Scale:

Drawing no:

1:100 @A1

262-P102

E

PLANNING

PRIVATE

EMPIRE THEATRE

PROPOSED PLANS - 0-1

262-10-14

DS

SK

22 ALEXANDRA ST

SOUTHEND ON SEA

SS1 1BU

----

Rev Comment By Date

- Production of drawings -- -

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Ground Floor Plan 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed First Floor Plan 1:100

A

Amended area schedule

DS 13/12/2022

B Additional landscaping DS 07/02/2023

C Planning Updates DS 24/08/2023

D Planning Updates DS 06/09/2023

E Internal Storage DS 10/10/2023

95

http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Flat 19

2B3P

Flat 20

2B3P

Flat 21

2B3P

Flat 22

1B1P

Green Roof Green Roof

0.74

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.95

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.36

SQM

0.72

SQM

1.29

SQM

0.92

SQM

FLAT

01

AREA

52m²

02

03

04

05

06

07

08

09

AREA SCHEDULE

TYPE

1B2P

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

57m²1B2P

61m²2B3P

50m²1B2P

61m²

92m²

22

21

76m²

40m²

2B3P

3B4P

3B4P

2B3P 61m²

50m²1B2P

2B3P 61m²

1B1P

2B3P 61m²

92m²

76m²

3B4P

3B4P

40m²

2B3P 61m²

50m²1B2P

2B3P 61m²

1B1P

2B3P 63m²

2B3P 61m²

2B3P 61m²

43m²1B1P

853-855 London Road

Westcliff-on-Sea

SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250

Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no:

Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2022

Scale:

Drawing no:

1:100 @A1

262-P104

C

PLANNING

PRIVATE

EMPIRE THEATRE

PROPOSED PLANS - 4-5

262-10-14

DS

SK

22 ALEXANDRA ST

SOUTHEND ON SEA

SS1 1BU

----

Rev Comment By Date

- Production of drawings -- -

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Fourth Floor Plan 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Roof Plan 1:100

Notes:

---

A

Amended area schedule

DS 13/12/2022

B Planning Updates DS 24/08/2023

C Internal Storage DS 10/10/2023

97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Hatch indicates windows to be frosted and fixed shut

Notes:

---

853-855 London Road

Westcliff-on-Sea

SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250

Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no:

Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2022

Scale:

Drawing no:

1:100 @A1

262-P106

B

PLANNING

PRIVATE

EMPIRE THEATRE

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS & SECTIONS

262-10-14

DS

SK

22 ALEXANDRA ST

SOUTHEND ON SEA

SS1 1BU

----

Rev Comment By Date

- Production of drawings -- -

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Side Elevation 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Section 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Inner North Elevation 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed Inner South Elevation 1:100

A Planning updates DS 24/08/2023

B Planning Updates DS 06/09/2023

99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



R I V O L I P L A C E

R I V O L I P L A C E

Hatch indicates windows to be frosted and fixed shut

Notes:

---

853-855 London Road

Westcliff-on-Sea

SS0 9SZ

Tel: 01702 509250

Email: info@skarchitects.co.uk

Client:

Project:

Stage:

Drawing Title:

Project no:

Drawn by:

Chkd by:

Revision:

NB.
Do not scale from this drawing
Drawing to be read in conjunction with all other issued drawings, documents and
relevant consultants' information.
All information on this drawing is for guidance purposes only. All dimensions must
be checked onsite.
This information is subject to Building Control requirements and the requirements
of all relevant statutory authorities and service providers.

© SKArchitects Ltd 2022

Scale:

Drawing no:

1:100 @A1

262-P105

B

PLANNING

PRIVATE

EMPIRE THEATRE

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

262-10-14

DS

SK

22 ALEXANDRA ST

SOUTHEND ON SEA

SS1 1BU

----

Rev Comment By Date

- Production of drawings -- -

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed North Elevation 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed South Elevation 1:100

0 1 2 3 4 5

Proposed East Elevation 1:100

A Planning updates DS 24/08/2023

B Planning Updates DS 06/09/2023

101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Empire Theatre103



Alexandra Street frontage of the site

104



Neighbouring properties to the east of the site on Alexandra Street

105



Neighbouring properties to the west of the site on Alexandra Street

106



Public car park to the south of the site

107



Surrounding area to the south of the site

108



Clarence Street frontage of the site

109



Neighbouring properties to the east of the site on Clarence Street 

110



Neighbouring properties to the west of the site on Clarence Street 

111



Surrounding area to the north of the site

112



Surrounding area to the north of the site

113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

Reference: 23/01153/FUL  

Application Type: Full Application 

Ward: St Lukes 

Proposal: Install five two storey units for use as classrooms for sports 
education and two single storey units for use as WCs, layout parking 
with associated access and erect new boundary fencing and access 
gates (part-retrospective) 

Address: Land At Garon Park, Eastern Avenue, Southend-on-Sea, Essex 

Applicant: Garon Park Community Interest Company 

Agent: Zarina Ali of Tor&Co 

Consultation Expiry: 21.09.2023 

Expiry Date:  15.12.2023 

Case Officer: Oliver Hart 

Plan Nos: 2231/F/101/P01 Rev 01; 2231/F/102/P01 Rev 01; 2231/F/103/P01 
Rev 01; 2231/F/201/P01 Rev 01 

Additional information: Planning Statement Rev 2 (dated November 2023); Planning 
Statement Addendum Rev 1 (dated November 2023); Fencing 
specification sheets for Protek 1000 and Protek 656 &868 

Recommendation: GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to conditions 

 

            
115

6



1 Site and Surroundings  
 

1.1 The application site forms part of the wider Garon Park which comprises recreational and 
leisure facilities, inclusive of a swimming pool, cricket ground, 3G Astro pitch, tennis and paddle 
board courts as well as netball courts, athletics track and open grassland, scrub and 
ornamental planting areas. The wider Garon Park is served by three car parks, a bus route and 
a variety of associated infrastructure including cycle storage.  
 

1.2 The application site itself relates to a previously undeveloped parcel of land approx. 0.3ha in 
area, immediately to the south of the existing 3G pitch and north of the paddle board courts. 
The site is accessed via an internal estate road which passes through the main car park. A 
public footpath, Footpath 257, is to the south of the site coming through the car part and leading 
west and then north, around the 3G pitches, connecting the site to footpaths 179 to the south 
and 178 to the north. 
 

1.3 The site is within the Metropolitan Green Belt and within the Garon Park designated Protected 
Green Space for formal and informal recreation. No other planning related designations affect 
the site. 
 

2 The Proposal  
 

2.1 Temporary planning permission for a period of 5 years is sought for the installation of 5no. two 
storey units to be used as classrooms and 2no. single storey units to be used as toilet facilities. 
The units comprise shipping containers which, for the two storey units, will be stacked on top 
of each other fitted with external stairs. Of the total of 12 containers, 6 have already been 
installed on the site so the permission sought is partially retrospective in nature. The temporary 
period is sought to start from the date of first installation in November 2022.  
 

2.2 The containers used to form the two storey units are each 3m wide, 2.5m high and 9.8m long. 
The two storey units would reach 5m in height. The containers for these units are laid along 
the northern boundary of the site, adjacent to the 3G pitch. The containers to be used as toilets 
would be 3m wide, 2.5m high and 5m long. These would be laid out to the south-eastern corner 
of the site, close to the access road. The accompanying planning statement states that the 
containers would be finished in blue. During a staff site visit, only two of the six installed 
containers were finished in this colour with the rest being finished in white/cream.  
 

2.3 Other elements of the development sought to be regularised with this application include the 
layout of 16no. parking spaces along the southern boundary of the site (inclusive of 2no. 
disabled bays) and the erection of new boundary fencing and access gates. The boundary 
fencing and access gates have been installed. The product details have been specified in the 
submitted planning statement as ‘Perimeter Green Protek 1000’ mesh fencing and access 
gates measuring 2.4m high. The car parking has been completed with the laying out of 
grasscrete. Macadam surfacing has also been laid out to provide clear pedestrian routes. 

 
2.4 The planning statement states that the development relates directly to work carried out by 

Southend United Football Club Community Educational Trust (SUCET), a charitable trust. 
According to their mission statement, SUCET strives to engage with and enrich the lives of 
people of all ages, abilities, backgrounds and interests through sport. Historically, educational 
facilities similar to those included in this application were at Roots Hall stadium. SUCET state 
that they have been  required to vacate that site after being served formal notice by the club, 
understood to be consequent to development considerations.  
 

2.5 The planning statement confirms the development would involve a maximum of 12 staff on site 
at any one time with a maximum 98 children/young people based on site each day. The 
programmes offered are contained in Table 1 below; 

116



 
Table 1 - summary of SUCET programmes 

 

 
 

3 Relevant Planning History 
 

3.1 The most relevant planning history for the determination of this application is shown on Table 
2 below: 
 
Table 2: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site 

Reference Description  Outcome  

22/02165/BC4 Install 5no. two storey units for use as classrooms Withdrawn 

117



and 2no. single storey units for use as WCs, lay 
out parking with associated access and erect new 
boundary fencing and access gates 
(Retrospective) 

22/00720/BC4M Install one storage container to east elevation 
(retrospective) 

Granted 

21/01699/BC4M Erect a resources building, layout soft 
landscaping to create a vehicular route to provide 
access to the existing clubhouse and cricket field 
area for vulnerable people; install a wildlife pond 
and sensory garden and layout a well-being path 
and pergola structures (retrospective) 

Granted 

19/01881/BC4M Install one storage container to south elevation of 
Sports Centre 

Granted 

16/00175/BC4M Install one storage container to east elevation Granted 

16/00079/FULM Erect single storey rear extension to Cricket 
Pavilion 

Granted 

 
4 Representation Summary 

 
Public Consultation 

4.1 A site notice was displayed, a press notice was published, and 21 neighbour properties were 
notified. No representations have been received. 
 
Highways  

4.2 There are no highway objections to this proposal.  
 
Sport England 

4.3 No objections to the development. The development meets exception 3 of paragraph 99 of the 
NPPF, namely: 
 
3 - The proposed development affects only land incapable of forming, or forming part of, a 
playing pitch, and does not result in the loss of, or inability to make use of any playing pitch 
(including the maintenance of adequate safety margins), a reduction in the size of the playing 
area of any playing pitch or the loss of any other sporting/ancillary facility on the site. 
 
Environmental Health  

4.4 No objections subject to a condition requiring submission of external illumination of the site and 
informatives. 
 

5 Procedural matters 
 

5.1 This application is presented to the Development Control Committee because it represents a 
departure from planning policy. 
 

6 Planning Policy Summary 
 

6.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023) 
 

6.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2023) 
 

6.3 National Design Guide (2021) 
 

6.4 Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), CP3 
(Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (The Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP6 

118



(Community Infrastructure) and CP7 (Sport, Recreation and Green Space) 
 

6.5 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1(Design Quality), DM3 (Efficient 
and Effective Use of Land), DM14 (Environmental Protection) and DM15 (Sustainable 
Transport Management) 
 

6.6 Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
 

6.7 Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019) 
 

6.8 Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure for new development Supplementary Planning 
Document (2021) 
 

6.9 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 
 

7 Planning Considerations 
 

7.1 The main considerations in relation to this application include the principle of the development, 
the design and impact on the character and appearance of the area, the residential amenity of 
neighbouring occupiers, traffic and parking implications and CIL liability. 
 

8 Appraisal 
 
Principle of development  
 
Appropriateness of the proposed development in the Green Belt 
 

8.1 The site is within the Green Belt. The NPPF states that the essential characteristics of green 
belts are their openness and permanence. Paragraph 147 states that "Inappropriate 
development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in 
very special circumstances".  
 

8.2 Paragraph 148 outlines that "when considering any planning application, local planning 
authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. 'Very 
special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by 
other considerations."  
 

8.3 Paragraph 149 states that a local planning authority should regard the construction of new 
buildings as “inappropriate development in the Green Belt”.  
 

8.4 Paragraph 149 continues by listing some exceptions, including “the provision of appropriate 
facilities (in connection with the existing use of land or a change of use) for outdoor sport, 
outdoor recreation ... as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do 
not conflict with the purposes of including land within it”. 

 
8.5 Paragraph 150 states certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in the 

Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of 
including land within it. These are: a) mineral extraction; b) engineering operations; c) local 
transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green Belt location; d) the 
re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and substantial construction; 
e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or recreation, 
or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and f) development, including buildings, brought forward 
under a Community Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order. 
 

119



8.6 Core Strategy Policies KP1 and CP4 also stipulate the importance of maintaining the “open 
character of the Green Belt”. 

 

8.7 The application site relates to the provision of an educational facility which, whilst linked with 
the use of the existing 3G pitch at Garon Park, does not form one of the exceptions listed at 
Paragraphs 149 and 150. Therefore, the development is, by definition, inappropriate 
development and therein harmful to the green belt as a matter of principle.  
 
Impact on Openness of the Green Belt  
 

8.8 It is important to assess the impact of the development on the openness of the green belt. This 
requires a judgment based on the particular circumstances of the case.  
 

8.9 The PPG identifies that openness is capable of having both spatial and visual aspects, thus 
volume of built development is a key matter to be considered in making such an assessment. 
The PPG further elaborates that duration of the development and its remediability – taking in 
to account any provisions to return land to its original state or to equivalent (or improved) state 
of openness along with degree of activity likely to be generated, such as traffic generation is 
also important (Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 64-001-20190722).  
 

8.10 While not within the conventional definition of a building, the development would comprise a 
new educational facility for the purposes of planning controls. The container units would be laid 
out in a linear arrangement for a distance of some 55m (with intermittent spacing) in a stacked 
two storey arrangement a maximum 5m high along the site boundary with the 3G Astro pitch 
fencing to the immediate north.  
 

8.11 The continuous linear layout and two storey scale of container units proposed  would have a 
significant degree of prominence in views east-west across the site. The condition and colour 
of several of the containers already in-situ currently exacerbates their prominence and 
incongruity in the surrounding context.  
 

8.12 The development would be situated in the context of the 3G sports pitch to the north and the 
large canopy enclosure for the paddleball courts to the south (which has a maximum height of 
9.67m (approved under app. Ref 20/02220/FUL). These existing facilities are considered to 
have a degree of prominence in the landscape setting. However, their juxtaposition with the 
development would not mitigate its effects upon the openness of the green belt. 
 

8.13 The installed fencing is also considered to have caused a negative impact on openness, 
although the green mesh fencing material allows views through the site. The fencing is also 
the same type as other fencing on site which provides continuity of appearance.  
 

8.14 Overall, it is considered that the development, by reason of its use and the physical harm (both 
in-situ), would not preserve the openness of the green belt and would be harmful to it. The 
impact on the openness would be a result of the scale, design and position of the container 
units. Although the proposal would provide for educational facilities, it would be inappropriate 
development in the green belt for the above reasons. 
 

8.15 Further to paragraphs 147 and 148 of the NPPF, it is then necessary to consider whether there 
are any very special circumstances arising from other considerations that in this instance would 
clearly outweigh the harm identified which arises both from the inappropriateness of the use 
within and the physical harm to the Green Belt. 
 
The Green Belt Balance and any Very Special Circumstances 
 

8.16 At paragraphs 92 and 93 the NPPF states that planning decisions should support social 

120



interaction, and enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address 
identified local health and well-being needs. Policy CP6 seeks to provide for community 
infrastructure for the City. This specifically includes safeguarding the existing and providing 
new leisure, cultural, recreation and community facilities, particularly by optimising the potential 
of Garon Park. 
 

8.17 SUCET states that it delivers an increasingly diverse range of projects across Southend and 
South-East Essex, using the power of football, other sports and the name of Southend United 
to engage with its participants to achieve positive social outcomes, particularly amongst 
disadvantaged groups. 
 

8.18 The SUCET educational facility previously operated from SUFC’s Roots Hall premises. The 
Planning Statement states that they have relocated to Garon Park on the basis that there were 
no other suitable alternative locations within Southend that met SUCET’s needs. SUCET 
explain that accessibility to a 3G pitch is integral to the delivery of several SUCET educational 
and sports programmes and services.  
 

8.19 SUCET undertook a search of other potentially suitable locations for the relocated SUCET 
facility within Southend. Aside from the 3G pitch at Garon Park, their research identified that 
there are only two other potential 3G pitches within Southend-on-Sea not exclusively linked 
with a school, which are:  
 

• The Len Forge Centre, Eastwoodbury Lane  

• Goals Southend, Chase High School, Prittlewell Chase  
 

8.20 The Len Forge Centre is next to, and shares an access with, Eastwood Community Pre-School. 
Goals Southend is located within Chase High School. In the applicant’s assessment, they 
consider that both locations are unsuitable for SUCET, which requires a safe and secure 
environment where oversight of vulnerable students is paramount. In addition, SUCET 
consider that they would be restricted to using sporting facilities outside of normal school hours 
such that these sites would not be suitable for use by SUCET.  
 

8.21 Officers consider that "classrooms" (in effect) could be located in various other sites within 
Southend so, geographically there is not necessarily a requirement for the relocation to Garon 
Park. Indeed there are sustainability reasons for suggesting they would be better located more 
centrally. However, it is the officers’ understanding that the key benefit for this particular 
education facility is the relationship with the 3G pitch and its availability of use during school 
hours. A review of 3G pitches within Southend was carried out which concurs with the 
assessment conducted by SUCET which carries weight in the assessment of this application. 
Moreover, a list of the programmes run by SUCET and contained at Table 1 (above) have been 
submitted to demonstrate the intrinsic link between the education facility and the 3G pitches. 
Further clarification is contained below.  

 
8.22 SUCET advise that the college use is delivered through the League Football Education (LFE) 

and requires access to a 3G pitch. Competitive football forms part of the course and is delivered 
by UEFA and FA qualified coaching staff who provide individual coaching programmes 
incorporating technical practices, game-related practices, small-sided games and physical 
sessions.  
 

8.23 SUCET students play in the English Football League (EFL), Community and Education 
Football Alliance (CEFA) League and against other professional clubs that run similar 
schemes. Students also play in the South-East Regional League as well as the National Cup 
competitions playing against Norwich City FC, Fulham FC, Charlton Athletic FC, Brentford FC 
along with other clubs.  
 

121



8.24 The education courses (BTEC’s) provide students with opportunities to enter employment or 
higher education within the sports and leisure industry and details are contained within the 
course prospectus within the Planning Statement Addendum Document and are included for 
information within an appendix at the end of this report.  
 

8.25 The Planning Statement explains that relocation of the SUCET educational facility to Garon 
Park has enabled the continued delivery of educational and sports programmes to children and 
young people and mitigated disruption to their learning. 
 

8.26 Paragraph 93 of the NPPF states that in providing services the community needs, decisions 
should take in to account and support the delivery of “local strategies to improve health, social 
and cultural well-being for all sections of the community and guard against the unnecessary 
loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where this would reduce the community’s 
ability to meet its day-to-day needs”.  
 

8.27 Furthermore, Paragraph 96 sets out that to “ensure the faster delivery of other public service 
infrastructure such as further educational colleges…local planning authorities should work 
proactively and positively with promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to plan for 
required facilities”.  
 

8.28 Paragraph 8.12 of the Council’s Core Strategy identifies that health and social wellbeing of 
Southend’s residents and their educational attainment levels are vitally important to the 
regeneration of the city. Supporting Paragraph 8.10 of the Core Strategy highlights the 
Council’s vision that Southend must be a city for people, and it is important that everyone feels 
they are included and can access opportunities the city has to offer, with development and new 
facilities being designed, built and maintained on the principle that people come first.  
 

8.29 Part 3 of Policy CP6 specifically seeks to provide new community facilities through “optimising 
Garon Park, ensuring the needs of all residents and visitors, including the disabled and other 
vulnerable groups are met”.  
 

8.30 The development clearly meets the objectives of Policy CP6 with the primary aim of the SUCET 
facility seeking to improve education attainment, health and wellbeing of young people in 
Southend. The facility supports the needs of education, skills and lifelong learning.  
 

8.31 The information provided by the applicant is considered sufficient to demonstrate that the 
accessibility to the 3G pitch is critical to the effective delivery of SUCET programmes (as 
outlined in the  Addendum comprising the course prospectus and timetabling) and is solely 
dependent on the collective synergies between this particular education model, the site’s 
specific location and the facilities available which taken together, are considered representative 
of ‘very special circumstances.’ That is to say, this particular education facility is only able to 
function because of those synergies and alternative forms of education/ training would not carry 
the same nature or degree of justification as inappropriate uses in the Green Belt. The security 
fencing in-situ is deemed necessary to provide for the safety and required duty of care to 
disadvantaged and vulnerable children and young people.  
 

8.32 Also of significance in the planning balance and identification of special circumstances is the 
temporary (5-year) consent being sought (to the 1st November 2027) such that upon expiry of 
the 5-year period, planning controls would require the site to be restored to its previous 
condition. Consequently, the impact on the openness of the green belt will be temporary and 
reversible in nature. Moreover, the container units would not result in the loss of playing fields 
and staff consider that reasonable attempts have been made to minimise their visual impact 
by siting them within an enclosed area between the existing 3G sports pitch and paddleball 
courts. It is considered that the development will not give rise to unrestricted sprawl within the 
green belt, nor will it affect the other main purposes of the green belt.  

122



 
8.33 Weighing all these factors together and in the individual circumstances of this property, it is 

found that the development would harm the green belt both in principle as an inappropriate use 
and also because its physical impact on openness. However very special circumstances are 
identified in the form of the benefits of this particular education/ training facility in this specific 
location next to this existing sports facility and the collective synergies between these that are 
fundamental to successful operation of the use and that the proposal is temporary in nature. 
These collective factors are considered to constitute the special considerations necessary to 
clearly outweigh the identified harm resulting from the proposal such that green belt policy 
objectives would be met. 
 

8.34 To support the basis of the above conclusion, two conditions are recommended. The first is to 
ensure that the use operates as described within the approved planning submission and not 
for any alternative and/or more generic education/ training purposes. Secondly, once the 5-
year temporary approval has expired, the site will be required to be returned to its previous 
condition. 

 
Protected Green Space 
 

8.35 Policy CP7 seeks to safeguard all sport, recreation and green space facilities from loss or 
displacement to other uses, except where it can clearly be demonstrated that alternative 
facilities of a higher standard are being provided in at least an equally convenient and 
accessible location to serve the same local community, and there would be no loss of amenity 
or environmental quality to that community. 
 

8.36 The development would not result in the loss of any part of an existing playing field. Whilst an 
area of green space would be removed from public use, this loss is only temporary in nature 
and as already discussed, a condition can be imposed to ensure the site is required to be 
returned to its previous condition once the development’s temporary period expires. Moreover, 
the proposal would provide education with a proven link to existing sporting facilities which is 
supported by Sport England. Considering the circumstances of the site and the development, 
including the discussion in relation to the very special circumstances of this application, it is 
considered that whilst there is technically a conflict with policy CP7, the clear benefits of the 
proposal would outweigh this. 
 

8.37 Overall, the principle of the development for a temporary period is acceptable on the basis that 
the described special circumstances clearly outweigh the identified harm and conflict with 
planning policies such that the proposal is acceptable in these regards.  
 
Design and Impact on the Character of the Area 
 

8.38 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well 
designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. 
 

8.39 Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it 
adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context 
and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the 
distinctiveness of place; and contribute positively to the space between buildings and their 
relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide 
provide further details on how this can be achieved. 
 

8.40 The development, comprising stacked container units, permeable surfacing and fencing would 
be reasonably integrated into the setting which is an existing 3G sports pitch and enclosed 
tennis/paddle ball courts with significant canopy within a wider sporting facility. The container 

123



units when fully installed will represent a substantial feature and are of functional design. In the 
setting of the larger sports centre, they would not be significantly harmful to the character and 
appearance of the site and surroundings.  
 

8.41 Several of the containers on site are painted navy blue to accord with the colours for Southend 
United. Several others are currently unpainted or finished in cream/white. Those that are 
unpainted or finished in white/cream appear in a poor state visually and clash with the navy-
blue containers which results in a current development that fails to integrate suitably. To 
overcome this concern, it is considered reasonable to impose a condition to require that all 
container units on site are finished externally in navy blue to match those on site within 3 
months of the date of an approval decision. It is reasonable in the circumstances of this case 
to remove permitted development rights in relation to the application of colour as the choice of 
colour could have an amplifying effect on the impact of the development.  
 

8.42 As such, given the overall, size, scale, design and location of the development, it is considered 
that the proposal would not harm the character and appearance of the immediate site, the 
streetscene or the immediate surrounding area. The development is therefore acceptable and 
policy compliant in these regards.  
 
Impact on Residential Amenity 
 

8.43 Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development 
which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically 
identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and 
surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual 
enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out 
in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide. 
 

8.44 In terms of impact on nearby residential properties, the application site is within the existing 
Garon Park site and its associated profiles of external activity. The nearest dwellings 
approximately 400m south, outside of the complex and south of the dual carriageway (A1159). 
Due to the significant separation distances, it is not considered that the proposed development 
results in any demonstrable harm for nearby residential occupiers from visual or noise impacts. 
The development is therefore acceptable and policy compliant in these regards. 
 
Traffic and Transport Implications 
 

8.45 The NPPF states (para 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.” 
 

8.46 An additional level of traffic and parking demand would be expected from the operation of the 
educational facility. However, this would likely be minor in nature and reasonably capable of 
accommodation within the existing car parking facilities and surrounding highways. The wider 
Garon Park leisure facility is served by cycle parking and bus routes. No objections have been 
raised by the highways department.  
 

8.47 The proposal is therefore considered to be policy compliant in terms of parking, traffic and 
highways matters.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

8.48 As the planning permission is for a temporary permission only, the application is not CIL Liable.  
 

Equality and Diversity  

124



 
8.49 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the 

exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this 
duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do 
not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had careful regard 
to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the 
decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation. 
 
Conclusion 
 

8.50 Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject to 
compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would be, in the round, 
acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the relevant local and national planning policies 
and guidance.  
 

8.51 The development would provide education, sporting and community benefits in association 
with the existing use of the land. The development as a matter of principle is inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt and the physical impact resulting from the containers in-situ and 
as proposed, would in addition cause harm to the openness of the green belt. However, the 
relationship  of this particular operational model for education, in this particular location and 
accessibility to this 3G sports pitch, create the particular synergies needed and which flow into 
the community infrastructure benefits to which significant weight should be given. 

 
8.52 The development has been sited in a way as to reduce its prominence as far as reasonably 

practicable and as such, similar benefits could not be achieved through an alternative proposal 
within Southend as the chosen area of operation. Moreover, the harm identified both in relation 
to impact on the Green Belt and in relation to the impact on the designated Protected Open 
Space is only temporary in nature. Therefore, in this instance, it is considered that these factors 
collectively represent the very special circumstances needed to clearly outweigh the harm to 
the Green Belt caused by the proposal and, despite the conflict with local policy which seeks 
to protect open spaces, it is considered acceptable.  

 
8.53 The proposed development is found to be acceptable and compliant with planning policy in all 

other regards. It is therefore recommended for approval subject to conditions.  
 

9 Recommendation 
 

9.1 GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions: 
 
01 The permission hereby granted is for a temporary period only. After the 1st 

November 2027, 5 years from the date of first use of the site for the purposes 
hereby approved, the use hereby approved shall cease and all containers and 
other structures shall be removed from the site and the land shall be returned to 
its condition when the previous authorised use was taking place. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2023) and Policies KP1 and KP2 of the Core Strategy (2007).  

 
02 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans: 

2231/F/101/P01 Rev 01; 2231/F/102/P01 Rev 01; 2231/F/103/P01 Rev 01; 
2231/F/201/P01 Rev 01 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 

125



development plan. 
 
03 Notwithstanding the information submitted with the application, within 3 months 

of the date of this decision, all containers presently on the site shall be painted 
and finished in navy blue to match the colour of those already painted in this 
colour. No other container shall be brought on site unless it has previously been 
painted in the same navy-blue colour. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 2 of 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 as amended, or any similar provision on any act or statutory 
instrument revoking or re-enacting this Order, any change in colour at any part of 
the development hereby approved, shall only be carried out in accordance with 
details which have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the surrounding area in 
accordance with Policy DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document 
(2015) and Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) 

 
04 No external lighting shall be installed on the site subject of this permission unless 

it is undertaken in complete accordance with details which have previously been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the 
provisions of this condition. Any external lighting approved and installed 
pursuant to this condition shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area, in accordance with Policies 
DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and Policies 
KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007). 

 
05 The development hereby approved shall not be used for any other purpose other 

than for education and training purposes solely in association with and delivered 
by Southend United Community and Educational Trust (SUCET).  
 
Reason: To reflect the very special circumstances of the application and its 
impact on the Green Belt and Protected Open Space, in accordance with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and Policies KP1, CP4 and CP7 of the 
Core Strategy (2007). 

 
Positive and Proactive Statement 
 
The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally 
submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal 
to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to 
grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set out in a report on the 
application prepared by officers. 
 
Informatives 
 

1 You are advised that in this instance, due to the temporary nature of the permission, the 
application is not liable for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charge.  
 

2 You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction works to 
the highway in implementing this permission that the Council will seek to recover the 

126



cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party responsible for 
damaging them. This includes damage carried out when implementing a planning 
permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take care when carrying out 
works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the City. 
 
 

  

127



APPENDICES 
Appendix 1- Course prospectus outlining educational programme BTEC Level 2 and 3  

  

 
 

128



  
 

  

129



Appendix 2- Typical Timetable 
 

 

130



DateDescriptionRev

Ti
tle Site Location Plan 1:1250

D
rg

 N
o.

Pr
oj

ec
t

O:\2322 - Garon Park CIC - New 3G Pitch and Changing Rooms\01. ASA Drawings\1.2 ArchiCAD\Hotlink Modules\2231 - SUCET Planning June 2023v2.pln

S
ca

le

1:1250 @A1

D
at

e
S
ta

tu
s

C
ha

rt
er

ed
 A

rc
hi

te
ct

s

Tel 01268 562266
Email info@ayshford.com

6 Riverside HousePost
Lower Southend Road
Wickford, SS11 8BB.

This document and all information contained herein is the 
sole property of Ayshford Sansome. Reproduction in whole 
or in part is strictly forbidden and may not be issued to any 
third party for any purpose unless prior permission is 
obtained.

DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING  
Contractor must verify all dimensions on site before 
commencing any work or preparing manufacturing 
drawings. If in doubt ask.

G
en

er
al

 N
ot

es
C
op

yr
ig

ht

R
ev

is
io

n 
N

ot
es

SS2 4FA

Garons Park
Garon Park Masterplan

Southend on Sea

Garon Park Community Interest Company

2231/F/101/P01

Allotment Gardens

25.6m

Southend Estuary Scout Headquarters

191

Track

Tr
ac

k
Tr

ac
k

Drain

ETL

23.5m

1

22.9m

23.2m

2

Club House

ETL

Fox Hall

22.9m

Pond

Pond

Pond

Athletics Ground
L Twrs

L Twrs

L Twrs

L Twrs

El Sub Sta

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

CR

EASTERN AVENUE
El Sub Sta

25.1m

24.4m

FB

ROYAL ARTILLERY WAY

El Sub Sta

Club

240

B&Q

Cricket 
Ground

Extg. Tennis 
Courts

Sports Centre

Garon Park
Driving Range

Ext'g Car 
Parking

Allottments

Allottments

Cecil Jones 
Academy

Adventure 
Golf

Extg. 3G 
Pitch

Extg. 
Clubhouse

1:
12

50 Metres10 20 30 40 50

N

Site Location Plan 1:1250

Planning

July'2301 First Issue 05.07.23

131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DateDescriptionRev

Ti
tle Existing Block Plan

D
rg

 N
o.

Pr
oj

ec
t

O:\2322 - Garon Park CIC - New 3G Pitch and Changing Rooms\01. ASA Drawings\1.2 ArchiCAD\Hotlink Modules\2231 - SUCET Planning June 2023v2.pln

S
ca

le

1:500 @A1

D
at

e
S
ta

tu
s

C
ha

rt
er

ed
 A

rc
hi

te
ct

s

Tel 01268 562266
Email info@ayshford.com

6 Riverside HousePost
Lower Southend Road
Wickford, SS11 8BB.

This document and all information contained herein is the 
sole property of Ayshford Sansome. Reproduction in whole 
or in part is strictly forbidden and may not be issued to any 
third party for any purpose unless prior permission is 
obtained.

DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING  
Contractor must verify all dimensions on site before 
commencing any work or preparing manufacturing 
drawings. If in doubt ask.

G
en

er
al

 N
ot

es
C
op

yr
ig

ht

R
ev

is
io

n 
N

ot
es

SS2 4FA

Garons Park
Garon Park Masterplan

Southend on Sea

Garon Park Community Interest Company

2231/F/102/P01

Cricket 
Ground

Extg. Tennis 
Courts

Sports Centre

Ext'g Car 
Parking

Cecil Jones 
Academy

Extg. 3G 
Pitch

Extg. 
Clubhouse

1:
50

0 Metres5 10 15 20 30

N

Existing Block Plan 1:500

Planning

July'2301 First Issue 05.07.23

133



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DateDescriptionRev

Ti
tle Proposed Block Plan

D
rg

 N
o.

Pr
oj

ec
t

O:\2322 - Garon Park CIC - New 3G Pitch and Changing Rooms\01. ASA Drawings\1.2 ArchiCAD\Hotlink Modules\2231 - SUCET Planning June 2023v2.pln

S
ca

le

1:500 @A1

D
at

e
S
ta

tu
s

C
ha

rt
er

ed
 A

rc
hi

te
ct

s

Tel 01268 562266
Email info@ayshford.com

6 Riverside HousePost
Lower Southend Road
Wickford, SS11 8BB.

This document and all information contained herein is the 
sole property of Ayshford Sansome. Reproduction in whole 
or in part is strictly forbidden and may not be issued to any 
third party for any purpose unless prior permission is 
obtained.

DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING  
Contractor must verify all dimensions on site before 
commencing any work or preparing manufacturing 
drawings. If in doubt ask.

G
en

er
al

 N
ot

es
C
op

yr
ig

ht

R
ev

is
io

n 
N

ot
es

SS2 4FA

Garons Park
Garon Park Masterplan

Southend on Sea

Garon Park Community Interest Company

2231/F/103/P01

Cricket 
Ground

Extg. Tennis 
Courts

Sports Centre

Ext'g Car 
Parking

Cecil Jones 
Academy

Extg. 3G 
Pitch

Extg. 
Clubhouse

1:
50

0 Metres5 10 15 20 30

N

Proposed Block Plan 1:500

Planning

01 First Issue July'2305.07.23

135



T
his page is intentionally left blank



DateDescriptionRev

Ti
tle Site Plan and Elevations

D
rg

 N
o.

Pr
oj

ec
t

O:\2322 - Garon Park CIC - New 3G Pitch and Changing Rooms\01. ASA Drawings\1.2 ArchiCAD\Hotlink Modules\2231 - SUCET Planning June 2023v2.pln

S
ca

le

1:200, 1:100, 1:50 @A1

D
at

e
S
ta

tu
s

C
ha

rt
er

ed
 A

rc
hi

te
ct

s

Tel 01268 562266
Email info@ayshford.com

6 Riverside HousePost
Lower Southend Road
Wickford, SS11 8BB.

This document and all information contained herein is the 
sole property of Ayshford Sansome. Reproduction in whole 
or in part is strictly forbidden and may not be issued to any 
third party for any purpose unless prior permission is 
obtained.

DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING  
Contractor must verify all dimensions on site before 
commencing any work or preparing manufacturing 
drawings. If in doubt ask.

G
en

er
al

 N
ot

es
C
op

yr
ig

ht

R
ev

is
io

n 
N

ot
es

SS2 4FA

Garons Park
Garon Park Masterplan

Southend on Sea

Garon Park Community Interest Company

2231/F/201/P01

5.0m5.0m

9.8m

1.0m

9.8m

1.0m

9.8m 3.4m 9.8m
1.0m

9.8m

2.
0m

3.
0m

3.
0m

6.
0m

26.751 m2

1.
1m

5.1m

1.
6m

3.
0m

Emergency Pitch 
Access

New pin kerb to 
Back Edge of 
Existing footpath 

Approximate 
location of 

EXISTING Lighting 
Columns (NB:- 

some protection 
may be required)

Container Cabin 
No. 5/10

Container 
Cabin No. 4/9

Container Cabin 
No. 3/8

Container 
Cabin No. 2/7

FWC
Unit14 No. Parking Spaces (2.5 x 

5.0m) + 2 No. Accessible Spaces

Approximate location of 
EXISTING Lighting 

Columns (NB:- some 
protection may be 

required)

Remove existing kerbs 

[New Macadam 
surface]

[Car park surface 
propietary 
'Grasscrete porous 
paving]

Cricket Nets

KEEP
CLEAR

[New 
Macadam 
surface]

EXISTING 
ACCESS

New Foul drainage 
route and connection 

to existing system 
(approx. 40m, final 

route tbc)

Existing Manhole

New Metal Security 
Gates and fencing, 
2.4m high (Green 
Protek 1000 Mesh)

New Metal Security Gates 
and fencing, 2.4m high 

(Green Protek 1000 
Mesh)

 

[Extg Tarmac]

New fencing 2.4m 
high (Green 
Protek 1000 

Mesh)

New fencing and gates. 
2.4m high (Green Protek 
1000 Mesh)

Existing Electric 
supply box

MWC
Unit

WC/Welfare units - 
access tbc subject to 
final levels

Existing grass 
verge (no change)

Container 
Cabin No. 1/6

Goal RecessDugoutDugout
[New Macadam]

Existing Metal Mesh 
Fencing 4.0m high 

(approved under previous 
application)

Metal Staircases to 
upper floor cabin 

Existing 8 No. Sheffield type Bicycle 
Stands (for 16 Bicycles) 

5.
0m

2.
5m

2.
5m

Container Cabin No. 5/10Container Cabin No. 4/9Container Cabin No. 3/8Container Cabin No. 2/7Container Cabin No. 1/6

5.
0m

Container Cabin No. 5/10 Container Cabin No. 4/9 Container Cabin No. 3/8 Container Cabin No. 2/7 Container Cabin No. 1/6

2.
5m

5.
0m

5.
0m

2.
5m

9.8 m

3.
0 

m
3.

0m

FWC
Unit

MWC
Unit

1:
20

0 1 5 10 Metres

1:
10

0 1 5 Metres

N
Planning

July'2301 First Issue 05.07.23

MWC/FWC Welfare Unit MWC/FWC Welfare Unit MWC/FWC 
Welfare Unit

Container Cabins MWC/FWC 
Welfare Unit

Container Cabins

Proposed North Elevation 1:100 Proposed South Elevation 1:100 Proposed East Elevation 1:100 Proposed West Elevation 1:100

Proposed South Elevation 1:100

Proposed North Elevation 1:100

Typical Container Plan (Ground and First Floor) - 1:50

Indicative Welfare Cabins (layout by supplier) - 1:50

Site Layout Plan 1:200

137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



139



140



141



142



143



144



 
 

 

 
 
  

Reference: 22/00341/UNAU_B  

 Report Type: Enforcement 

Ward: Eastwood Park 

Breach of Planning 
Control: 

Erection of dormers not in accordance with planning permission 
(21/02453/FULH) granted on appeal 

Address: 15 Leslie Close, Eastwood, Essex, SS9 5NP 

Case Opened Date: 15.12.2022 

Case Officer: Gabriella Fairley 

Recommendation: AUTHORISATION TO CLOSE CASE 

 

145

7



 
 

1 Site and Surroundings 
 
1.1 The application site contains a detached former bungalow recently converted into a chalet 

style dwelling which is situated on the south side of Leslie Close, a cul-de-sac comprising 
pairs of (side) gabled semi-detached bungalows of similar size, scale and traditional 
design. 
 

1.2 The position of the application dwelling on a slight bend in the road is such that the 
immediate neighbouring properties are set at an angle away from the application dwelling. 
It has a side access to its western elevation some 2m wide. 
 

1.3 The wider streetscene along nearby Leslie Drive is slightly more diverse although the 
predominant built form comprises semi-detached bungalows. The bungalows are of 
varying scale and design. A number of the bungalows within Leslie Drive have been 
extended and converted into chalets, with habitable accommodation at first floor level.  
 

1.4 The site is not within a conservation area or subject to any site-specific planning policies.  
 

2 Lawful Planning Use 
 

2.1 The lawful planning use of the site is as a dwelling within Class C3 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Class Order) 1987 (as amended). 

 
3 Relevant Planning History 
  
3.1 The most relevant planning history of the application site is shown in Table 1 below:  

 
Table 1: Relevant Planning History of the Application Site  

Reference  Description   Outcome  

21/01733/FULH Raise ridge height and install dormers to 
sides to form habitable accommodation in the 
loftspace, erect single storey rear extension.   

Refused 
[11.10.2021]  

21/02453/FULH Raise ridge height and form hipped to gable 
roof extension, install dormers to front and 
rear to form habitable accommodation in the 
loftspace, erect single storey rear extension 
(amended proposal) 

Refused by 
Southend-on-Sea 
City Council 
11.02.22 Granted 
on appeal 
[17.06.2022] 

22/02471/AMDT Application to vary conditions 02 (Approved 
Plans) and 03 (Materials) replace plan 
number CAD/PP/21499/002 Revision C with 
CAD/PP/21499/002 Revision E (Minor 
Material Amendment of Planning Permission 
21/02453/FULH allowed on appeal dated 
17/06/2021 

Refused (03.03.23) 

22/00341/UNAU_B_01 Enforcement Notice  Issued on 
19.04.2023 
Took effect on 
16.05.2023 

 
4 Planning Policy Summary 
  

146



 
 

4.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023) 
 
4.2 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2023) 

 

4.3 National Design Guide (NDG) (2021) 
 
4.4 Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP2 (Development Principles), CP3 (Transport and 

Accessibility), CP4 (Environment and Urban Renaissance).  
 
4.5 Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM3 

(Efficient and Effective Use of Land), DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management). 
 
4.6 The Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) 
 
4.7 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015) 
 
5 Procedural Matters 

 
5.1 This case is presented to the Development Control Committee because officers consider 

it would not be expedient to seek further action to secure further compliance with the 
enforcement action previously authorised by the Committee. 

 
6 The planning breach  

 
6.1 The identified breach of planning control is: 

 
- The erection of dormers not in accordance with planning permission (21/02453/FULH). 

 
7 Efforts to resolve the breach to date 

 
7.1 In March 2023, this enforcement case was presented at Development Control Committee 

seeking authorisation to take enforcement action. On 16th May 2023, the Enforcement 
Notice took effect, giving the owner 3 calendar months to comply with the notice. The 
Enforcement Notice is attached as Appendix A.  
 

7.2 A site visit was recently conducted, this has established that, in accordance with the notice,  
the black vertical cladding has been removed in its entirety and has been replaced with the 
approved white render, including at first-floor level rising up to the apex of the gables, and 
to the rear dormer. The first-floor doors in the rear face of the rear dormer have been 
replaced with the approved windows.  
 

7.3 However, the front dormers have not been finished in render as per the approved plans ref 
CAD/PP/21499/002 Revision C as technically required by the notice and instead are 
finished in the original roof tiles. The roof tiles have also not been replaced with grey tiles 
as required by the notice and instead the original roof tiles have been used. 
 

8 Appraisal of the harm caused  
 

8.1 Although the enforcement notice has not been fully complied with and there remains 
technically a variance from the details shown on the plan approved at appeal, it is 
considered that the front dormer finishes and use of the original roof tiles which are in 
keeping with the streetscene, does not result in any significantly harmful impacts to the 
character and appearance of the host dwelling or the streetscene more widely.  

147



 
 

8.2 Were the owner to submit an application to formalise such variations staff consider that 
they would be highly likely to be approved. Staff are also mindful that the submission of a 
planning application should not be insisted upon in such technical cases of limited 
consequence. 

   
8.3 In the absence of any identified harm, staff consider that the original breach has been 

adequately addressed and that it is proportionate and justified in the circumstances of the 
case to close this enforcement case. The enforcement notice will stay on the land, and it 
is not recommended to withdraw it. However, given that taking legal action for non-
compliance with the requirements of an enforcement notice is discretionary and has to 
satisfy the public interest test, the Local Planning Authority is entitled to close the case in 
the circumstances of this case. 

 
Equality and Diversity Issues 

 
8.4 The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the 

exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under 
this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report 
had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have 
concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory 
duties under this legislation. 

 
9 Recommendation 

 
9.1 AUTHORISE CLOSURE OF THE ENFORCEMENT CASE 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

148



 
 

 
 

  

149



 
 

Appendix A: Enforcement Notice 
 

 

150



 
 

 
 

 

151



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

152



 
 

 

 
 

 

153



 
 

 

 

154



 
 

 

 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



EXISTING SITE PLAN
SCALE 1:200

Leslie Close

No. 15

No. 14

No. 16

Garden
Amenity

Area- 79m²

EXISTING FRONT ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

EXISTING FLANK ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

EXISTING REAR ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

EXISTING FLANK ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

EXISTING GROUND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:50

Living Bed 1

Dining

Kitchen

Bath

Cup'd

Conservatory

Hall

5

11

15

43

29

32

18

17 14

3

7

12

8

72

58

72
a

74

12

65
67

73

39.0m

36.3m

CLOSE
LESLIE

LE
SLIE

 DRIVE

El
Sub
Sta

12

1:50 SCALE BAR

0 1 2

Metres

1:100 SCALE BAR

2 40

Metres

1:1250 SCALE BAR

0 20

Metres

40

LOCATION PLAN
SCALE 1:1250

1:200 SCALE BAR

0 4 8

Metres

N

E

S

W

scale: drawn by:

date: checked:

drawing no:

revision:

address:

client:

title:

site:

sheet no:size:

A1

Dimensions are not to be scaled from this drawing or from CAD files. All
Dimensions to be checked on site prior to commencement of works with
any discrepancies reported to Contour Architectural Designs Ltd
immediately.

All works commenced prior to planning consent and building regulations
approval is at contractors/clients own risk.

Where existing structure is to be adapted, where affected all existing
foundations, walls and lintels/ beams to be exposed and checked for
suitability prior to commencement of works with all findings to be reported
to agent and building inspector and where necessary a structural engineer to
undertake additional design calculations to prove adequacy.

This drawing is the property of Contour Architectural Designs Ltd and
therefore Copyright is reserved by them. The drawing is issued on condition
that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without

the prior consent in writing of the author, Contour Architectural Designs
Ltd.

Rev Date By Description Chk'd

CANVEY OFFICE | 80 High Street, Canvey Island, SS8 7SQ | 01268 690974

MERSEA OFFICE | 1b Yorick Road, Mersea Island, CO5 8HT | 01206 483960

www.contour-designs.co.uk | enquiries@contour-designs.co.uk

Tony Wilkins

15 Leslie Close
Leigh-on-Sea
Essex
SS9 5NP

As Above

Property as Existing

1:50/1:100/1:200/1:1250 on A1

29/07/2021

AR

CAD/PP/21499/001

Sheet 1 of 1

N

E

S

W

157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PROPOSED SITE PLAN
SCALE 1:200

Leslie Close

No. 15

No. 14

No. 16

Garden
Amenity

Area- 120m²
Proposed Single

Storey Rear
Extension

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED FLANK ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED FLANK ELEVATION
SCALE 1:100

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:50

Bed 3

Bed 4

Dining
Kitchen

Bath

Cup'd

Hall

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN
SCALE 1:50

Bed 1

Hall

Living

Cup'd

FR

W/M

Utility

Bath

En-Suite

Bed 2

1:50 SCALE BAR

0 1 2

Metres

1:100 SCALE BAR

2 40

Metres

1:200 SCALE BAR

0 4 8

Metres

N

E

S

W

scale: drawn by:

date: checked:

drawing no:

revision:

address:

client:

title:

site:

sheet no:size:

A1

Dimensions are not to be scaled from this drawing or from CAD files. All
Dimensions to be checked on site prior to commencement of works with
any discrepancies reported to Contour Architectural Designs Ltd
immediately.

All works commenced prior to planning consent and building regulations
approval is at contractors/clients own risk.

Where existing structure is to be adapted, where affected all existing
foundations, walls and lintels/ beams to be exposed and checked for
suitability prior to commencement of works with all findings to be reported
to agent and building inspector and where necessary a structural engineer to
undertake additional design calculations to prove adequacy.

This drawing is the property of Contour Architectural Designs Ltd and
therefore Copyright is reserved by them. The drawing is issued on condition
that it is not copied or disclosed by or to any unauthorised persons without

the prior consent in writing of the author, Contour Architectural Designs
Ltd.

Rev Date By Description Chk'd

CANVEY OFFICE | 80 High Street, Canvey Island, SS8 7SQ | 01268 690974

MERSEA OFFICE | 1b Yorick Road, Mersea Island, CO5 8HT | 01206 483960

www.contour-designs.co.uk | enquiries@contour-designs.co.uk

Tony Wilkins

15 Leslie Close
Leigh-on-Sea
Essex
SS9 5NP

As Above

Proposed Loft Conversion, 
Re-Pitch of Roof &
Single Storey Rear Extension

1:50/1:100/1:200 on A1

29/07/2021

AR

CAD/PP/21499/002

Sheet 1 of 1 C

A 07.01.2022 CPB Amendments to front dormerts

Minor AlterationsAR10.01.2021B

Minor AlterationsAR12.01.2021C

159



T
his page is intentionally left blank



161



162



163



164



165



The site prior to the 
enforcement notice.

166


	Agenda
	 Contents List and Introduction
	SPA	-	Special Protection Area.  An area designated for special protection under the terms of the European Community Directive on the Conservation of Wild Birds.
	Ramsar Site	-	Describes sites that meet the criteria for inclusion in the list of Wetlands of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention.  (Named after a town in Iran, the Ramsar Convention is concerned with the protection of wetlands, especially those important for migratory birds)

	4 23/00976/FUL - Land Rear Of 2 Smallholdings Eastwoodbury Lane, Southend-on-Sea (St Laurence Ward)
	1	Site and Surroundings
	1.1	The application site consists of a rectangular parcel of land to the south of Eastwoodbury Lane some 0.19ha in area which is currently undeveloped. Access to the site would be via an existing access point and private roadway running south from Eastwoodbury Lane which presently serves 9No dwellinghouses approved and presently under construction at land rear of 1 Smallholdings (ref. 21/02034/OUT & 22/01088/RES).
	1.2	The land immediately to the south of the site is in use as a community allotment. To the north and north-east of the site are residential dwellings positioned along Eastwoodbury Lane, inclusive of the 9No dwellinghouses presently under construction at the adjacent development site. To the west is undeveloped land comprising a small area of woodland to its fringe.
	1.3	The site is designated as Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMVAL) within the Core Strategy and Development Management Document. It also lies within the area covered by the London Southend Airport Joint Area Action Plan (JAAP) however, it holds no specific designation. The application site is not the subject of any other site-specific policy designations.

	2	The Proposal
	2.1	Planning permission is sought to erect 8No two storey dwellinghouses laid out as a single pair of semi-detached dwellinghouses and two short terraces in a linear arrangement around a central turning area.
	2.2	The proposed dwellings would be crown roofed and finished externally in render and clay plain roof tiles (red), with a red brick plinth and soldier course shown above the windows. A flat roof canopy over the front door is also detailed. External materials details have been provided with the application and are detailed as follows:
		K Rend Waterproof render in Limestone White to exterior walls;
		Sahtas Dark Farmhouse brick plinth;
		Red clay roof tiles [Ste Foy Rouge Nuance] by Edillians;
		White UPVC windows and patio doors;
		Black front doors;
		White fascias and soffits; and
		Black guttering
	2.3	These material details are noted as matching the approved details for the adjacent development site at the land rear of 1 Smallholdings.
	2.4	The single pair of semi-detached properties and one of the short terraces would comprise 3-bed units with accommodation in the roof, provided by way of flat roofed dormers to the front roof slope some 1.6m wide, 1.8m wide and 2.2m deep.
	2.5	The proposed dwellings each measure a maximum of 5m in width, 8.6m in depth and a maximum height of 8.2m. The short-terraced properties without roof accommodation would constitute two-bed, three-person units measuring some 72sqm. The single semi-detached pair and short-terraced properties with roof accommodation would constitute three-bedroom, four-person units measuring some 94sqm.
	2.6	The submitted plans indicate that each dwelling would be provided with 2 parking spaces in a tandem arrangement. Electric vehicle charging points are shown.
	2.7	An indicative landscaping plan has also been provided showing the planting of 21No trees and additional shrub planting on the boundaries of the site and within the proposed front gardens.
	2.8	Submitted Tree survey plans show the following tree removals;
		T6 [an Apple Tree]
		G2, G3 and G4 [Leyland cypress, Common Oak, Hawthorn, Prunus, Elder]
		G1 [Leyland cypress - partial removal where it extends onto the application site]

	3	Relevant Planning History
	3.1	There is no relevant planning history at the application site for the determination of this application.

	4	Representation Summary
	Public Consultation
	4.1	Twenty-Seven (27No) neighbouring properties were consulted and a site notice was displayed. 5No letters of objection from 2No addresses have been received. Summary of comments:
		Overlooking concerns from neighbouring 1 Smallholdings site
	[Officer Comment: The 1 Smallholdings site is unaffected by this application, has been granted permission which remains extant and is under construction]
		Wildlife concerns with regards 1 Smallholdings site
	[Officer Comment: Wildlife concerns continue to be investigated in association with the 1 Smallholdings site which sits separately from this application]
		Traffic, congestion and parking concerns from additional housing.
	[Officer Comment:] The comments have been taken into consideration and the relevant planning matters raised are discussed in subsequent sections of the report. The objecting points raised by the representations have been taken into account in the assessment of the proposal but are not found to represent justifiable reasons for recommending refusal of the planning application in the circumstances of this case.
	Environmental Health
	4.2	No objections subject to conditions regarding construction management, refuse and recycling and unknown land contamination.
	Highways
	4.3	No objections. Policy compliant off street parking has been provided for each dwelling. The dwellings are accessed via a private road. It is not considered that the proposal will have a detrimental impact on the local highway network. The Construction Method Statement is acceptable. Tracking data for waste vehicles is required.
	Parks
	4.4	No objections subject to carrying out of the five recommendations contained within the Ecology Survey.
	Tree Officer
	4.5	No objections to the tree removal or tree protection measures proposed.

	5	Procedural matters
	5.1	The application has been called in to Development Control Committee by Councillor Lydia Hyde.

	6	Planning Policy Summary
	6.1	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023)
	6.2	Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2023)
	6.3	National Design Guide (NDG) (2023)
	6.4	Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015)
	6.5	Core Strategy (2007): Policies KP1 (Spatial Strategy), KP2 (Development Principles), KP3 (Implementation and Resources), CP3 (Transport and Accessibility), CP4 (The Environment and Urban Renaissance), CP5 (Minerals and Soils Resources) and CP8 (Dwelling Provision).
	6.6	Development Management Document (2015): Policies DM1 (Design Quality), DM2 (Low Carbon Development and Efficient Use of Resources), DM3 (Efficient and Effective Use of Land), DM7 (Dwelling Mix, Size and Type), DM8 (Residential Standards) and DM15 (Sustainable Transport Management).
	6.7	London Southend Airport Joint Area Action Plan (2014)
	6.8	Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009)
	6.9	Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2015)
	6.10	Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019)
	6.11	Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (EVCI) for New Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2021)
	6.12	Essex Coast Recreational Disturbance Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy (RAMS) Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020)
	6.13	Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement (2015)

	7	Planning Considerations
	7.1	The main considerations in relation to this application are the principle of the development, the design and impact on the character of the streetscene and wider area, the standard of accommodation for future occupiers, the impact on residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, any traffic and transportation issues, refuse and recycling storage, energy and water sustainability, water drainage, ecology and biodiversity implications and compliance with the Essex Coast RAMS SPD and CIL liability.

	8	Appraisal
	Provision of housing and loss of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMVAL)
	8.1	Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states ‘Planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.’
	8.2	Paragraph 121 of the NPPF states ‘Local planning authorities, and other plan-making bodies, should take a proactive role in identifying and helping to bring forward land that may be suitable for meeting development needs, including suitable sites on brownfield registers or held in public ownership, using the full range of powers available to them.’
	8.3	Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy states that all new developments should ‘…make the best use of previously developed land, ensuring that sites and buildings are put to best use…respect, conserve and enhance and where necessary adequately mitigate effects on the nature and historic environment…do not place a damaging burden on existing infrastructure…promote improved and sustainable modes of travel…secure improvements to the urban environment through quality design…respect the character and scale of the existing neighbourhood where appropriate…’
	8.4	Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states: ‘Provision is made for 3,350 net additional dwellings between 2001 and 2011 and for 3,150 net additional dwellings between 2011 and 2021.’ However, this document is more than 15 years old, pre-dating the NPPF, and as such the LPA’s policy related to the number of homes required to be delivered in the City is out-of-date. Accordingly, the Standard Method (December 2020) applies. This increases the annual housing need of Southend-on-Sea from 325 dwellings per annum to 1,181 dwellings per annum, representing a 263% increase and highlighting the pressing need for housing within the City. The Addendum to the South Essex Strategic Housing Market Assessment (“SESHMA”) (May 2017) identified a similar level of housing need.
	8.5	Policy DM3 of the Development Management Document states ‘The Council will seek to support development that is well designed and that seeks to optimise the use of land in a sustainable manner that responds positively to local context and does not lead to over-intensification, which would result in undue stress on local services, and infrastructure, including transport capacity.’
	8.6	The Government’s latest Housing Delivery Test (“HDT”) Results (January 2022) show that Southend-on-Sea delivered 31% of its total housing requirement between 2018-2021, thereby triggering the presumption in favour of sustainable development under paragraph 11 of the NPPF. Southend-on-Sea’s Five-Year Housing Land Supply (“5YHLS”) figure shows that there is a deficit in housing land supply in Southend-on-Sea. The latest figure demonstrates 4.18 years’ worth of housing land supply. The SESHMA identifies that Southend-on-Sea has a higher proportion of flats/maisonettes and a housing stock comprised of a greater proportion of one-bed units and smaller properties, a consequence of which is that there is a lower percentage of accommodation of a suitable size for families and so there is a relatively greater need for such housing. Together, these documents demonstrate a pressing need for all types of housing delivery within the City.
	8.7	The proposed development would provide additional housing within the City, including dwellings which could be utilised by small family groups which is a positive of the scheme and for which there is a significant identified need in the City. This is considered to carry significant weight in the assessment of the scheme.
	8.8	In terms of the BMVAL designation, the key policy is CP5 of the Core Strategy which ‘seeks to protect the best and most versatile agricultural land (defined as land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land Classification) from irreversible damage where this is consistent with the full range of sustainability considerations, including biodiversity; quality and character of the landscape; amenity value or heritage interest; accessibility to infrastructure, workforce and markets; maintaining viable communities; and the protection of natural resources, including soil quality.’’
	8.9	Annex 2 of the NPPF defines BMVAL as Land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land Classification. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by recognising the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services, including the economic and other benefits of the BMVAL. Paragraph 175 and footnote 58 of the NPPF state that where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer quality land should be preferred to those of a higher quality.
	8.10	The proposal would result in new development on land that is designated as BMVAL and sequentially is less preferable than lower grades of agricultural land. Despite the conflict with policy, this issue is not capable of disengaging the presumption in favour of sustainable development.
	8.11	The Design and Access statement submitted details that the neighbouring parcels of undeveloped land are all of modest size and under private ownership, representing a significant obstacle in mobilising the site for any future commercial agricultural activity. In addition, the modest size of the site itself, its position in a semi-urban locale and proximity to residential development to the immediate north and east are such that it is unlikely to hold any value in terms of agricultural potential.
	8.12	This case is supported by the applicant with the submission of an appeal decision� PINS reference APP/R0660/W/20/3251104, date 1 March 2021 (contained within the Design and Access Statement) for a site in Winterley, Cheshire where the Planning Inspector reasoned that due to the size of the land and its isolation from any non-residential surrounding land, the introduction of residential development would not materially impact on agriculture production. The size of the site in question was some 2.1ha, which is significantly larger in comparison to the application site’s 0.19ha. The Planning Inspector afforded modest weight to the loss of BMVAL. This part of the submitted Winterley Decision is relevant to the determination of this application and should be given significant weight. Other matters weighed in the Winterley Decision, such as the provision of housing and affordable housing, the HDT and 5YHLS of Cheshire East Council, and the application of local policies of that Local Planning Authority are not directly relevant for the consideration of this application.
	8.13	The relevant part of the Winterley Decision would suggest that, in the circumstances of this application site, due to the size of the application site and isolation from any non-residential use of land, the loss of BMVAL in this instance would not compromise agricultural activities in Southend-on-Sea. This is further highlighted by the fact that the site only makes up a small percentage of such land within the City limits, and that the majority of such land is already protected by a Green Belt designation (to the north-east of the City bordering Rochford District Council). In line with the Winterley Decision, modest or even limited weight should be given to this less positive aspect of the proposal.
	8.14	It is considered that the proposal for 8No dwellings at the density proposed would constitute effective and efficient use of the land. The results of the HDT and 5YHLS position weigh significantly in favour of the proposed housing scheme which in this instance, given its scale, is considered to make a useful contribution towards the provision of housing for the area. The development is considered to satisfy national and local planning policy in these regards. The tilted balance in favour of sustainable development should be applied.
	Backland development
	8.15	The location of the proposed dwellings would render the proposal backland development. Policy DM3 is applicable which states: “All development on land that constitutes backland and infill development will be considered on a site-by-site basis. Development within these locations will be resisted where the proposals:
	i.	Create a detrimental impact upon the living conditions and amenity of existing and future residents or neighbouring residents; or
	ii.	Conflict with the character and grain of the local area; or
	8.16	The surrounding area is mixed in character, comprising residential development to the north-west and east and undeveloped land to the west. Regard is had to the position of the application site in a broadly sustainable location for development and which would duly conform to the prevailing land use around it. As discussed in more detail in the relevant sections of the report, the proposal would comply with all the relevant criteria of Policy DM3.
	8.17	On the basis of the information outlined above, it is considered in this instance and weighing the planning balance carefully, that the resultant harm caused by the loss of BMVAL is outweighed by the case for new residential development and the application of the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Subject to other detailed considerations outlined below, the principle of development is acceptable.
	8.18	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to ensure that new development is well designed. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities.
	8.19	Local development plan policies seek to ensure that new development is designed so that it adds to the overall quality of the area and respects the character of the site, its local context and surroundings, provides appropriate detailing that contributes to and enhances the distinctiveness of place; and contributes positively to the space between buildings and their relationship to the public realm. Policy DM1 and the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide provide further details on how this can be achieved.
	8.20	The application site is positioned on the fringe of the suburban area and would in effect form a small urban extension connected with the previously approved development under construction at 1 Smallholdings. The development will consequently introduce built form on presently undeveloped land and the impact on the open and spacious character of the area is a less positive aspect of the proposal.
	8.21	Regard is had to the layout of the dwellings as a single pair of semi-detached dwellinghouses and two short terraces laid out in a linear arrangement around a central turning area. There is significant separation between the dwellings themselves and deep rear gardens are also part of the layout such that it is considered that spaciousness has been suitably incorporated into the scheme.
	8.22	There is no overall order to the siting and/or arrangement of neighbouring properties in the adjoining roads, with properties along Eastwoodbury Lane and Eastwoodbury Crescent following a more traditional rectilinear pattern whilst those dwellings along Eastwoodbury Close resemble ‘backland’ development, owing to their position beyond the rears of dwellings fronting Eastwoodbury Crescent and siting around a central turning area. On this basis, it is not considered that the proposal as a residential ‘backland’ development would appear significantly at odds with the grain of the area.
	8.23	The position of the proposed dwellings to the rear of neighbouring development is such that there would be no clear public views. It is considered reasonable to argue that the prevailing character has been set by the approved development under construction at 1 Smallholdings; a mix of semi-detached and short terraced dwellinghouses between 2 to 2.5 storeys with a crown roof and finished externally in white render with a brick plinth and window header detail, with some comprising rooms in the roof using flat roofed front dormers.
	8.24	The proposed development would replicate their form, design and exterior finish, with the material details submitted with this application and outlined within section 2 of the report aligning with those submitted and approved for the 1 Smallholdings site. Together, the two development sites would establish their own character and no objections are raised on this basis.
	8.25	The application has been submitted with an Arboricultural Report and Tree Protection Plan. The proposal seeks to remove 1No Apple Tree (T6) and three groups of trees to the edges of the site (G2, G3 and G4) comprising Leyland Cypress, Common Oak, Hawthorn, Prunus, Elder. It is also proposed to partially cut back to the boundary a group of trees (G1) comprising Leyland Cypress and other shrubs. These trees are not the subject of a TPO and have been categorised in the report as category C trees, which are ‘low’ category trees with low amenity value. The Arboricultural Report concludes that the loss of the trees will have limited impact on the public visual amenity of the area. The Council’s Tree Officer raises no objection to the tree removal proposed for the reasoning provided.
	8.26	All retained trees will require suitable tree protection and specialist methods of design and construction will need to be employed to minimise any impact on trees to be retained. Tree protection measures have been set out in the Arboricultural Report and are illustrated within the accompanying Tree Protection Plan. The Council’s Tree Officer raises no objection to the tree protection measures proposed.
	8.27	Subject to a condition requiring the development to be undertaken in accordance with the tree protection recommendations of the Arboricultural Report and Tree Protection Plan, the development is considered to have an acceptable impact on the trees within and next to the site and would not significantly harm the character and appearance of the site or surrounding area in this regard.
	8.28	Specific landscaping details have not been provided with this application. However, the submitted block plan indicates the planting of 21No additional trees as well as ornamental planting to the front gardens of the proposed dwellings. Whilst the number and type of trees that will be removed as part of the proposal is a less positive aspect of the development, the site layout plan shows the development is to be set within a landscaped setting following the extent of replacement tree planting proposed. As a result, it is not considered the proposal would significantly harm the character and appearance of the site or surrounding area in this regard. The exact number of trees on site, including those currently within the identified groups would be required to be submitted as part of the condition details.
	8.29	Overall, and subject to conditions, the proposal is considered , acceptable and policy compliant in terms of its impact on character and appearance of the site, streetscene and wider surrounding area.
	Standard of Accommodation and Living Conditions for Future Occupiers
	8.30	Delivering high quality homes is a key objective of the NPPF. Policy DM3 of the Development Management Document states that proposals should be resisted where they create a detrimental impact on the living conditions and amenity of existing and future residents or neighbouring residents.
	Space Standards and Quality of Habitable Rooms.
	8.31	All new homes are required to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) in terms of floorspace, bedroom size and storage sizes. The required overall sizes for residential units and the minimum standards for bedrooms are shown on the following table.
	Table 1: Minimum Space Standards

	-	Bedroom Sizes: The minimum floor area for bedrooms to be no less than 7.5m2 for a single bedroom with a minimum width of 2.15m; and 11.5m2 for a double/twin bedroom with a minimum width of 2.75m or 2.55m in the case of a second double/twin bedroom.
	-	Floorspace with a head height of less than 1.5m should not be counted in the above calculations unless it is solely used for storage in which case 50% of that floorspace shall be counted. A minimum ceiling height of 2.3m shall be provided for at least 75% of the Gross Internal Area.
	Table 2: Proposed overall, bedroom and storage sizes.
	8.32	The proposal provides 3No x 2-bed, 3-person and 5No x 3-bed 4-person dwellinghouses. As demonstrated by Table 2 above, all dwellinghouses will exceed the national technical housing standards which is a positive aspect of the design. All habitable rooms will be provided with windows to provide adequate light, ventilation and outlook. The development is acceptable and policy compliant in this respect.
	8.33	In relation to the provision of amenity space Policy DM8 states that all new dwellings should: “Make provision for usable private outdoor amenity space for the enjoyment of intended occupiers; for flatted schemes this could take the form of a balcony or easily accessible semi-private communal amenity space. Residential schemes with no amenity space will only be considered acceptable in exceptional circumstances, the reasons for which will need to be fully justified and clearly demonstrated.”
	8.34	The proposed dwellings would each be provided with a private garden area between 45 and 114sqm. The garden areas are of a usable size and shape and would provide adequate living conditions for any future occupiers in this respect.
	8.35	Policy DM8 of the Development Management Document as amended by the Technical Housing Standards Policy Transition Statement states that developments should meet building regulation M4 (2) – ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’ unless it can be clearly demonstrated that it is not viable and feasible to do so.
	8.36	Limited details have been submitted in this respect. However, the applicant’s agent has confirmed that all of the dwellings are designed to be Building Regulation M4(2) compliant. Subject to a condition in this respect, the development is acceptable and policy compliant in this regard. A condition can be imposed to secure compliance with this requirement.
	8.37	The plans do not include specific details of covered and secure cycle stores and enclosed bin stores within the rear gardens. Details and provision of cycle and waste storage can be secured by conditions.
	8.38	There is no known source of contamination at the site. Environmental Health consider it is unlikely that the land is contaminated but recommend a condition to deal with a scenario that contamination were discovered during the construction phase. Such a condition is included.
	8.39	Overall, and taken in the round, it is considered that the proposal would not result in substandard accommodation for future occupiers and would not be detrimental to their living conditions. Subject to the described conditions the proposal is considered acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.
	8.40	Local and national planning policies and guidance seek to secure high quality development which protects amenity. Policy DM1 of the Development Management Document specifically identifies that development should protect the amenity of the site, immediate neighbours, and surrounding area, having regard to privacy, overlooking, outlook, noise and disturbance, visual enclosure, pollution, and daylight and sunlight. Further advice on how to achieve this is set out in the Council’s Design and Townscape Guide.
	8.41	The nearest residential uses to the application site are those dwellings under construction at the adjacent development site to the rear of 1 Smallholdings. The other closest neighbouring properties are No’s 2 and 3 Smallholdings to the north in excess of 50m away such that it is not considered the proposal would have any detrimental impacts on those neighbours’ amenity in any relevant regards.
	8.42	With regards the dwellings presently under construction, the layout of the development is such that no direct views of the proposed dwellinghouses would be possible from any neighbouring habitable room windows such that there would be no impact upon overlooking or loss of privacy. Moreover, when considered in the context of the relationship between the two sites, having due regard to the layout and the resulting separations between the properties, it is not considered the proposal would give rise to an undue overbearing impact nor a harmful sense of enclosure or dominant impacts.
	8.43	In terms of overlooking affecting private amenity areas, the arrangement of the proposed dwellings is such that there would remain a degree of overlooking of neighbouring rear gardens. Generally, when considering the site as a whole, this is not considered to be against the grain of what can reasonably be expected in a residential setting. The arrangement of neighbouring properties as two-storey terraces and semi-detached pairs is such that a degree of over-looking of rear gardens exists at present and is considered to form part of the reasonable character of the rear garden scene. In this instance, there would be a minimum distance to the nearest neighbouring rear garden within the 1 Smallholdings site of some 11m. On this basis, there is no objection to a similar arrangement at the proposed development.
	8.44	A Construction Method Statement has been submitted with the application, confirming the working hours, the provision of site hoarding, designated areas for materials storage, measures to limit waste and maximise recycling along with mitigation measures to reduce noise and dust emissions and to limit traffic disturbance by avoiding deliveries in busy or congested hours. Details of monitoring have also been included. The statement is considered an acceptable basis for a condition which can effectively manage the impacts of the construction process on neighbours’ amenity. The statement has been reviewed by the Council’s Highways and Environmental Health and no objections have been raised. On this basis, a condition to require development is carried out in accordance with the Statement can be imposed.
	8.45	Conditions for details of external lighting and to control the hours of construction are recommended in order to avoid significant harm to the residential amenity of neighbours during the construction period. Environmental Health raise no objections on this basis.
	8.46	Given the relationship of the plots with neighbouring properties, alterations/extensions to the proposed dwellings may result in unacceptable living conditions of the future occupiers or impact on the neighbouring amenity. A condition to remove permitted development rights for classes A, AA, B, D, E and F would therefore be reasonable and necessary.
	8.47	Overall and subject to the described conditions, the proposal is considered acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.
	8.48	The NPPF states (para 111) that “Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety or, the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.”
	8.49	The proposed dwellings be accessed via an extension of the access road serving the development at 1 Smallholdings. The access road would be some 5.1m wide. Details of surfacing materials have not been provided at this stage so the requirement for such details is conditioned. Highways confirm that the design of the access is acceptable and have raised no objection.
	8.50	Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document seeks a minimum of 2 car parking space per 2+ bedroom dwelling. It is also a requirement to provide a minimum of 1 cycle parking space per dwelling. The Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure SPD requires at least one car parking space per dwelling to be fitted with active provision of charging infrastructure with any remaining spaces being provided with passive provision.
	8.51	The proposal provides 2 parking spaces per dwelling in accordance with the minimum parking standards. The parking spaces will all be accessed via proposed crossovers off the new access road. A condition to secure the necessary charging infrastructure is recommended. Highways raise no objection to the proposal, commenting that the parking proposed is acceptable and concluding that the development would not harm the public highway network.
	8.52	Specific cycle storage details have not been provided although a location within the rear gardens of the proposed dwellings is shown on the submitted plans. Whilst the location is acceptable, a condition will be imposed to require specific details to be submitted and approved. Highways have not objected to the scheme.
	8.53	Overall, the proposed development is considered acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards subject to the described conditions.
	8.54	Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy requires that: “at least 10% of the energy needs of new development should come from on-site renewable options (and/or decentralised renewable or low carbon energy sources)”. Policy DM2 of the Development Management Document states that: “to ensure the delivery of sustainable development, all development proposals should contribute to minimising energy demand and carbon dioxide emissions”. The same policy requires all new development to provide “water efficient design measures that limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including external water consumption). Such measures will include the use of water efficient fittings, appliance and water recycling systems such as grey water and rainwater harvesting”.
	8.55	Submitted plans detail the installation of solar panels as the means of renewable energy generation, which is acceptable in principle however, no information has been provided to demonstrate that the proposal would meet the 10% policy requirement. The requirement for renewable energy and restrictions on water usage can reasonably be controlled with conditions provided any such externally mounted technologies respect the character and appearance of the buildings and wider area.
	8.56	This aspect of the proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable and policy compliant in these regards, subject to conditions.
	Waste Collection
	8.57	It is expected that the proposed dwellinghouses would be served by the Council’s kerbside sack collection scheme. Access for waste and servicing vehicles has not been demonstrated however, it is considered this can be dealt with satisfactorily with a suitably worded condition to require a waste management plan. Maximum distances to carry the sacks appears to be capable of being in line with the relevant guidance. Subject to a condition, the proposal would be acceptable and policy compliant in the above regards.
	Drainage
	8.58	National policy requires that any development is safe from flooding and does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. Adequate drainage should be installed to ensure that there is no increased risk of flooding on site or elsewhere, including any undue discharge of surface water on the highway.
	8.59	Details of drainage arrangements incorporating principles of Sustainable Drainage Systems can be secured by condition. Subject to this, the development is acceptable and policy compliant in these regards.
	Ecology And Essex Coast RAMS
	8.60	Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that ‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by … protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value and soils…recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside…minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity…’
	8.61	A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) was carried out for the applicant in August 2023 by MKA Ecology Ltd. In addition to this, reptile surveys had been completed by MKA Ecology Ltd and Hybrid Ecology Ltd.
	8.62	It is concluded in the PEA that the development of the site will impact habitats of limited ecological value although a diverse hedgerow exists that has a range of native species (although Sycamore dominates), classified as a Habitat of Principal Importance and therefore should be retained throughout the process.
	8.63	Slow worms have been present across the wider development site as confirmed through current and historical surveys. However, the population count as confirmed within the latest Reptile Survey was low. A badger sett is present but within an area of land that is to be retained post development. Recommendations for working at construction sites with nocturnal animals are made but the sustainability of the sett is not in question. Any vegetation clearance should be conducted outside of the bird breeding season.
	8.64	The PEA recommends ecological enhancements which should include the provision of bee lawns (i.e. grass, plants and flowers specifically cultivated to encourage bees and other pollinators such as birds to visit) and bird boxes, including the provision of swift and bat boxes within each new building. Meadow creation and bird box location should be outlined by the development of a Landscape and Ecological management plan (LEMP) post planning permission. This can be secured by condition.
	8.65	Following communication with the Council’s Parks Team, the following recommendations were agreed :
	8.66	The reports and the consultant’s recommendations have been reviewed by the Council’s Parks Team and no objections have been raised subject to inclusion of a suitably worded condition requiring the above.
	8.67	The site falls within the Zone of Influence for one or more European designated sites scoped into the Essex Coast RAMS. It is the Council’s duty as a competent authority to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to secure any necessary mitigation and record this decision within the planning documentation. Any new residential development has the potential to cause disturbance to European designated sites and therefore the development must provide appropriate mitigation. This is necessary to meet the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. The Essex Coast RAMS SPD, which was adopted by the Council on 29 October 2020, requires that a tariff of £156.76 (index linked) is paid per dwelling unit. This will be transferred to the RAMS accountable body in accordance with the RAMS Partnership Agreement.
	8.68	The applicant has paid the relevant tariff. The development would offer suitable mitigation of the in-combination effect of the net increase of eight dwellings on habitats and species. The development is acceptable and in line with policies in this regard.
	8.69	This application is CIL liable and there will be a CIL charge payable. In accordance with Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by Section 143 of the Localism Act 2011) and Section 155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, CIL is being reported as a material ‘local finance consideration’ for the purpose of planning decisions. The proposed amended development includes a net gain internal floor area of 686.7sqm, which may equate to a CIL charge of approximately £18,752.19. Any existing floor area that is being retained/demolished that satisfies the ‘in-use building’ test, as set out in the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended), may be deducted from the chargeable area thus resulting in a reduction in the chargeable amount.
	Equality and Diversity
	8.70	The Equality Act 2010 (as amended) imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions and specifically introduced a Public Sector Equality Duty. Under this duty, public organisations are required to have due regard for the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and must advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations between those who share a protected characteristic and those who do not. Officers have in considering this application and preparing this report had careful regard to the requirements of the Equalities Act 2010 (as amended). They have concluded that the decision recommended will not conflict with the Council's statutory duties under this legislation.
	Conclusion
	8.71	Having taken all material planning considerations into account, it is found that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would be acceptable and compliant with the objectives of the relevant development plan policies and guidance. The proposed development is acceptable in principle and subject to conditions, is acceptable in terms of ecology, sustainability, highways and living conditions of future occupiers. The proposal would also be acceptable in terms of design and impact on the character and appearance of the site and wider surrounding area, and it would not result in any significant harm to residential amenity.
	8.72	The development constitutes sustainable development, providing economic, social and environmental benefits. Any limited harm identified as a result of the proposal is considered to be clearly outweighed by the benefits of the proposal, including the provision of 8 additional dwellings. If any harm is identified, including in those areas for judgement identified within this report’s analysis of the proposal, it is necessary to demonstrate that in reaching a decision, an appropriate balancing exercise has been undertaken considering the benefits of the proposal and any such harm. The report summarises that the site forms Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land but also that this Council has a significant deficit in housing land supply so the tilted balance in favour of sustainable development should be applied when determining the application as relevant. The test set out by the NPPF is whether any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when considered against the policies of the NPPF taken as a whole. The proposal would make a useful contribution to the housing needs of this City which must be given increased weight in the planning balance. Subject to conditions, the application is therefore recommended for approval.

	9	Recommendation
	9.1	GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the following conditions:
	01	The development hereby permitted shall begin no later than three years from the date of this decision.
	Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	02	The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans: 1542-01 Rev B; 1540-02 Rev J; 1540-07 Rev C; 1540-07 Rev D; 1540-07 Rev E; 1540-05 Rev D; 1540-06 Rev D; 1540-10; 1540-12; 1540-13; Tree Protection Plan Rev 1; Construction Management Plan
	Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the development plan.
	03	The development hereby permitted shall be finished solely in accordance with the material details contained within the Planning Materials Document, namely; K Rend Waterproof render in Limestone White to exterior walls; Sahtas Dark Farmhouse brick plinth; Red clay roof tiles [Ste Foy Rouge Nuance] by Edillians; White UPVC windows and patio doors; Black front doors White fascias and soffits and Black guttering, or in accordance with any other alternative details of materials that have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition.
	Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	04	Notwithstanding the information submitted with this application, prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, full details (including elevations) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority identifying the provision of secure and enclosed refuse and recycling bin and cycle storage for the approved development at the site. The approved cycle storage and refuse and recycling bin storage shall be provided in full and made available for use by the occupants of the approved dwellings prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved and shall be retained as such for the lifetime of the development.
	Reason: In the interest of visual amenity in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2, CP3 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1, DM3, DM8 and DM15, and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021), the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009), and the Waste Storage, Collection and Management Guide for New Developments (2019).
	05	Construction shall take place solely in accordance with the details contained within the Construction Method Statement Rev A by Breley Design Ltd. or, in accordance with any other alternative details that have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this condition.
	Reason: This condition is required in the interests of the amenities of nearby and surrounding occupiers pursuant to Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	06	Demolition or construction works associated with this permission shall not take place outside the hours: 8am to 6pm Mondays to Fridays and 8am to 1pm on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank and Public Holidays.
	Reason: In order to protect the amenities of surrounding occupiers and to protect the character the area in accordance with Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	07	No development above ground level shall be undertaken unless and until details of existing and proposed site levels at and surrounding the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be undertaken and completed at the levels shown on the approved drawing(s) and shall not exceed the highest level of land or structure adjacent to the application site.
	Reason: In the interests of the safety of aviation, the residential amenity of adjoining residents and the character and appearance of the area and to ensure that the development complies with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the advice in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	08	Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans hereby approved, no development shall take place, other than ground and site preparation works, unless and until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
	The submitted hard and soft landscaping schemes shall include full details of the number, size and location of the trees and shrubs to be planted together with a planting specification, details of the treatment of all hard and soft surfaces, including any earthworks to be carried and all means of enclosing the site, including boundaries within the site. The scheme shall include the number of existing trees which are proposed to be removed and are over the relevant stem diameter as set out in the relevant British Standard to be considered as trees and demonstrate that the proposed planting scheme would achieve a ratio of 2 new trees for every 1 tree removed.
	Prior to first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, the approved hard landscaping scheme shall be implemented and completed in full accordance with the details approved pursuant to this condition. Within the first available planting season (October to March inclusive) following the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the approved soft landscaping scheme shall be implemented and completed in full accordance with the details approved under the provisions of this condition.
	Within a period of five years from the completion of the development hereby approved, or from the date of the planting of any tree or any tree planted in its replacement, if any tree existing or planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme is removed, uprooted, destroyed, dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same species and size as that of the original tree shall be planted in the same place or in accordance with alternative tree replacement details approved under the scope of this planning condition.
	Reason: In the interests of visual amenity, biodiversity and the amenities of occupiers and to ensure a satisfactory standard of landscaping pursuant to Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy, Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015) and the advice in the National Design Guide (2021) and Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	09	Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby approved, no development shall commence at the site unless it complies with the recommendations in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Version 2.0 by MKA Ecology Ltd. (Dated 16/11/2023), the Reptile Report Version 2.0 by MKA Ecology Ltd. (Dated 16/11/2023) and the additional points agreed between MKA Ecology Ltd. and the Council’s Parks Team which are as follows:
	Reason: This pre-commencement condition is required in the interest of biodiversity in accordance with National Planning Policy Framework (2023) and Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	10	Agreed tree removal works for the development hereby approved (including which trees will be removed) shall not take place between March and August and shall only be carried out in accordance with the recommendations contained in the Arboricultural Report Rev 1 by Andrew Day Arboricultural Consultancy (Dated 16/11/2023).
	Reason: In the interest of biodiversity in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023),Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	11	No development shall take place unless and until the tree protection measures outlined in the Arboricultural Report Rev 1 and Tree Protection Plan Rev 1 by Andrew Day Arboricultural Consultancy (Dated 16/11/2023) have been implemented in full at the site. The tree protection measures shall be retained as installed throughout the construction phase of the development and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations included in the approved Arboricultural Report.
	Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the surrounding area in accordance with Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	12	The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until 16 on site car parking spaces (2no. for each dwelling) have been provided and made available for use at the site in full accordance with the details shown on approved drawing 1540-02 Rev J, together with properly constructed vehicular access to the adjoining highway, all in accordance with the approved plans. At least one of the parking spaces for each approved residential unit, shall be fitted with an active electric vehicle charging point. The parking spaces shall be permanently maintained thereafter solely for the parking of occupiers of and visitors to the development.
	Reason: To ensure that satisfactory off-street car parking is provided in the interests of residential amenity and highways efficiency and safety, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM15 and the guidance in the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009) and the Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure (EVCI) for New Development Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2021).
	13	No drainage infrastructure associated with this approved development shall be undertaken at this site unless and until full details of the drainage infrastructure and a drainage strategy have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The strategy submitted shall apply the sustainable drainage principles and the sustainable drainage hierarchy. Where more sustainable methods of drainage are discounted clear evidence and reasoning for this shall be included within the strategy submitted. The approved drainage infrastructure and strategy shall be implemented in full accordance with the approved scheme prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and be maintained as such for the lifetime of the development.
	Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage of the site in accordance with Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM14.
	14	Prior to construction of the development hereby approved above ground floor slab level a scheme detailing how at least 10% of the total energy needs of the development will be supplied using on site renewable sources must be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling in the development shall be occupied until and unless it has been implemented in accordance with the details approved under this condition. This provision shall be made for the lifetime of the development.
	Reason: In the interests of providing sustainable development and ensuring a high quality of design in accordance with Policy KP2 of the Core Strategy (2007) and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	15	Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved water efficiency design measures set out in Policy DM2 (iv) of the Development Management Document to limit internal water consumption to 105 litres per person per day (lpd) (110 lpd when including external water consumption), including measures of water efficient fittings, appliances and water recycling systems such as grey water and rainwater harvesting shall be installed in the development hereby approved and be retained for the lifetime of the development.
	Reason: To minimise the environmental impact of the development through efficient use of water in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM2 and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	16	The development hereby approved shall be carried out in a manner to ensure that the dwellings fully comply with the Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015) and with Building Regulation M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’ before they are brought into use and first occupied.
	Reason: To ensure provision of high quality and flexible internal layouts to meet the changing needs of residents in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policy KP2, Development Management Document (2015) Policy DM8 and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	17	No external lighting shall be installed on the site subject of this permission unless it is in accordance with the details and specifications of a Lighting Strategy which has previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the provisions of this condition. All lighting shall be retained on site in accordance with the approved scheme for the lifetime of the development.
	Reason: In the interest of the residential amenity of future occupiers in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Policies KP2 and CP4 of the Southend-on-Sea Core Strategy (2007), Policies DM1 and DM3 of the Southend-on-Sea Development Management Document (2015) and the advice contained within the National Design Guide (2021) and the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	18	Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) Order 2015, or any order revising or re-enacting that Order with or without modification, no development shall be carried out on the new dwellinghouses within Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes A, AA, B, D, E or F of that Order without the receipt of express planning permission.
	Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the area and in the interest of the residential amenity of the adjoining residents in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (2023), Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4, Development Management Document (2015) Policies DM1 and DM3 and the advice contained within the Southend-on-Sea Design and Townscape Guide (2009).
	19	Notwithstanding the details shown on the plans submitted and otherwise hereby approved, no part of the development shall be occupied or brought into use until details a waste management and service plan including waste vehicle tracking data have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Waste management and servicing of the development shall only take place in accordance with the approved details.
	Reason: To ensure that the development is satisfactorily serviced and that satisfactory waste management is undertaken in the interests of highway safety and visual amenity and to protect the character of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policies KP2 and CP3 of the Core Strategy (2007) and Policy DM15 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	20	In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not previously identified development must stop and it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this condition. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared and shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority under the terms of this condition. The approved remediation scheme shall then be fully implemented at the site before any other works continue. Following completion of the measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report must be prepared, and submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority for its approval under the terms of this condition before the development is brought into first use.
	Investigation, remediation and verification must be undertaken by competent persons and in accordance with the Essex Contaminated Land Consortium's 'Land Affected by Contamination: Technical Guidance for Applicants and Developers' and DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11' and other current guidance deemed authoritative for the purposes.
	Reason: To ensure that if any contamination is found on the site, it is treated so that it does not harm anyone who uses the site in the future, and to ensure that the development does not cause pollution to Controlled Waters in accordance with Core Strategy (2007) Policies KP2 and CP4 and Policies DM1 and DM14 of the Development Management Document (2015).
	Positive and proactive statement:
	The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework. The detailed analysis is set out in a report on the application prepared by officers.
	Informatives:
	1	Please note that the development which is the subject of this application is liable for a charge under the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as amended) and it is the responsibility of the landowner(s) to ensure they have fully complied with the requirements of these regulations. A failure to comply with the CIL regulations in full can result in a range of penalties. For full planning permissions, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued by the Council as soon as practicable following this decision notice. For general consents, you are required to submit a Notice of Chargeable Development (Form 5) before commencement; and upon receipt of this, the Council will issue a CIL Liability Notice including details of the chargeable amount and when this is payable. If you have not received a CIL Liability Notice by the time you intend to commence development, it is imperative that you contact S106andCILAdministration@southend.gov.uk to avoid financial penalties for potential failure to comply with the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended). If the chargeable development has already commenced, no exemption or relief can be sought in relation to the charge and a CIL Demand Notice will be issued requiring immediate payment. Further details on CIL matters can be found on the Planning Portal (www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200136/policy_and_legislation/70/community_infrastructure_levy) or the Council's website (www.southend.gov.uk/cil).
	2	You should be aware that in cases where damage occurs during construction works to the highway in implementing this permission that the Council will seek to recover the cost of repairing public highways and footpaths from any party responsible for damaging them. This includes damage carried out when implementing a planning permission or other works to buildings or land. Please take care when carrying out works on or near the public highways and footpaths in the city.
	3	No waste as part of the development shall be burnt on site.
	4	Please note that if you require a crane or piling rig to construct the proposed development, this will need to be safeguarded separately and dependant on location may be restricted in height and may also require full coordination with the Airport Authority. Any crane applications should be directed to sam.petrie@southendairport.com / 01702 538521.
	5	The applicant is advised to consider installation of Automatic Water Suppression Systems (AWSS) within the new dwellings.

	Existing block plan and location plan
	Sheets and Views
	1540-01b Existing Block and Location Plan-Layout


	Proposed block plan
	Sheets and Views
	1540-02g Proposed Block Plan-Proposed Block Plan


	Construction management plan
	Sheets and Views
	1540-10 Construction Management Plan-Proposed Block Plan


	Proposed layouts 2 bed semi 2
	Sheets and Views
	1540-06d Proposed Layouts 2-bed semi house II-06


	Proposed layouts 2 bed semi 3
	Sheets and Views
	1540-13 Proposed Layouts 2-bed semi house III-05


	Proposed layouts 2 bed semi
	Sheets and Views
	1540-05d Proposed Layouts 2-bed semi house-05


	Proposed layouts 3 bed semi 2
	Sheets and Views
	1540-04d Proposed Layouts 3-bed semi house II-04


	Proposed layouts 3 bed semi 3
	Sheets and Views
	1540-12 Proposed Layouts 3-bed semi house III-03


	Proposed layouts 3-bed semi house
	Sheets and Views
	1540-03e Proposed Layouts 3-bed semi house-03


	Proposed streetscenes
	site photos
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8


	5 23/00265/OUTM - Empire Theatre, Alexandra Street, Southend-on-Sea (Milton Ward)
	Location plan
	Sheets and Views
	P101


	Site plan
	Sheets and Views
	P108


	Proposed floor plans 262-P013 Rev C
	Sheets and Views
	P103


	Proposed floor plans 262-P102 Rev E
	Sheets and Views
	P102


	Proposed floor plans 262-P104 Rev C
	Sheets and Views
	P104


	Proposed elevations 262-P016 Rev B
	Sheets and Views
	P106


	Proposed elevations 262-P105 Rev B
	Sheets and Views
	P105


	Empire photos
	Slide 1: Empire Theatre
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11


	6 23/01153/FUL - Land At Garon Park, Eastern Avenue, Southend-on-Sea (St Luke's Ward)
	Location Plan
	/F/101/P01 Site Location Plan 1:1250

	Existing site plan
	/F/102/P01 Existing Block Plan

	Proposed site plan
	/F/103/P01 Proposed Block Plan

	Site plan, Proposed elevations
	/F/201/P01 Site Plan and Elevations

	site photos
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6


	7 22/00341/UNAU_B - 15 Leslie Close, Eastwood, Leigh on Sea (Eastwood Park Ward)
	Existing plans for application approved at appeal
	Sheets and Views
	CAD.PP.21499.001 - Existing


	Proposed Plans for application approved at appeal
	Sheets and Views
	CAD.PP.21499.002a - Proposed (2)


	15 Leslie Close site photos
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6



